3	63	86
---	----	----

	National Library of Canada	Bibliothèque nationale	•		
		du Canada	CANADIAN THESES ON MICROFICHE	THÈSES CANÀDIENNES SUR MICROFICHE	;
	·• •			, ,	
				•	
ı.	4			· •	
•					
	•		۰.		
(a))	·		~		هي د
ÌNĂME OF /	AUTHOR 'NOM DE L'	AUTEUR YEO WW	AND GER	· •	
TITLE OF T	THESIS THRE DE LA	THÈSE CAS	THE ARCHLEMS	ASSIN INTEN	[
	• • •	- THE COULT	ATICAL TOF RA	PUNCED MEAL	/? Y
		Poul IN/			<u> </u>
•		ABENTA			
	Y/UNIVER9ITÉ				
GRADĖ P	POUR LEQUEL CETTE	AS PRESENTED PRÉSENTÉE Ph. 1	, 		
- N	•	•	алан Халан Алан Алан Алан Алан Алан Алан Алан	No.	
Permission	n is hereby grant	ed to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF	L'autorisation est, pa	ar la présente accordée à	la BIBLIOTHÈ-
CANAQA	to microfilm this	thesis and to lend or sell copies	QUE NATIONALE DU	CANADA de microfilmer	cette thèse et
of the film	۱. ···		de prêter ou de vendré	è des exemplaires du film.	× .
The author	r reserves other p	publication rights, and neither the	L'auteur se réserve	les autres droits de publ	lication; ni la
thesis nor	extensive extract	ts from it may be printed or other-	thèse ni de longs extra	aits de celle-ci ne doivent	être imprimés
wise repro	duced without the	author's written permission.	ou autrement reproduit	ts sans l'autorisation écrit	e de l'auteur."
	•				· ·
DATED/ <i>DA</i>	ré_·lipsil	21, 1978 SIGNED/SIGNE	- Antenth		
, •		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		1	
	ADDRESS/ <i>RÉSIDEN</i>	CEFIXE 19 GREE	NLEAF VIEW		
					.
×	· · ·	SINGAPOR CEDURING	OF SINGAPO	. 0 =	
45.20 1		$\frac{\Lambda \epsilon / (BLIC)}{\Lambda \epsilon / (BLIC)}$	UT SINGAPO	<u>v F</u>	
	an a	2	· · ·	•	5
•		/			د.

National Library of Canada

Cataloguing Branch Canadian Theses Division

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

NOTICE

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if ' the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us a poor photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. Please read the authorization forms which accompany this thesis.

THIS DISSERTATION HAS BEEN MICROFILMED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction du catalogage Division des thèses canadiennes

AVIS

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec, l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La 'qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont étédactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de mauvaise qualité.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30. Veuillez prendre connaissance des formules d'autorisation qui accompagnent cette thèse.

LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS REÇUE

NL-339 (3/77)

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

STUDIES ON THE PROBLEMS ASSOCIATED WITH THE UTILIZATION OF RAPESEED MEAL BY POULTRY

by

YEOW KWANG GOH

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE

. OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

DEPARTMENT OF ANIMAL SCIENCE EDMONTON, ALBERTA

SPRING, 1978

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTAN

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and ecommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for acceptance, a thesis entitled "Studies on the problems associated with the utilization of rapeseed meal by poultry" submitted by Yeow Kwang Goh, in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Poultry Nutrition.

External Examiner

University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon

Dated April 10, 1978

ABSTRACT

A series of experiments (Part I) were undertaken to study the use of dye-binding for estimating the quantity and quality of protein in rapeseed meal (RSM) as well as the degree of protein denaturation caused by heat treatment. Results obtained from Experiment 1 in which the dye-binding capacities (DBCs) with Acid Orange 12 and the crude protein contents (N x 6.25) of 15 samples of RSM were investigated showed that the two parameters were related by the linear equation, $Y(N \times 6.25) = 2.2 + 0.27X$ (DBC) with a correlation coefficient of 0.98. The equation was tested for its applicability to 126 RSMs in Experiment 2 and it was found that it under-estimated or over-estimated the crude protein of about 20% of the samples by 1% or more. The deviation was caused mainly by atypical content of basic amino acids, particularly of lysine, in these meals. On the other hand, the dye-binding capacities of the protein (DBCPs) of 21 samples of RSM were found to correlate highly to the lysine and available lysine contents of the meals (r = 0.84 and 0.79) \checkmark indicating the potential of the use of DBCP as a protein quality index for RSM.

In Experiment 3, moist heat treatment was found to decrease the DBCP of RSM as a function of autoclaving duration at 121°C. Protein quality, estimated by available lysine determination, showed a parallel but accelerated decline compared to the decrease in DBCP noted.

iv

Results obtained from two chick breassays (Experiment 4) indicated that commercial RSMs with MPLE reasons ranging from 335 to 360 mg Acid Orange 12/g protein were apara.Je from the point of view of growth promotion of male bro ler chicks. However; laboratory heat-damaged RSMs which had DBCP values equal to or lower than 327 mg/g protein were , found to have infe for growth promoting values as measured by total protein efficiency in bioassays involving male broiler chicks. The degrees of protein denaturation in autoclave and oven-heated RSMs, estimated by the dye-binding method, showed that the meals were more severely affected by heating in an autoclave at 121°C than by heating in an oven at the same temperature for similar periods of time (Experiment 5).

In Part II of the studies, the effect of feeding high and low glucosinolate RSMs (HG-RSM and LG-RSM) at 5 and 108 of the ration to laying hens on the transfer of dietary iodine to eggs was examined. Percent ¹²⁵I incorporated into eggs during the steady state showed that the amount of ¹²⁵I transferred to egg yolk was significantly reduced by the inclusion of HG-RSM but, not by the LG-RSM (P<0.05).

In Part III of the studies, the effects of glucosinolate level in RSM and supplementary choline on the production of fishy eggs by fishy egg layers were investigated. Rapeseed meals with high, medium and low glucosinolate levels (HG-RSM, MG-RSM and LG-RSM) were fed at 10% of the laying ration. The mean trimethylamine (TMA) level and mean fishy odor score were numerically highest in the edgs produced by the birds fed the ration containing 10% HG-RSM but not significantly different from those resulting from feeding birds the ration containing 10% LG-RSM. Supplementing a laying ration devoid of RSM with choline at 250 and 500 mg/kg ration did not cause the birds to lay eggs with measurable TMA content or detectable fishy odor.

vi

Z CKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author wishes to thank the Chairman of the Department o: Animal Science for placing the research facilities of the Department at his disposal. He is particularly indebted to Dr. D.R. Clandinin, Professor of Poultry Nutrition, for his encouragement, helpful guidance and constructive criticism in connection with the research reported herein.

Thanks are extended to Dr. A.R. Robblee, Professor of Poultry Nutrition, for his assistance during the course of the studies and to Dr. R.T. Hardin, Professor of Poultry Genetics, for his assistance in the statistical analysis of the data.

The writer also wishes to express his gratitude to Mr. K. Darlington of the Alberta Department of Agriculture for his participation in the gensory evaluation of eggs on Part III of these studies, to Mr. J. Watson and other members of the staff at the Poultry Research Unit for their help in the care and feeding of the experimental birds, to Mr. T. Fenton for his technical advice in the analytical work, to Miss E. Koziol and Miss L. Jenkin for their technical assistance and to Miss W. Beaton for her assistance in typing the thesis.

Special thanks and appreciation are due to the author's parents and to his wife, Joan, for their patience and encour-agement.

vii

The financial assistance received from the National Research Council of Canada, the Alberta Agricultural Research Trust and the Rapeseed Association of Canada are also gratefully acknowledged.

viii

c

•	TABLE OF CONTENTS	•
		Page
INTRODU	C [*] TION	1
OBJECTI	VES OF THE STUDIES	2
PART I	STUDIES ON THE USE OF DYE-BINDING FOR	$\langle \rangle$
	ESTIMATING THE QUANTITY AND QUALITY OF PROTEIN IN RAPESEED MEAL	4
	A Introduction	4
	B Review of Literature	5
	a Historical Development of the Method	5
	b Theoretical Basis of Dye-Binding for Estimating Crude Protein Content	5
	c Outline of the Method	4 6 [.]
	d Kinds of Dyes Used	7
	e Mechanism of Dye-Binding Interaction	9 .
	f Application of Dve-Binding to Deter-	й. Н
	mination of the Quantity of Crude Protein in Foods and Feedstuffs	10
	l Milk	11
	2 Meat	14
	3 Cereals	15
	4 Tubers	18
	5 Forages	19
	6 Oilseed Meals and Other High Protein Feedstuffs	19 /
	g Application of Dye-Binding to Deter- mination of the Quality of Protein	21
	1 Detection of Heat Damage to Protein	22
· .	2 Selection of High Lysine Variety of	
•	Cerear Grains	25
•	h Correlations Between Protein Qualities of Feedstuffs as Predicted by the Dye- Binding Method and by Biological Assays	27
		<i>L</i> /
	'ix	

. '			
		Page N	
	i Determination of Nutritionally Available Lysine Content of Feed- stuffs by Differential Dye-Binding Capacity	29	• • •
	C Experiments Conducted at The University	34	
	a Experiment 1: Study of the Corre- lations Between the Crude Protein Contents and the Dyc-Binding Capaci- ties of Rapeseed Meals with Orange G and Acid Orange 12		•
•	1 Objective	34	•
	2 Materials and Methods	34	•
	3 Results and Discussion	⊃4]	an a
	4 Summary	хтт И 7 ⁽⁻	
	b Experiment 2: Estimation of the Crude Protein Contents of Commer- cially Processed Rapeseed Meals by Dye-Binding Capacity with Acid Orange 12	48	
1. A.		40	
	l Objective	48	
	2 Materials and Methods	48	
V	3 Results and Discussion	49	
	4 Summary.	62	
	c Experiment 3: The Effect of Moist Heat on the Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Acid Orange 12	64	
	, 1 Objective '	64	
- 	2 Materials and Methods	64	
	3 Results and Discussion	65	
·	4 'Summary ·	76	
· · · ·		, ,	
	d Experiment 4: Evaluation of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio- logical Assay with Chicks	-	•
		77	
	l Objectives	77	
	2 Materials and Methods	77	
	- x	•	-

			1
		Page	
	i Protein quality evaluation of rapeseed meals by the dye-binding method		
	<pre>ii Biological evaluation of the protein quality of rape- seed meals by the total pro- tein efficiency method</pre>	77	
	3 Results and Discussion	82	
	i Protein quality evaluation of rapeseed meals by the dye-binding method	82	. ` -
	ii Biological evaluation of the protein quality of rapeseed meals by the total protein	1	_
	efficiency method	8 7`	
	4 Summary	96	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	e Experiment 5: The Effects of Heating Laboratory Prepared Rapeseed Meal in an Autoclave or an Oven for Varying Periods of Time on Protein Denatur- ation in the Rapeseed Meal and the Feasability of the Dye-Binding Method for Measuring Such Denaturation	97	
	1 Objectives	97	,
	2 Materials and Methods	97	
, ,	3 Results and Discussion .	98	
	4 Summary	109	
PART II	EFFECT OF THE LEVELS OF THE GLUCOSINOLATES IN RAPESEED MEAL ON THE TRANSFER OF DIETARY IODINE TO EGGS BY LAYING HENS	111	1 A.
	A Introduction		
•		111	
	B Review of Literature	112	· •
•	C Experiment Conducted at The University of Alberta	114	,
	a Materials and Methods	114	
· · · · ·	b Results and Discussion	117	
	c Summary	124	
ъ.			
	xi		

÷ 1

•			· · ·			$V_{\rm constant}(x)$	
PART III	FISH	IES OF THE Y EGGS BY I SEED MEAL	PROBLE OF IENS FED A	THE DAYING TIONS CONTA	OF ININC		
6	А "Гі	ntroduction	١		r.	³ 1 b	
	B Re	eview of L	iferature	•		126	
•	C Ex	xperiments E Alberta	Conducted	, at The Unive	ersity	· ·	
н н	a	late Cont Incidence	ent of Rap	ct of Glucos oseed Meal c Egg Producti ayers	on the	• 132	
		1 Object	ives		Ì	132	
		2 Materi	als and Met	hods	1	132	
		3 Result	s and Discu	ission		135	
	b.	a Laying Productio	Ration with	ct of Supple i Choline on Eggs by Bro	the	141	
		l Object	ive			141	,
		. –	als and Met	hods		141	1
· · · · ·		3 Result	s and Discu	ssion		142	
, i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	С	General D	iscussion			144	
	đ	Summary				147	
BIBLIOGRA	Vuq	÷				149	
	r n 1	۰ ۰					
APPENDIX						160	

Gat

xii

.. •

LIST OF TABLES

ŧ.

e

.

v

£.,

4

	•					Page	
	TABLE	1	Linear Regressi Kjeldahl Protei Readings for So Feedstuffs	n.Content and	Dve-Binding	12	
•	TABLE	2	Effect of Partic Amount of Orange	cle Size of Sa e G Bound by F	ample on the Rapeseed Meal	36	•
	ΤΆΒΙ.Ε	3.	Effect of Partic Amount of Acid (Meal	cle Size of Sa Drange 12 Bour	ample on the nd by Rapeseed	37	
	TABLE	4	Effect of Protein Amount of Orange Meal	in to Dye Rati e G Bound by R	o on the apeseed	39	ţ
	TABLE	5	Crude Protein, E Matter Contents Dye-Binding Capa with Orange G an	of Rapeseed M cities of Rap	leals and esced Meals	42	
	TABLĘ	6	Differences Betw Protein and Pred Percents of Rape Their Dye-Bindin	licted Crude P seed Meals Ba	rotein	50	•
•	TABLE	7	Frequency Distri Between Observed Those Predicted Capacity Equatio	Protein Perce by the Dye-Bin	ents and	55	
	TABLE	8	Frequency Distri Binding Capacity Rapeseed Meal	bution of the of the Protei	Dye- in of	57	
	TABLE	9	Crude Protein, Ba Binding Capacitic of Selected Rapes	es and Availa	ido, Dye- ble Lysine	59	~
	TABLE 1	0	Correlation Coeff Reported in Table	ficients Betwe e 9	en Values	60	•
-	TABLE 1	•	Crude Protein Per Autoclaved at*121 of Time	ccent of Papes L°C for Variou	eed Meals s Periods	66	
	÷.		\$				

xiii

.

:

c

	, ,		
-		Page.	
TABLE 12	I I MARCELY OF MURCECU MEATS	<u>rage</u> .	
	Autoclaved at 121°C for Various Periods of Time	67	:
TABLE 13	Dye-Binding Capacity of the Protein of Rapeseed Meals Autoclaved at 121°C for Various Periods of Time 4	70	
TABLE 14	Available Lysine Contents of Rapeseed Meals Autoclaved at 121°C for Various Periods of Time	71	
TABLE 15	Available Lysine Contents of the Protein of Rapeseed Meals Autoclaved at 121°C for Various Periods of Time	72	
TABLE 16	Comparison of Dye-Binding Capacities and Available Lysine Contents of Rapeseed Méals Expressed as Percentages of Un- treated Meals	, 74	X
TABLE 17	Composition of Rations Used in Growth Trial 1	80	
TABLE 18	Composition of Rations Used in Growth Trial 2	81	
TABLE 19	Crude Protein Contents cf Commercial Rapeseed Meels from Four Processing Plants	, 83	
TABLE 20	The Dye-Binding Capacities of Commercial Rapeseed Meals with Acid Orange 12	84	
TABLE.21	The Dye-Binding Capacities of the Protein of Commercial Rapeseed Meals with Acid Orange 12	85	
TABLE 22	Analysis of Variance of DBCP of Commercial Rapeseed Meals	86	
TABLE 23	Protein Contents and Dye-Binding Capacities of Tower Rapeseed Meals Autoclaved for Different Periods of Time at 121°C	88	
TABLE 24	Summary of Results of Growth Trial 1	89	
TABLE 25	Basic Amino Acid Composition of Rapeseed Meals and of Experimental Rations Used in Growth Trials 1 an	91	•

xiv

Page TABLE 26 Summary of Results of Growth Trial 2 92 TABLE 27 Effect of Heating Rapeseed Meal in an Autoclave or Oven for Various Periods of Time on the Solubility of the Nitrogen of the Meals in Water 99 TABLE 28 Dyc-Binding Capacities of the Protein of Typeseed Meals Heated in an Autoclave or Ov)en for Various Periods of Time 103 TABLE 29 Available Lysine Contents of Rapeseed Meals Heated in an Autoclave or Oven for Various Periods of Time 106 TABLE 30 Composition of Experimental Rations 115 . Percent 125 I in Egg Yolk During Steady TABLE 31 State, ¹²⁵I Uptake by Thyroid Glands. and Thyroid Size of Hens 119 TABLE 32 Iodine Contents of Egg Albumen After Pre-Experimental and Experimental Periods 123 TABLE 33 Composition of the Experimental Rations 134 TABLE 34 Effects of Glucosinolate Contents of Rapeseed Meal on the Trimethylamine Content and Fishy Odor Score of Eggs 136 TABLE 35 Effect of Inclusion of Ground Raw Rapeseed in Rations Containing Rapeseed Meal on the Trimethylamine Content and Fishy Odor Score of Eggs 138 TABLE 36 Effect of Supplementary Choline on the Production of Eggs with a Fishy Odor by Brown-Shelled Egg Layers .143

xv

LIST OF FIGURES

.

٥

Ū,	Γ	Page
FIGURE	1 Acid azo dyes commonly used in dye-	8
FIGURE	2 The relationship between the dye- binding capacities of the rapeseed meals with Orange G and the Kjeldahl protein contents of the meals	43
FIGURE	The relationship between the dye- binding capacities of the rapeseed meals with Acid Orange 12 as deter- mined by Udy and spectrophotometric methods and the Kjeldahl protein contents of the meals	4 5
FIGURE 4	Relationship between Kjeldahl protein contents and dye-binding capacities (mg Acid Orange 12/g meal) of commercial rapeseed meals	54
FIGURE 5	Relationship between the dye-binding capacity of rapeseed meal and the duration of autoclaving of the meal at 121°C	68
FIGURE 6	Solubility of nitrogen as a function of time rapeseed meals heat-denatured in autoclave or oven at 121°C for various periods of time	100
FIGURE 7	Dye-binding capacities of protein of rapeseed meals heated in an autoclave or oven at 121°C for various periods of time	104
FIGURE 8	Rate of ¹²⁵ I incorporation in egg yolk	120
		`

xvi

đ

'INTRODUCTION

Rapeseed, first grown in Western Canada for commercial use in 1943, has now become the most important oilseed crop grown in Canada. During recent years its annual production has fluctuated around 1.2 million metric tons (Runciman and Olson, 1975). The seed, containing 40% or more of oil by weight, is grown mainly for its oil. The oil, obtained by extracting the crushed seeds with hexane and further refining, is used as an edible oil. The residue, left after oil removal, is rich in protein and is used as a source of protein for livestock and poultry.

Early attempts to use rapeseed meal (RSM) in rations for livestock and poultry were not very successful owing to the presence of goitrogenic factors in RSM and to the relatively low metabolizable energy value of RSM. As a result, only limited levels of RSM were recommended for use in feeds for poultry and swine (Clandinin <u>et al.</u>, 1972; Bowland and Bell, 1972).

In recent years, the prospects for increased utilization of RSM by feed manufacturers and for wider acceptance of RSM by livestock producers have greatly improved as a result. of developments on two fronts; the production of new varieties of rapeseed of improved quality and an increased world-wide demand for protein for human consumption. With regard to the former, plant breeders have developed varieties of rapeseed which are low in glucosinolate content and are in the process of developing varieties which are low in

.

fibre content (Downey and Klassen, 1977). In addition, rapeseed processing technology has improved to the point where the quality of the protein in RSM compares favourably with other protein-rich feedstuffs. These advancements have made it possible to double the recommended levels of usage for low glucosinolate RSM by monogastric animals and poultry as compared to the usage levels recommended for high glucosinolate type RSM. On the other front, the world-wide shortage of protein for human consumption has greatly increased the demand for soybean meal which, in the past, has been the major source of protein for livestock and poultry feeds. The scarcity and high price of soybean meal have compelled animal nutritionists to seek alternate sources of protein. As a consequence of the above, it is logical to anticipate improved potential for increased use of RSM by feed manufacturers throughout the world.

Rapeseed meal is, at present, widely used in rations for poultry. However, in spite of its much improved nutritional quality, there are still unsolved problems associated with the use of RSM in rations for poultry (Clandinin <u>et al.</u>, 1977) which require solution. This thesis is concerned with studies on some of these unsolved problems.

OBJECTIVES OF THE STUDIES

The objectives of the first series of experiments (Part I) were to investigate the feasibility of using the dyebinding method as a rapid and inexpensive procedure for determining the crude protein content of RSM and for eval-

uating the quality of the protein of RSM.

~ · · ·

.

The objective of the second study (Part II) was to determine the effect that feeding low and high glucosinolate type RSMs to laying chickens had on the iodine contents of eggs.

3

The final study (Part III) was designed to determine the factors in RSM which cause layers of brown-shelled eggs to produce eggs that have a "fishy" or "crabby" odor. STUDIES ON THE USE OF DYE-BINDING FOR ESTIMATING THE QUANTITY AND QUALITY OF PROTEIN IN RAPESEED MEAL

A Introduction

Numerous so-called rapid methods have been developed as alternatives to the conventional macro-Kjeldahl procedure for measuring the protein content of cereal grains, oilseed meals and other biological materials. The principles on which these methods were based were completely different from those of the Kjeldahl method but in most cases were calibrated against it. They include; the measure of gaseous nitrogen derived from protein (Dumas' method), reaction of peptide chains of protein with reagents to form color complexes followed by spectrophotometric determination (Biuret method) and infrared absorption by peptide linkages between amino acids of protein molecules (IR method) etc. In spite of the advantages of these analytical procedures over the Kjeldahl method, most of them have only been used in research studies and only a limited number have been adopted officially by the Association of Official Analytical Chemists (A.O.A.C., 1970). One method which shows great potential and which meets the criteria of being rapid and inexpensive and which seems to be gaining in popularity is the dye-binding method. It was thought that by careful standardization and proper refinement of the analytical procedure, that the method might prove useful for daily quality control work in rapeseed processing plants and feed mills.

B Review of Literature

a Historical Development of the Method

It has long been known that acidic and basic dyes were effective protein precipitants. However, it was the persistent error observed in titration studies of protein solutions that caused Chapman et al. (1927) to measure the amount of certain acid dyes which were bound by proteins at various pH values. The proteins used in their studies were mainly isolated proteins such as gelatin, casein and fibrin. The complex nature of the dye-protein binding reaction was later studied by Rawlins and Schmidt (1929, 1930). They concluded that the interaction taking place between the dye ions and the oppositely charged ions of proteins was of chemical nature and reacted in stoichiometric proportions.

The technique of dye-binding, in its earliest stages of application, was used mainly for studying the mode of protein interactions with small molecules in living systems (Klotz, 1953). More recently, the procedure has been used to estimate the quantity and quality of protein.

b Theoretical Basis of Dye-Binding for Estimating Crude Protein Content

Nearly all of the dye-binding procedures described in the literature employed an acid azo dye and originated from the method devised by Frankel-Conrat and Cooper (1944). The principle factor involved in the reaction is the electrovalent attraction between the dye anions and the protein cations. The positively charged groups of the protein arise from the three basic amino acids, namely the epsilon amino

group of lysine, the imidazole group of histidine and the guanidine group of argining and to a less extent the terminal groups of peptide chains. It would seem reasonable to expect a direct stoichiometric relationship between the amount of dye bound and the number ϕf basic groups in the proteins of the sample. The amount of dye bound by the proteins of the sample should, therefore, serve as a measure of the total basic amino acids in the sample. If the amino acid composition of the protein of a biological material remains constant, the amounts of dye bound by samples of the material should be a function of their total protein contents. It is because of this theoretical potential and because of the practical advantages of the procedure that the method has been extensively studied and tested for its application in the determination of the total protein content of numerous foods and feedstuffs,

c Outline of the Method

Although experimental conditions selected as well as the kind of azo dye and equipment used might vary from one procedure to another, the basic technique is similar and may be summarized as follows:

1. The sample, finally ground if obtained in solid form, is thoroughly mixed with a dye solution of known concentration buffered at approximately pH 2.

2. During an equilibration period which may take a few minutes or several hours, the dye and proteins of the sample react to form insoluble complexes.

3. A clear supernatant is obtained by filtration or centrifugation.

4. The absorbance of the supernatant, which contains the unbound dye, is measured either after dilution or directly in a cuvette with a very short light-path length (0.2 mm).
5. The protein content of the sample is then obtained by referring the absorbance or other dye-binding readings to a pre-established calibration curve prepared for that particular protein material.

d Kinds of Dyes Used

The acid azo dyes commonly used in dye-binding procedure are Orange G (C.I. 16230*), Acid Orange 12 (C.I. 15970) and Amido Black 10B (C.I. 20470). The chemical structures of these dyes are shown in Fig. 1. The difference in dye-binding capacities of these dyes is due to the number of binding sites per molecule. While one molecule of Orange G or Amido Black 10B will bind with two positively charged groups of the protein, one molocule of Acid Orange 12 will bind with only one positively charged group of the protein since there is only one binding site in its molecule. However, it appears that there are no set criteria for the choice of the kind of dye used in the determination. When the procedure was first suggested by Frankel-Conrat and Cooper (1944), Orange G was the only dye investigated for its application in the protein determination of foods and feedstuffs (Udy, 1954, 1956a, 1956b; Moran et al., 1963). The azo dye Acid Orange *Standard color index number.

Orange G (C. T. 16230)

L



8

Acid Orange 12 (C. I. 15970)



Amido Black 10B (C. I. 20470)



Fig. 1. Acid azo dyes commonly used in dye-binding studies.

12 was first used by Udy in 1959 (ci ed by Udy, 1971) and was later found to react well with most commodities investigated. Since then, the use of this azo dye has become preferable over Orange G except in the case of determinations involving herbage (McKenzie, 1976). The use of Amido Black 10B has been limited, on the other hand, to crude protein determinations of dairy products (Dolby, 1961; O'Connell, 1970).

Several non-azo dyes have also been used for binding with proteins to assess protein quantity or quality. They have included phenolphthalein, cresol red, remazol blue and bromophenol blue (Frolich, 1954; Olomucki and Bornstein, 1960; Swaminathan <u>et al.</u>, 1973; Hurrell and Carpenter, 1975). The theoretical basis on which these dyes operate in predicting protein quantity and quality is not known.

e Mechanism of Dye-Protein Binding Interaction

The chemical nature of the dye-protein reactions are complex and involve multiple equilibria. Theoretical and mathematical relationships in dye-protein interactions have been reviewed by Rosenberg and Klotz, (1960).

The primary mechanism in the dye-protein interaction is an electrovalent association between the dye anions and cation sites on the proteins. Other than the primary mechanism, several possible secondary binding reactions may also be involved. These secondary bindings may be caused by interactions of the following nature; by hydrogen bonding between dye molecules and proteins, by hydrophobic bonding between dye molecules and proteins and by association between

g

free dye molecules and other dye molecules already bound to proteins. The binding of dye molecules to protein via the secondary mechanisms is undesirable since the extra dye so bound will over-estimate the crude protein content of the material under assay.

Of the two dyes, Orange G and Acid Orange 12, Orange G has been found to bind with protein primarily via electrovalent force and less via secondary binding than Acid Orange 12 (Lakin, 1973). In fact, the stoichiometric relationship between Orange G bound to the basic groups of several isolated proteins has been demonstrated (Frankel-Conrat and Cooper, 1944) whereas such relationship s, as yet, not been shown for Acid Orange 12. On the other hand, Acid Orange 12 does possess the advantage of binding more readily to protein than Orange G and thus the reaction with Acid Orange 12 takes less time to complete than with Orange G (Udy, 1971).

f Application of Dye-Binding to Determination of the Quantity of Crude Protein in Foods and Feedstuffs

Since the pioneer work of Frankel-Conrat and Cooper (1944), the dye-binding reaction has been extensively studied and used to determine the crude protein contents of various foods and feedstuffs ranging from dried skim milk powder to dry herbages. In the estimation of crude rectein, one set of experimental conditions, such as the kind of dye used, time of mixing and protein:dye ratio, etc., established as optimal for a specific dye and a particular protein does not necessarily mean that those same conditions may be used

for another protein source. As a consequence, information in the literature on dye-binding procedures was abundant. In the review described below, data reported by various workers for the same protein source are discussed under the same heading. A few representative linear regression equations relating crude protein or nitrogen percent, as determined according to the Kjeldahl procedure, and dye-binding. readings as reported by various workers are tabulated in Table 1.

1. Milk

Dye-binding with Orange G was first applied to milk protein determination by Udy (1956a). The procedure was later studied by Ashworth et al. (1960) who reported a correlation coefficient of 0.98 between protein contents determined by dye-binding and Kjeldahl procedures in studies involving 345 whole milk samples. In the same study, it was found that breed differences as well as butter fat and lactose contents of milk did not affect the results obtained. European workers (Schober and Hetzel, 1956), using the dye Amido Black 10B found that dye-protein azo Dinding was optimal at pH 1.9 and was not affected by the temperature of the milk sample. The suitability of Amido Black 10B for determining milk protein was later confirmed by Steinsholt (1957) and the procedure was further modified by Raadsveld (1958) to make the method more rapid. Comparisons between Orange G and Amido Black 10B were reported by Ashworth and Chaudry (1962) and Dolby (1961).

' 11

Regression Equations Relating the Kjeldahl Protein Content and Dye-Binding Readings for Some (1964) Sherbon and Fleming (1975) (1964) absorbance of unbound dye in the supernatant; C, bound dye concentration; gram sample; N, mg of nitrogen as measured by Kjeldahl analysis. Ashworth et al. (1960) Tortep and Whitaker Torten and Whitaker (1970) (1970) (1976) (1976) (1976) (1963) . ای ²Correlation coefficient between the Kjeldahl protein contents and dye-binding readings. Pariai et al. Medina <u>et al</u>. al. al. Moran et al. **Udy** (1956a) Udy (1956b) Parial et Medina et Reference Medina et 2 0.992 -0.986 coeff. -0.961 0.995 0.961 0.977 0.997 166.0 0.80 0.98 0.90 Corr. Commonly Used Food and Feedstuffs Sample size 345 10 11 128 218 45 45 14 12 17 Teble 1 + 0.4358B + 0.4774B 0.8896 + 0.476B - 40.00C P=(1.25-C)/0.1824 - 45.54C P= 14.67 - 13.60X 14.78 - 14.12X - 23.1 8.18 + 0.301B 5.43 + 0.367B 5.60 - 3.05X Regression⁻ 0.945B 0.3048 1.7337 44.47 40.92 equation **⊢** = N **-**=N ∥ ď 비 Ц 비 Щ ᇉ 비 ۳, N Acid Orange 12 12 Acid Orange Orange G Orange G Orange G C Orange G Orange G Orange P, protein percent; X, B, mg of dye bound per Dye used Rapeseed flour Rapeseed meal Sesame flour Soybean meal Ground beef Ground pork Milled rice Wheat flour Brown rice material Protein -near Wheat Milk Milk

¢

12

*.7

Both groups of workers found that the two dyes were equally effective for the determination of milk protein. Both dyes gave linear relationships between protein and dye bound but Amido Black 10B had an advantage over Orange G in that it gave a much more sensitive optical indication of protein content. The protein values of milk as determined by dyebinding were not affected by refrigerated storage or pasteurization of the sample. The procedure of dye-binding for milk protein estimation has been investigated in collaborative studies and found to be highly reproducible within laboratories and acceptable between laboratories (Luke, 1967; Sherbon, 1967).

The high reproducibility and favourable acceptance of the dye-binding method by the dairy industry has stimulated work on automation of the procedure. The semi-automated Udy Protein Analyzer using Acid Orange 12 has been used experimentally as early as 1962 (Banasik and Gilles, 1962) and the Prometer Milk Analyzer using Amido Black 10 B has been produced in Europe (O'Connell, 1970). Both instruments have been tested for accuracy against the Kjeldahl procedure and found to be highly accurate and were recommended for official use by the Association of Official Analytical Chemists (Sherbon, 1967); Sherbon, 1975; Sherbon and Fleming, 1975).

A new azo dye Napthal Red S was recently tested by Konrad (1973a,b) and found to be suitable for milk protein determination. The correlation coefficient between the protein contents estimated by dye-binding and by the Kjeldahl

method for 15 samples was 0.98.

2. Meat

Torten and Whitaker (1964) were the first to study the use of Orange G and Amido Black 10B for estimating the protein contents of meats, including ground beef, pork, chicken breast and cod. When these foods were analyzed by the Orange G dye-binding method, the dye-binding capacity (DBC) per g Kjeldahl protein was found to vary with the protein content of the samples but the precision was poor. Neither Amido Black 10B nor Orange G.was found to be suitable for this In both cases, there was evidence of a decrease purpose. in proportionate DBC of the protein with increase in protein content of the sample. Moss and Kiefsmeier (1967) studied various dye: protein ratios to find the optimal test condition for bindings. They favoured the use of Amido Black 10B and recommended a dye:protein ratio of 0.521 with a dye concentration of 0.105% for binding with protein in meat. The correlation coefficient obtained between DBC and protein content of the samples was, however, low (r = 0.625).

Ashworth (1971) re-investigated the use of pure Acid Orange 12 in the protein determination of meat products. He suggested that a range of dye:protein ratio from 0.64 to 0.92 was suitable for measurement of protein content since a calibration curve relating free dye concentration in the filtrate to protein content by the Kjeldahl method can be readily prepared for each type of meat product based on such ratios. The DBC of meat proteins was not affected by normal

cooking or 'fat content. Riqueline and Ashworth (1973) used the same dye (Ac d Orange 12) on 90 samples of lamb meat and obtained a high correlation between percent protein determined by the dye-binding technique and the Kjeldahl method, (r = 0.99)confirming the earlier findings of Ashworth (1971). The accuracy of values obtained by dye-binding was comparable to that obtained by the Kjeldahl method but reproducibility between duplicates was greater by dye-binding than by the Kjeldahl method. Since the dye-binding procedure appeared promising, an interlaboratory study involving four laboratories was initiated to evaluate the application of the Ashworth (1971) procedure in meat protein determination by Heller and Sherbon (1976). Using six samples of meat, they found that the correlations between the protein values determined by the two procedures at individual laboratories were all highly significant but they also found significant interlaboratory differences in the protein values estimated. Further studies are therefore required before application of the method is adopted.

3. Cereals

During the period when dye-binding was being studied, modified and automated for its use in milk protein determination, impressive achievements were also made in the application of the dye-binding principle to the estimation of the protein content of cereal grain.

Udy (1954) used Orange G in a study of four protein fractions isolated from wheat flour. He found that the

15 .

basic binding groups exhibited considerable constancy in their DBC within a given fraction for all varieties of wheat examined.

1.2

High correlation coefficients (0.992 and 0.997) between the concentration of unbound Orange G, which indirectly measured DBC, and the Kjeldahl protein content for 128 samples of wheat and 218 samples of wheat flour were reported by Udy (1956b). Mossberg (1965) using Amido Black 10B to determine the crude protein of wheat obtained lower protein values than estimated by the Kjeldahl method. Gruener <u>et al</u>. (1968) compared the use of Amido Black 10B versus Orange G for estimating protein content of wheat flour and favoured the latter.

Banasik and Gilles (1962) studied the precision of the Udy method for wheat protein analysis. Initial tests with the Udy Protein Analyzer appeared to indicate that the Udy Protein Analyzer was consistently giving low values in the high protein range and over-estimating protein contents in the low protein range. However, the values were corrected by a new conversion table obtained by recalibrating a standard curve covering a wide range of wheat protein contents. Greenaway (1972) also noted discrepancies in protein percent determined by dye-binding and the Kjeldahl procedure for 367 samples of wheat. Most mean differences were small, being less than 0.5% between dye-binding and Kjeldahl values except for wheats containing less than 10% protein where the mean differences approached 1%. Greenaway (1972) developed a

quadratic equation from the data he obtained from the Udy Protein Analyzer and Kjeldahl method and prepared a conversion table. The values obtained from the conversion table were in close agreement with Kjeldahl values.

Determination of the crude protein of other cereal grains by dye-binding was also reported by Mossberg (1968). Correlations between the dye-binding of five varieties of cereal grains and their nitrogen levels as analysed by the Kjeldahl method were; 0.97, 0.95, 0.96, 0.96 and 0.93 for barley, oats, wheat, rye and ryewheat respectively. The correlations between the amounts of dye bound and the total basic amino acids in the protein of the grains were equally high.

Olson and Heiges (1962) applied the dye-binding technique to routine barley protein analysis. Comparisons of the protein contents using the Kjeldahl and dye-binding methods on 577 barley samples indicated sufficient agreement to justify the use of the dye-binding method in routine barley protein analysis. The correlation coefficients for the different varieties of barley were all in excess of 0.96. Munck <u>et al</u>. (1969) adopted this technique as a rapid screening process to determine the crude protein content of barley. The dye-binding method has been approved as an official AACC (American Association of Cereal Chemists) method (1970). Determination of protein level in rice by the Udy Protein Analyzer was reported by Parial <u>et al.</u> (1 /0). Mean protein contents of milled and brown rice estimated by the dye-binding method ware not statistically different from those obtained by the Kjeldahl procedure. Kim <u>et al</u>. (1971) also found high correlations between absorbance of the unbound dye and the protein content in brown rice.

4. Tubers

The dye-binding method has been used experimentally in the determination of protein in potato. Kaldy et al. (1972) found a correlation of 0.98 between Kjeldahl protein and absorbance of bound dye by raw potato, using Orange G as the dye for protein binding. High correlations were also reported by Fritz and Munzett (1975) on air-dried or fresh potatoes. They indicated that Orange G is sufficiently accurate for routine determinations. Another dye, Bromophenol Blue (BPB) was used to estimate the 'true' protein of potatoes by Swaminathan et al. (1973). Data collected from 120 samples of potatoes gave a correlation of 0.92 between the amount of BPB bound and the true protein content. Regression line relating the two variables passed through the origin, indicating absence of interference from non-protein nitrogenous substances. Protein values determined by both Orange G and BPB methods for dried potato samples were compared with their amino acid compositions by Desborough (1975). It was found that the values obtained by the BPB method were well correlated with those determined by amino acid analysis but the values

obtained by Udy Protein Analyzer were not as highly correlated with those determined by amino acid analysis as those obtained by the BPB method.

5. Forages

Quantitative estimation of protein in herbage by Orange G uptake was studied by Outen <u>et al</u>. (1966). Results obtained from study of 97 samples with 1 to 4% nitrogen content showed that although the uptake of Orange G increased proportionally as the nitrogen content increased, precision of the method was not as good as that of the Kjeldahl method. McKenzie (1976) recently compared the Orange G dyè-binding method against the trichloroacetic acid (TCA) precipitated nitrogen for the determination of the protein content in dried pulp and leaf juice. It was found that the Orange G binding method was accurate and valid for estimation of TCA Kjeldahl nitrogen in leaf juice but less accurate for dried pulp unless separate regression equations were prepared for each species of dried pulp.

6. Oilseed Meals and Other High Protein Feedstuffs

One of the earlier studies on the use of Orange G binding as a measure of the protein content of high protein feedstuffs was presented by Bunyan (1959). Feedstuffs analysed included meat meals, whalemeat meals, fishmeals, soybean meals and groundnut meals. Linear regression equations were obtained for each of the individual protein sources, relating DBC and Kjeldahl protein contents. The
correlations for all the regression equations were highly significant except for meat meals in which a few atypical meals were encountered / Pomeranz (1965) also reported a high correlation between the protein values of finely ground soybean products determined by Orange G binding and by the Kjeldahl method (r = 0.98). However, the regression equation obtained was different from that reported by Bunyan (1959). Later, Hymowitz et al. (1969) modified the dye-binding determination by reading the protein content directly from the Udy Protein Analyzer and examined the relationship between values obtained by the Kjeldahl method and this modified version of the dye-binding technique. They found that the regression equation relating the protein values of 95 samples of soybean meal estimated by the two methods was linear in meals that ranged in protein content from 27 to 51%. The correlation coefficient was 0.985. The protein content as predicted by the modified dye-binding method accounted for only 94.3% of the total Kjeldahl protein. The difference was attributed to the presence of non-protein nitrogenous substances in the soybean meals which were measured by the Kjeldahl method but not by the modified dye-binding method. McCready et al. (1970) applied this technique to the determination of safflower meal protein but failed to find a relationship between dyebinding values and nitrogen contents as determined by the Kjeldahl procedure. In a study involving groundnut meals Daghir et al. (1969) reported that Orange G binding capacity was highly correlated with the crude protein content of five

groundnut meals (r = 0.98). Medina <u>et al</u>. (1976) using the Udy procedure obtained an equation for predicting the crude protein of sesame flour with a correlation coefficient of 0.991 from a sample size of 14.

Information on the application of the dye-binding method to RSM has become available only recently. Udy (1971) recommended an equation for the determination of the crude protein content of rapeseed by Acid Orange 12 binding. However, the validity of the equation was not supported by any experimental Medina et al. (1976) studied the application of the data. dye-binding technique to RSM. They modified the Udy procedure (Udy, 1971) by reducing the mixing time to 30 minutes and predicting the crude protein contents of RSMs and rapeseed flours by the amount of dye bound to one gram of sample. The DBC was then related to nitrogen content determined by the Kjeldahl method. The predicted protein values for 17 samples of rapeseed flour and 12 samples of RSM were not significantly different from the Kjeldahl protein values. Linear regression equations derived from rapeseed flour and meal are shown in Table 1 and correlations between the two methods for flour and meal were 0.977 and 0.995 respectively. The dye-binding method had better precision than the Kjeldahl method as shown by the lower standard deviation of 0.338 versus 0.595% protein for Kjeldahl method.

g Application of Dye-Binding to Determination of the Quality of Protein

Although the majority of reports cited have clearly demonstrated the validity of the dye-binding method in

quantitative determination of crude protein, none have demonstrated a relationship between values obtained and protein quality other than indicating that the values obtained give a good estimate of the total basic amino acids in the sample analysed.

Careful examination of the principle involved in the dye-protein reaction, however, revealed that the dye-binding procedure has another advantage over Kjeldahl nitrogen determination in that it is capable of detecting changes which might alter the contents of the three basic amino acids, particularly the essential amino acid lysine. It is well known that when a protein material is subjected to excessive heat treatment the heat-labile and often limiting amino acid lysine is chemically altered in such a way that the epsilon amino group in its molecule becomes bound to carbohydrate and the nutritive value of the protein is greatly reduced (Carpenter and Booth, 1973). In this instance, the nitrogen content by the Kjeldahl method remains the same but, not so by the dye-binding procedure. The amount of dye bound to the heat-damaged protein will be reduced in proportion to the amount of lysine destroyed. Thus, it appears that combined analysis for nitrogen by the Kjeldahl and dyebinding methods could be used to measure the protein quality of a protein-rich material.

1. Detection of Heat Damage to Protein

Changes in the DBC of a protein containing sample appear to be largely dependent on the severity of the heat applied.

Mild heat treatment of protein over a short period of time does not seriously affect the content of amino acids and as a result the DBC of the protein. Egg albumen samples denatured by heating for 5 minutes and C and pH 2.5 and 11.7 did not affect the DBC of the albusamples accord to . Frankel-Conrat and Cooper (1944). Neither were adverse effects noted in liquid milk subjected to heating at temperatures as high as 190°F (Vanderzant and Tennison, 1961). Sterilization heat, intense enough to cause browning of the milk did, however, lower the DBC of the milk protein (Tarassuk, 1967). During his study of the application of dye-binding on milk protein determination, Udy (1956a) demonstrated that liquid whole milk and dried milk powder bound with different amounts of Orange G per g protein and attributed this difference to the denaturation of the milk protein during the drying process.

 $\{\cdot\}$

Mossberg (1965) studied the DBC of wheat and demonstrated a noticeable effect of heat treatment on the ability of wheat protein to bind Orange G. Ground wheat samples heated at 100°C for 16 hour showed consistently lower protein values than those recorded for the corresponding unheated samples when determined by the dye-binding method. Additive effect of temperature, water content and duration of heating on the uptake of dye by cereal grain was also examined by Mossberg (1966). Ground barley samples with moisture contents of 12.0, 21.1 and 27.9% were heated at 50° and 85°C from 8 to 96 hours. The protein contents according to Kjeldahl analysis did not change and were independent of temperature, water

content and the duration of heat treatment. On the contrary, the protein contents by dye-binding estimation changed after heat treatment as a function of temperature, moisture and duration of heating.

Influence of heat treatment on the DBC of oilseed meals has been studied mainly with soybean meal. Moran et al. (1963) studied the binding of Orange G by heated soybean meals and found that 15 minutes of heat treatment significantly reduced the DBC and further reduction occurred when the autoclaving was prolonged to 1 and 2 hours. Using the ratio of DBC of the unheated and heated meals as index of quality, they found that the protein quality of soybean mealsheated for 0, 45 and 90 minutes were significantly different from each other, a result which was confirmed by biological assay. Application by these workers of the technique to fishmeal was not successful because of the fluctuations in histidine and arginine contents among species or parts of fish used in fishmeal production. Similar reduction in DBC of soybean flour subjected to autoclaving was reported by Pomeranz (1965) and of soybean meal by Hymowitz et al. (1969) and in meat and bone meals by Choppe and Kratzer (1963). In all of these studies the samples were subjected to rather severe heating before a decrease in DBC was noted.

The various stages of heat destruction to food protein were studied in detail under simulated conditions using isolated protein by Hurrell and Carpenter (1975). The degree of protein damage was measured by the dye-binding procedure

2. Selection of High Lysine Variety of Cereal Grains

Another important application of the dye-binding technique is in the selection of high lysine varieties of cereal grains in plant breeding work. The basis of the application is that, of the three basic amino acids in cereal grains, lysine is often the only limiting one and varies among varieties, whereas, the levels of histidine and arginine remain relatively constant. Hence, two samples of the same cereal grain containing identical amounts of protein according to Kjeldahl analysis but which bind different amounts of dye would probably contain different levels of lysine.

A new line of hybrid corn known to contain higher lysine than the original line was successfully identified by this method (Mossberg, 1966). The two lines, analysed by the

Kjeldahl procedure to contain 13.26 and 13.29% crude protein, bound 247 and 336 mg of dye per 100 g protein respectively. Of 67 samples from six varieties of cereals, the correlation between lysine levels determined by an amine acid analyzer and DBC was higher than that between lysine and the nitrogen contents (r = 0.94 versus 0.80). This observation, lends further support to the use of DBC as a suitable screening technique for lysine provided there is a good positive correlation between the total basic amino acids and lysine for the particular type of cereal studied. This procedure has been adopted by Munck <u>et al</u>. (1969) in ' is selection for a high protein, high lysine variety of barley by screening 2500 varieties of barley from the world collection.

Bhatty and Wu (1975) have recently presented a modified dyè-binding procedure for screening barley samples for lysine content. Using a sample weight and dye concentration (Acid Orange 12) one-third of those used in the Udy (1971) method, a standard conversion table relating the transmittance reading to the lysine content of barley was prepared. Lysine levels of 34 lines of barley estimated by this modified dyebinding procedure were highly correlated to values obtained by an amino acid analyzer for the same samples. The advantage and reliability of this modified procedure was later confirmed by Laberge <u>et al</u>. (1976).

Juliano et al. (1973) used a similar procedure to screen for a high lysine variety of rice. Of more than ten thousands varieties examined from the world collection, only 38

> 545 (15)

varieties were found to contain higher total basic amino acids of which seven of them with high DBC had 0.5% higher lysine content than the mean value for brown rice.

h Correlations Between Protein Qualities of Feedstuffs as Predicted by the Dye-Binding Method and by Biological Assays

As indicated previously in this review, the dye-binding method used in conjunction with Kjeldahl nitrogen analysis, is a useful laboratory means for detecting inferior protein quality caused by excessive heat treatment. However, its practical applicability can be just fied only if the predicted protein quality of feedstuff is highly correlated with results derived from biological assays.

As early as 1957, the DBC of fishmeals with Orange G was studied for its correlation with their nutritive values (Thurston, 1957). Orange G absorption test was one of the methods used in predicting the protein quality of a wide range of protein foods by Bunyan and Price (1960). The same samples were also assayed biologically by the net protein utilization (NPU) method with rats. By comparing the Orange G binding data with the NPU values, it was found that the Orange G dye absorption correlated well with the NPU values when expressed as acid equivalents per 10⁴ g of protein. The whalemeat meals, meat meals and fishmeals that had higher dye-absorption values had higher NPU values. This was true also for the numerous other protein feedstuffs.

Similar agreement between dye-binding and biological assays was reported by Boyne et al. (1961) for numerous protein

concentrates from both plant and animal origins. Of the different kinds of oilseed meals studied, only the groundnut meal samples failed to show a correlation between the dye absorption values and the corresponding gross protein value (G \checkmark results recorded in chick assays.

Studies on meat and bone meals were reported by Choppe and Kratzer (1963). Twenty samples of meat and bone meal were used in chick growth assays as the sole source of protein. The meals were used to supply 24% of protein in a purified type ration and fed to chicks from the fifth to the fifteenth days of age. The amounts of Orange G bound to the meat and bone meals were poorly but positively correlated to chick growth data (r = 0.64).

Moran <u>et al</u>. (1963) studied the effect of heat treatment on the DBC of soybean meals and verified the results by chick assays. The meals autoclaved for periods ranging from 15 minutes to 2 hours were included at the 35% level in rations fed to chicks for four weeks. The decline in protein quality as measured by the chicks weight gain corresponded to the protein quality indices predicted chemically by DBC of the meals tested with the exception of the raw, unheated mea¹. Although the unheated soybean meal showed optimal binding with Orange G, it supported poorer growth than meal heated for 15 minutes. This was attributed to the presence of certain anti-nutritional factors in soybean meal. Both weight gain and dye-binding indices showed that the qualities of the meals were significantly reduced over that found after 15 minutes. Comparative assessment of the protein qualities of three fishmeals by the Orange G binding test and by chick growth assays were reported by Bunyan and Woodham (1964). The chick growth was measured by protein efficiency ratio (PER). The protein quality of the meals as predicted by Orange G dye uptake was closely correlated with the values obtained in chick assays.

Study of cereal grains was presented by Munck (1966). Several barley samples of known DBC were evaluated for their protein quality by weight gain to 20 days of age in mice feeding tests. A clear correlation between DBC of the barley samples and weight gain was demonstrated.

A recent study which showed close correlation between protein qualities predicted chemically by dye-binding and biologically by chick growth and NPU test in rats was reported by Carpenter and Opstvedt (1976). Eight samples of fishmeal were evaluated by laboratory methods and tested for their potency as sources of lysine for animal growth. When the mean results obtained from the various tests were compared with bioassay, the dye-binding test was found to be highly correlated with the chick growth and NPU values. The correlation coefficients found were 0.933 between dye-binding and chick assay and 0.742 for NPU assay.

i Determination of Nutritionally Available Lysine Content of Feedstuffs by Differential Dye-Binding Capacity

The term 'available lysine' refers specifically to the amino acid lysine with a free epsilon-amino group and is nutritionally available to the animal upon ingestion of

the protein material. It was introduced mainly to distinguish the 'available' form from the total lysine which is conventionally estimated by an amino acid analyzer and includes the 'available' as well as the unavailable lysine. At the time when correlation of amino acid composition of proteins and their nutritive values was being demonstrated, there was already some evidence that the reduced nutritive value of the protein of dried milk resulting from storage was related to the poor availability of lysine (Henry <u>et al.</u>, 1948). This was later verified by study of a casein-glucose model but also found true for other protein sources (cited by Carpenter and Booth, 1973).

Chemical methods developed for measuring available lysine content of feedstuffs were based on the reaction of the free epsilon-amino group of lysine with 1-fluoro-2, 4 dinitrobenzene (FDNB), a chemical used by Sanger (1945) for identifying the number of different N-terminal groups in proteins and peptides. The amount of available lysine was measured by quantitative determination of ξ -dinitrophenyl lysine (DNP-lysine) formed. The analytical procedure has been outlined by Carpenter (1960) and later modified by Booth (1971). Various modifications of the Carpenter (1960) procedure have been suggested for isolation of the DNP-lysine prior to spectrophotometric determination of the combound (Blom <u>et al</u>., 1967; Matheson, 1968; Holm, 1971). Roach <u>et al</u>. (1967), on the other hand, estimated the available lysine content by measuring the difference between the total lysine and unavailable lysine

content, that is the free lysine which was released on acid hydrolysis after the reaction with FDNB. Ostrowski <u>et al</u>. (1970) introduced slight changes in chromatographic conditions to improve the resolution of lysine and ornithine. Despite all of the improvements and modifications proposed for the analytical procedure, none of them is at present, considered ' faultless.

The dye-binding technique has recently been studied for its application in determining 'available lysine' content 'of protein commodities. This has led to the development of the new technique known as differential dye-binding capacity procedure. The determination is performed by measuring the amount of dye which binds with the protein before and after the free epsilon-amino group of lysine was masked by a chemical compound. The difference in DBC per unit weight of protein for the two determinations gives the equivalence of dye bound to the 'available lysine' in the protein. The modified method appears to be theoretically sound and if applied successfully would have the advantages of bypassing the cumbersome and lengthy acid hydrólysis and DNP-lysine isolation required in other methods.

Sandler and Warren (1974) were the first to put this hypothesis to test. For the selection of the reagent to mask effectively the free epsilon-amino groups of lysine, they suggested that a compound selected for such purpose should be of small molecular size to avoid steric hindrance to reaction of dye with the basic groups. Other than that, it

·

÷.

should react quantitatively with the epsilon-amino group without altering the basic properties of the imidazole group of histidine and guanidine group of arginine. Using ethyl chloroformate as the blocking agent, Sandler and Warren (1974) developed a practical analytical procedure for measuring the lysine content of fishmeal protein. Results obtained showed a close agreement between the differential equivalent DBC for fishmeal protein and lysine in the sample. procedure was found applicable to soybean meal but not suitable to gelatins.

Based on the same theoretical consideration, Jones and Lakin (1976) followed a similar procedure to estimate the lysine level of barley samples by determining the dye-binding difference (DBD) before and after blocking the epsilon-amino group of lysine with trinitrobenzene sulphonic acid (TNBS) at 40°C. A total of 24 feed barley samples were analysed. There was a strong correlation (r = 0.951) between the DBD values and their lysine levels as analysed by an amino acid analyzer. Hurrell and Carpenter (1976) used propionic acid to mask the free epsilon-amino group and measured the dyebinding capacity of samples before and after propionylation. The DBD values of the samples agreed with the available lysine levels determined by the Carpenter (1960) procedure for cereal grains, groundnut flour and soybean meal but fishmeal and meat meals usually gave lower DBD values than those obtained by the FDNB method. However, it should be noted that the differential dye-binding technique is still in

a rather early stage of development. With further refinement of the experimental conditions and selection of a suitable chemical for masking the free epsilon-amino group of lysine, the method might prove to be an indispensable tool for rapid estimation of the biologically 'available lysine' in feedstuffs.

- C Experiments Conducted at The University of Alberta
 - a Experiment 1: Study of the Correlations Between the Crude Protein Contents and the Dye-Binding Capacities of Rapeseed Meals with Orange G and Acid Orange 12

1 Objective

The first of this series of experiments was designed to study the relationships between the crude protein contents as estimated by the Kjeldahl method and the dye-binding capacities (DBCs) of rapeseed meals (RSMs) with two dyes commonly used in dye-binding studies, namely, Orange G and Acid Orange 12.

2 Materials and Methods

Fifteen samples of RSM were assembled for the study. The samples were known to differ widely in protein contents. Thirteen of the samples were obtained from commercial rapeseed processing plants while two of the meals were produced in the laboratory. Prior to the study of DBC, the nitrogen contents of the samples were determined by the Kjeldahl procedure (A.O.A.C., 1970) and the percentages of crude protein were calculted using the conversion factor of 6.25. The moisture contents of the RSMs were determined by drying in a vacuum oven (A.O.A.C., 1970).

In connection with the determination of the contents of basic amino acids in the RSMs, 1 g samples of the meals were placed in 250 ml of flat bottom flasks fitted with a water cooled condenser and 25 ml of 6N HCl was added to each fl sk. The mixture was refluxed for 24 hours. Excess HCl was re-

moved under vacuum using a rotary evaporator. The residue was washed twice with distilled water, each time being evaporated to dryness in a rotary evaporator. The residue was made to 100 ml in a volumetric flask with de-ionized distilled water. A portion was filtered through a millipore filter attached to a syringe and the filtrate was analysed for basic amino acids using a JLC-5AH Amino Acid Analyzer (JEOL Co., Japan).

In an attempt to establish the experimental conditions required for optimal dye-protein binding, the effects of particle size and of protein:dye ratio in the mixture on the DBC of RSM with Orange G were studied. Only the effect of particle size on the DBC with Acid Orange 12 was investigated.

Particle size. Four samples of RSM were ground in a laboratory microanalytical mill to sizes which passed through 40 (0.42 mm) and 60 (0.25 mm) mesh sieves, respectively, and their uptakes of Orange G were studied by the procedure outlined by Moran <u>et al</u>. (1963). Results obtained are shown in Table 2. Statistical analysis of the data by Student's t test revealed no significant difference between the mean DBC of the 40 mesh versus the 60 mesh particle size (P<0.05).

Seven samples of RSM were ground to the particle sizes referred to above and were studied for their DBCs with Acid Orange 12 using the Udy Protein Analyzer (Udy, 1971). The results obtained showed no significant difference in the amounts of Acid Orange 12 bound by one gram samples ground to 40 or 60 mesh size (Table 3). A particle size of 40 mesh was therefore selected.

	mg Orange G b of m	
Sample	40 mesh ¹	60 mesh
1	72.6	74.2
2	66.3	66.7
3	62.8	63.3
4	62.2	64.0
Meán ²	66.0	67.0

Effect of Particle Size of Sample on the Amount of Orange G Bound by Rapeseed Meal

Table 2

.

-

1.9

36

٠,

5

 2 Means for DBC at 40 and 60 mesh were not significantly different (P<0.05).

Effect of Amount of seed Meal	Particle Size of Sample on the Acid Orange 12 Bound by Rape-	
·		

Table 3

	mg Acid Ora	ange 12 n of mea		_
Sample	40 mesh ¹		60 mesh	
. 1	139.8	•	141.2	-
• 2	137.4		.138.5	
3	126.6	• . •	125.3	
4	124.1	2	124.2	
5	128.7	•	125.5	
6	129.1	. :.	129.8	
7	123.7		121.3	-
Mean ²	129.9		129.4	

 $1_{40 \text{ mesh} = 0.42 \text{ mm}}, 60 \text{ mesh} = 0.25 \text{ mm}.$

²Means for DBC at 40 and 60 mesh were not significantly different (P<0.05).

·, •

3.7

Protein:dye ratio. Geven samples of RSM were studied for their DBCs with Orange G by the procedure of Moran et al. (1963). Protein:dye ratios of approximately 4:1 and 2:1 were tested for optimal binding of RSM protein with Orange G. The ratios were obtained by using 250 and 150 mg samples of RSM to react respectively with 25 ml of 0.1% Orange G solution. The results (Table 4) clearly indicated that the mean amount of Orange G bound per g of meal was significantly higher for the protein:dye ratio of 2:1 than for the ratio of 4:1. Although at both ratios, the DBC measured was highly correlated with the Kjeldahl protein levels of the meals, the ratio of 2:1 was chosen to ensure a more complete dye-protein reaction.

Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Orange G 150 mg of RSM ground to 40 mesh, was transferred to a 60 ml polyethylene flask and 25 ml of 0.1% Orange G dye solution was delivered to the flask. (The 0.1% Orange G solution was prepared by dissolving 1 g of recrystallized Orange G in phosphate buffer solution of pH 2.2 which contained 980 ml of 0.1 M citric acid and 20 ml of 0.2 M disodium phosphate). The RSM-dye mixture was then placed on a shaker and shaken at the rate of 120 strokes per minute for 1 hour. It was then filtered through a filter cap fitted with a fibre glass filter paper and a 1 _______ aliquot of the filtrate was diluted 1:100 in a volumetric flask with distilled water.

Optical density of the diluted filtrate was recorded colorimetrically at 470 nm in a Beckman DBG Spectrophotometer.

Table 4

Effect of Protein to Dye Ratio on the Amount of Orange G Bound by Rapeseed Meal

			G bound per f meal
Sample	Kjeldahl protein (%) (N x 6.25)		dye ratio 2:1
1	44.8 ¹	[*] • 66.1	80.9
2	40.4	62.6	73.3
3	39.8	62.4	72.6
4	36.5	56.9	66.3
5	36.6 .	56.0	62.8
6	36.8	57.8	62.2
7	33.9	54.1	58.7
Mean ²		59.4	68.1
······································			

l Correlation coefficients between Kjeldahl protein and dye-binding capacity at protein:dye ratios of 4:1 and 2:1 were identical (r = 0.98).

 2 Means for DBC at 4:1 and 2:1 protein to dye ratios were significantly different (P<0.05).

P

a calibration curve prepared by determining the optical density of appropriately diluted stock dye solution over the range of 0 to 1.0 mg/ml at 0.1 intervals. Determination of the DBC of each RSM sample was done on five replicates. From the known amount of unbound dye and the sample weight, the DBC was calculated.

Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Acid Orange 12

A sample size of 250 mg of meal was used to react with 40 ml of Acid Orange 12 stock solution (1.3 mg/ml) for estimating the amount of Acid Orange 12 bound by RSM. (The stock solution was prepared by diluting Reagent Acid Orange 12 solution, Edy Co., Boulder, Colorado, with distilled water). This provided approximately 14 mg of protein nitrogen in the dye-protein mixture as suggested by Udy (1971). The DBC of the RSMs with Acid Orange 12 was determined according to the procedure of Udy (1971) by measuring the transmittance of the undiluted filtrate in a colorimeter equipped with a short light-path cuvette. The unbound dye concentration was obtained by referring the transmittance to the conversion chart provided. To allow cross-checking of the values obtained with Udy's colorimeter, the dye concentration of the same filtrate was also estimated by the spectrophotometric For this purpose, 1 ml of the filtrate was diluted method. to 100 ml with distilled water in a volumetric flask. The optical density of the diluted solution was read in a Beckman DBG Spectrophotometer at a wavelength of 480 nm. The concen-~ tration of the unbound Acid Orange 12 which remained after

removal of the dyo-protein complex was read from a calibration curve relating the optical density and dye concentration prepared in a manner similar to that used in connection with determinations involving Orange G.

3 Results and Discussion

The crude protein, dry matter and basic amino acid contents of the 15 RSM samples studied are shown in Table 5. The total amount of basic amino acids per g of RSM was also computed and presented in the same table.

The crude protein contents of the meals (N x 6.25) analysed by the Kjeldahl method were found to cover a wide range (30.1 to 44.8%). This was considered desirable. Variation in lysine, arginine and histidine contents of the different meals were of the same order. The moisture contents of the samples were relatively constant.

The dye-binding data for the RSMs tested are summarized in Table 5. For both Orange G and Acid Orange 12, the amount of dye bound to one gram of RSM decreased as the level of protein decreased. The relationship between the DBC (mg Orange G/g rapeseed meal) and the percent protein obtained by the Kjeldahl method is shown in Fig. 2. The regression equation relating DBC (x) and protein percent (Y) was:

Y = 3.91 + 0.49x.

The correlation coefficient was 0.93 and the standard deviation was 1.38% of the protein. Uptake of Acid Orange 12 by the RSMs as determined colormetrically by Udy's colorimeter and spectrophotometrically were plotted against percent

v.

Table 5

į,

Crude Protein, Basic Amino Acids and Dry Matter Contents of Rapeseed Meals and Dye-Binding Capacities of Rapeseed Meals With Orange G and Acid Orange 12

	Crude Drotein	Basic	amino	acid (g/16g N)	Total BAA	Drv V	Orange G	Acid Or bound n	Orange 12 d mg/g meal
Sample	(N x 6.25)	Lysine	Histidine	Arginine	mg/g meal	serter %	mg/g meal	Udy's method	Spectro- Photometric method
-1 ~	44.8.	6.07	1	1					
1 m	40.4 40.2	5.94 11	1.		ກ່ວ		Ó r	21	51
41	39.8	0./5 5.86	2.66 2.05	5.94	57.8	92.1	73.3	144.0	142.1
ი დ	37.5	s lo			ດ.		\sim	л с с	י הי חימ
0 -		S		1. 11	n' c			2 1	
• 80	ρu	<u> </u>	5		· ~		$\sqrt{1}$	26.	
ۍ ۱	;	0.10	<u> </u>	ŗ.				20	24.
10	6.	1 0		5,0	-				
11	• •	~~	7	ກີ				4	
	34.6	5.93						0	• •
14	53. U	۰ ۳	ω	<u>س ر</u>	<u>.</u>			m	10
15	30.1	4/ C	1 0	∞	• •		•		
ч		•	`	თ	٠		• •	4 r	س
L VALUE WITH Crude profein		•						•	4
							C		
9							0.43	0.98	0.98
total BAA									
					1.00		0.87	0.96	0.97
All'r' (corre	(Correlation conference)								
	TIACT CORT	_	values were highly		significant ()	(10 0>d)			
,						• / T D • D < 3			

0

42

Januar V

Section 1.



protein and are shown in Fig. 3. Regression equations showing linear relationships between Acid Orange 12 binding (x) and Kjeldahl protein percent (Y) were: Y = 2.20 + 0.27x and Y = 0.36 + 0.28x for the colorimetric and spectrophotometric determinations respectively. The close relationship between the protein level in the RSM and the amount of Acid Orange 12 bound was clearly demonstrated by the high positive correlation coefficients (0.98 for both) obtained. The standard deviations calculated were 0.80 and 0.79% of the protein. The same data were further analysed statistically by quadratic regression analysis (Steel and Torrie, 1960) but there appeared to be no advantage for this analysis at the 5% level as compared to the linear regression. Therefore, it seems , that the linear regression equations obtained for the two dyes tested are adequate for satisfactory estimation of protein contents of RSMs.

Although for both dyes, the amount of dye bound per unit weight of RSM was linearly related to the crude protein of the meal, the use of Acid Orange 12 seemed superior to Orange G as shown by the higher correlation coefficients and the lower standard deviation for Acid Orange 12. It is also evident that the DBC as determined by direct reading of undiluted filtrate in the Udy colorimeter, is comparable to that measured by the spectrophotometer and suggests the former as the method of preference.

The fact that all the linear equations do not pass through the origin suggests that some interference with the dye-protein



and spectrophotometric methods and the Kjeldahl protein contents of the meals.

਼

reaction by other non-protein substances was taking place. Ideally, the line represented by the linear equation for predicting protein content should pass through the origin with a correlation coefficient of 1.

Since the azosulphonic dyes used bind mainly to the basic amino acids, the absolute amount of the basic amino acids (BAA) in each meal was calculated and expressed in mg BAA/g rapeseed meal (Table 5). The correlation coefficients between DBC and BAA contents were 0.87 for binding with Orange G measured by the spectrophotometer and 0.96 and 0.97 for binding with Acid Orange 12 measured by Udy colorimeter and the spectrophotometer respectively. These results agree well with the earlier findings and support the use of Acid Orange 12 as a more suitable dye for estimation of the crude protein of RSM. A possible explanation for the less satisfactory results with Orange G as compared to Acid Orange 12 is that physical blocking of the formation of the proteindye complex might arise with Orange G due to the presence of two binding sites per Orange G molecule. Steric hindrance may prevent the complete binding of these sites.

Results recorded in this study compare favourably with values reported for other oilseed meals (Hymowitz <u>et al.</u>, 1969; Daghir <u>et al.</u>, 1969). However, the correlation coefficients obtained were slightly lower than those reported by Medina <u>et al.</u> (1976). These workers reported correlation coefficients of 0.977 and 0.995 between the nitrogen content and the amount of Acid Orange 12 bound by one gram of rapeseed flour and RSM

respectively. The correlation coefficient of 0.995 obtained for RSM in their study was based on measurements made on 12 samples of RSM which varied little in their protein contents since they were drawn from a single lot of RSM. In the present study, the RSM samples used in deriving the correlations between DBC and protein content covered a wide range of protein contents.

The practical application of the regression equation obtained for Acid Orange 12 using the Udy method will be investigated in the next experiment for mass screening the crude protein of commercial RSMs.

4 Summary

Fifteen RSMs were used to study the relationships between the Kjeldahl protein contents of the meals and their dye-binding capacities (DBCs) with the two dyes, Orange G and Acid Orange 12. The DBCs of RSM with Orange G were determined by a spectrophotometric method and the DBCs of the meals with Acid Orange 12 were measured by an Udy colorimeter and by a spectrophotometer. Correlations between DBC and percent Kjeldahl protein and between DBC and total basic amino acids in the meals were found to be highly significant. The results obtained favoured the use of the Udy method and Acid Orange 12 as the dye.

b Experiment 2:

Estimation of the Crude Protein Contents of Commercially Processed Rapeseed Meals by Dye-Binding Capacity with Acid Orange 12

1 Objective

This experiment was a follow-up of the previous experiment and was designed to test the applicability of the linear regression equation established in Experiment 1 for the estimation of the crude protein contents of commercial rapeseed meals (RSMs). The equation (Y = 2.2 + 0.27x) selected related the crude protein percent and the dye-binding capacity (DBC) of RSM as determined by the Udy's method.

2 Materials and Methods

A total of 126 samples of RSM were collected for the study. Most of the samples were obtained from four major processing plants. The varieties of the seeds from which the meals were produced were not known. The RSMs were numbered and reground in a cyclone mill to reduce the particle size to 40 mesh.

The RSMs were analysed for crude protein contents by the macro-Kjeldahl method (A.O.A.C., 1970) and their DBCs were determined by Udy's method (Udy, 1971) with Acid Orange 12. In addition, certain selected samples were further analysed for basic amino acids as described in Experiment 1 and for available lysine according to the procedure of Booth (1971).

3 Results and Discussion

The data obtained on the 126 RSMs, are summarized in Table 6. The crude protein contents of the meals varied from 32.4 to 39.0% and more than 90 of the samples were within the range of 34-37% protein. The DBCs recorded for the samples were also plotted against their crude protein percents and are shown in Fig. 4. A linear relationship between the two variables was seen but some degree of scattering was noted. The correlation coefficient between the two variables was 0.78. Although the value was highly significant (P<0.01), it was unexpectedly lower than the 'r' of 0.98 obtained from the 15 RSMs used in the preparation of the calibration curve in Experiment 1.

The predicted protein values based on their DBCs by the theoretical equation $Y = 2.2 \pm 0.27x$ where Y is the predicted protein percent and x, the DBC, are shown in Table 6. From the differences calculated between the analysed Kjeldahl protein percents '(N x 6.25) and the predicted protein percents, it appears that the predicted values over-estimated the Kjeldahl protein contents of meals when the N x 6.25 was less than 35% and under-estimated the protein contents of the meals when it exceeded 35%. The frequency distribution of the differences in protein percent are shown in Table 7. From the frequency distribution shown, it will be noted that approximately 80% of the predicted values fell within ±1% of the observed values and about 60% of them were within ±0.6%.

		and go et	ipacities		
Sample ¹	Observed crude protein (N x 6.25) a	DBC ² mg/g meal	Predicted crude protein b	Difference b-a	DBCP ³ mg/g protein
2	32.4	117.1	33.8	1.4	
- 3*	32.9	116.8	33.7	0.8	361.4
4	33.2	118.0	34.1	0.9	355.0
5*	. 33.4	120.4	34.7	1.3	344.0
6	34.0	124.2	35.7	1.7	360.5
7	34.1	120.2	34.7	0.6	365.3
	34.3	120.3	34.7		352.5
8	34.3	120.8	34.8	0.4	350.7
9	34.3	122.6		0.5	- 352.2
10	34.4	121.3		1.0	357.4
11	34.5	121.0		0.6	3.52.6
12	, '34.5	120.0		0.4	350.7
13	34.5	118.9		0.1	347.8
14	34.6	121.0	Maria Antonio (-0.2	344.6
15	34.6 -	119.7		- 🙀 0.3	349.7
16	34.6	115.0	~ 9 4 9 5	-0.1	346.0
17	34.6	121.8	33.5	-1.1	335.5
18	34.6		35.1	0.5	352.0
]9*	34.7	120.8	34.7	0.1 .	348.0
20	34.7	125.5	36.1	1.4	361.7
21	34.8	117.3	33.9	-0.8	338.0
22	34.8	123.1	35.4	0.6	353.7
23	34.8	121.7	35.1	0.3	349.7
24*	34.8	124.8	35.8	1.0	357.8
25		°124.2	35.7	0.9	
26	34.8	123.2	35.5	0.7	356.9
27*	34.9	121.5	35.0	0.1	354.0
28	35.0	128.0	36.8	1.8	348.1
29*	35.0	119.8	34.5	-0.5	365.7
4J~	35.1	123.2	35.5	0.4	342.3
				~ • 7	351.0

Differences Between Observed Crude Protein and Predicted Crude Protein Percents of Rapeseed Meals Based on Their Dye-Binding Capacities

\$ X

٢,

\$

6					······
Sample ¹	Observed crude protein (N x 6.25) a	DBC ² mg/g meal	Predicted crude protein b	Difference b-a	DBCP ³ mg/g protein
30	35.1	121.7	35.1	0 .	346.7
31	35.1	125.8	36.2	1.1	358.4
32	35.1	124.1	35.7	0.6	353.6
33	35.2	121.6	35.0	-0.2	345.5
34	35.2	121.7	35.1	-0.1	344.7
35	35.3	120.2	34.7	-0.6	340.5
36	35.3	124.5	35.8	0.5	352.7
37	35.4	. 123.5	35.5	0.1	348.9
38*	35.4	118.0	34.1	* -1.3	333.3
39	35.4	123.0	35.4	0	347.5
40*	35.4	117.7	34.0	-1.4	332.5
41*	35.4	119.3	34.4	-1-0	337.0
42	35.4	128.0	36.8	1.4	361.6
43	35.4 💡	123.7	35.6	0.2	349.4
44 -	35.4	122.1	35.2	-0.2	344.9
45 ,	35.4	122.4	35.2	-0.2	345.8
46	35.5	123.3	35.5	0	347.3
47	35.5	128.0	37.0	1.5	363.4
48*	35.5	117.1	33.8	-1.7	329.9
49	35.6	120.5	34.7	-0.9	338.5
50	35.6	125.2	36.0	0.4	
51	35.6	122.2	35.2	-0.4	351.7 343.3
52	35.6	123.2	35.5	-0.1	346.1
53	35.6	124.0	35.7	0.1	
54	35.7	121.6	35.0	-0.7	348.3 340.6
55	35.7	123.3	35.5	-0.2	340.6
56*	35.7	115.6	33.4	-2.3	
57	35.7	127.6	36.7	1.0	323.8
58	35.8	126.0	36.2	0.4	357.4
59	35.8	124.5	35.8	0	352.0 347.8
50	35.8	125,0	35.9	0.1	
51	35.8	121.5	35.0	-0.8	349.2
52	35.8	120.5	34.7	-0.8	339.4
53*	35.8	122.4	35.2	-0.6	336.6 341.9

Table 6 (Continued)

51

•

Sample ¹	Observed crude protein (N x 6.25) a	DBC ² mg/g neal	Predicted crude protein b	Difference b-a	DBCP ³ mg/g protein
64	35.8	126.5	36.4	0.6	353.4
65	35.8	124.	35.7	-0.1	346.4
66	35.8	123.6	35.6	-0.2	345.3
67	35.9	126.8	់ ចឺ . 4	0.5	353.2
68	35.9	123,8	35.6	-0.3	344.8
6 9	35 0	126.8	36.4	0.5	353.2
70	35.9	124.4	34.8	-0.1	346.5
71	35.9	121.0	34.9	-1.0	337.0
72	36.0	121.5	35.0	-1.0	
73	35.0	120.6	34.8	-1.2	337.5
74	36.1	123.1	35.4	-0.7	335.0
75	36.1	125.7	36.1	0	341.0 348.2
76	36.1	127.3	36.6	0.5	348.2
77	36.1	125.0	35.9	-0.2	346.3
78	36.2	127.2	36.5	0.3	
79	36.3	125.3	36.0	-0.3	351.4
80	36.3	123.2	35.5	-0.8	345.3
81	36.3	127.3	36.6	0.3	339.4 350.7
82	36.3	128.1	36.8	0.5	
83	36.3	127.3	36.6	0.3	352.9
84	36.4	123.8	35.6	-0.8	350.7 340.1
85	36.4	124.9	35.9	-0.5	343.1
86	36.5	124.6	35.8	-0.7	341.4
87	36.5	130.0	37.3	0.8	356,2
88	36.5	127.0	36.5	0	347.9
89	36.5	129.0	37.0	0.5	353.4
90	36.5	128.1	36.8	0.3	351.0
91	36.6	128.1	36.8	0.2	350.0
92	36.6	126.0	36.2	-0.4	344.3
93_	36.7	130.6	37.5	0.8	344.9
94	36.7	128.4	36.9	0.2	349.9
95*	36.8	124.0	35.7	-1.1	337.0
96	36.8	121.8	35.1	-1.7	331.0
97	36.8	124.4	35.8	-1.0	338.0

Table 6 (Continued)

52

)

k Sample ¹	Observed crude protein (N x 6.25) a	DBC ² mg/g meal	Predicted crude protein b	Difference b-a	DBCP ³ mg/g
98*	3F.9	130.8	37.5		protein
99	36.9	128.0	36.8	0.6 -0.1	354.5
100	37.0	128.4	36.9		4346.9
101	37. ປ	129.1	37.1	-0.1	347.0
102	37.0	125.2	36.0	0.1	348.9
103*	37.0	130.0	37.3	-1.0	338.4
104	37.0	125.4		0.3	351.4
105	37.0	129.0	36.1	-0.9	338 .9
106	37.1	125.0	37.0	0	348.6
107	37.1	128.0	36.2	-0.9	339.6
108	37.3		37.2	0.1	349.2
109	37.3	124.3 129.7	35.8	-1.5	333.2
110.	37.3		37.2	0.1	348.0
111	37.4	125.0	35.9	1-1.4	335.1
112*	37.4	128.7	36.9	-0.5	344.1.
113*	37.6	128.4	36.9	-0.5	343.3
114	37.8	124.1	35.7	-1.9	330.1
115		128.6	36.9	-0.8	341.1
116	37.7	132.8	38.1	0.4	352.3
117*	37.7	130.4	37.4	-0.3	345.9
118	37.9	130.6	37.5	-0.4	344.6
	37.9	127.2	36.5	-1.4	335.6
119	37.9	134.1	38.4	0.5	353.8
120*	38.0	127.2	36.5	-1.5	334.7
121	38.1	129.3	37.1	-1.0	339.4
122	38.1	130.8	37.5	-0.6	343.3
L23	38.2	134.5	38.5	0.3	352.1
.24 ,.	38.4	134.5	38.5	0.1	350.3
25*	38.6	135.5	38.8	0.2	351.0
26	39.0	136.1	38.9	-0.1	349.0

Table 6 (Continued)

¹Samples with asterisk were selected for further basic amino acids and available . .lysifie analyses.

35.85

1

349.0

347.00

124.64

² Dye-binding capacity of rapeseed meal.

35.93

Mean

d,

³Dye-binding ŝ capacity of protein of rapeseed meal. 53 _:



Table 7

* *

.....

Frequency Distribution of the Differences Between Predicted Protein Percents by the Dye-Binding Capacity Equation and Observed Crude Protein Percents

a	nđ ob	serve	ed val	ues (%)	cted		F	eque	ency
	-2.6	to	-2.2	,				1	·
	-2.2	to	-1.8					1	
	-1.8	to	-1.4					7	
	-1.4	to	-1.0					11	
	-1.0	to	-0.6		•			14	
and a second and a s	- 6	to	-0.2	, ,	а. (). А. ().	•		18	
	-0.2	to	/0.2	.				30	
No. 1	0.2	to	0.6			2		27	
	0.6	to	1.0					9	
,	1.0	to.	1.4	پلا	'			5	
•	1.4	to	1.8		·		y and	3	
			le .	ate C	-		2 • 2 • 2		
The reasons(s) for the differences between the predicted protein percents and the analysed values are not known but might be due to the presence of RSMs amongst the samples that had total basic amino acid contents higher or lower than what might be considered as normal. To examine this possibility, the amount of Acid Orange 12 which bound with one gram of RSM protein was calculated for the samples screened. This was done by dividing the DBC of each meal by its corresponding protein percent and the value was designated as the dye-binding capacity of the protein (DBCP) to distinguish it from the DBC of RSM. The data are shown in Table . It was found that the DBCP of the RSM samples ranged from 23.8 to 365.7 mg Acid Orange 12 per g protein and average mg per g protein. The frequency distribution of the DBCP values are shown in Table 8.

It would appear from Table 8 that RSM protein usually binds with Acid Orange 12 in the range of 335-355 mg per g protein. However, samples which bound less than 335 or more than 355 mg of Acid Orange 12 per g protein were noted and amounted to approximately 20% c the samples. Since Acid Orange 12 binds only with basic groups of protein, the observation of RSMs with atypical DBCP values suggested that some of the RSM samples contained total basic amino acids in amounts that deviated from usual amounts present in RSM protein. Of the basic amino acids, lysine known to be most susceptible to destruction by heat treatment. It seemed possible, therefore, that some of the variation noted in the DBCP of the samples

Frequency Distribution of the Dye-Binding Capacity of the Protein of Rapeseed Meal
--

	ing Ac	1d 0.	range	12/g protein	Frequency
	370	to	365		2
•	. 365	to	360		5
	360	to	355		8
	355	to	350		. 31
	350	ţo	345		35
	345	to	340		19
~~ > . \?	340	to	335		17
	335	to	330	на н	7
	330	to	325	¥ .	1,
	325	tọ	320		1
÷					

Table 8

7

٠

57

,

of RSM may have reduced the lysine content in the protein of the meals as a result of excessive heat treatment during commercial processing of the rapeseed. As a consequence, it was decided to further examine the relationship between DBCP and the basic amino acid composition of the RSM samples. Twenty-one RSMs covering a wide range of DBCP were selected from the 126 samples for the study. The basic amino acid contents of the meals are presented in Table 9. Correlation coefficients relating the various parameters recorded or calculated are shown in Table 10.

From the correlation coefficients tabulated, the total basic amino acid contents (TBAA) were found to correlate significantly with the DBCP of the RSMs (r = 0.86, Table 10). Of the three basic amino acids analysed, the TBAA was closely related to the lysine and arginine levels but was fittle affected by the histidine level of the protein. Correlation between DBCP and lysine level of the protein was also highly significant (r = 0.84, Table 10). The lysine level of the selected RSMs decreased from 6.28 to 4.78 g/l6g N whereas the DBCP dropped from 365.7 to 323.8 mg Acid Orange 12 per g protein (Table 9).

The results obtained from the basic amino acids analysis support the earlier assumption that the amount of dye bound oto one gram of RSM protein was largely determined by the number of basic groups present in the protein available for binding. Consequently the difference between the observed and predicted protein percent varied among the RSM samples

58

He)

ŵ,

Table 9

ļ

,

Table 9	rotein, Basic Amino Acids, Dye-Binding Capacities and Availatio	Meals Meals Meals Meals	Observed	crude DBC
	und Frotein, Ba	J	10	G .

•	.	AVAILADIE LYSINE	mg/g mg/g meal protoi		5.3 50	6.6 Ap	17.5 50 FO		4 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	5. 53	L.4 57	6.1 4R	.1 48	9.8			а.у 50.	7.2 45.	5 49.	6.6 46.	7 50	6.6 x.2		4.1 39.	р.ч. 43. - 43.	7.0 45.	з . 9 Э.9	5 [.] 37.	
		DBCP	meal		61.	65.	361.7	ഗ	92	15	7 L	n i	1	H	Ч	Þ	" "	۰ ۲	-i 1	- 1		4	т		:		0 777 C		
	N)	TBAAL		1	•	•	- 74 - 93					-		ач .		Ю	- m) ()		- r		ur)	\sim	- On	. m	ער	`	
	acids (g/16 g	Histidine	24 				2.77		-	-		_			• •	2	w	Ψì		-	·c	\mathbf{r}	ית	ഫ	S O	۱n	10		
	asic amino a	Arginine					6.16						_	•	_		<u> </u>	41.	G .	~	QU.		~~~	ιu	<u> </u>	Η.	_		
	â	Lysine		6.22								•		•	•••	~	· · ·	10		~ 0	Ľ,		~	ഹ	\sim		-		
	DBC	mg/g meal	i I r	•	1011	•	• •	÷.	_	_	23.	י ט ני רי ר		•	30.	28.	22.		0	•	- m			24.	17.	115.6	• • •		
Observed	crude	Protein (N x 6.25)		· .	· •	35.0	4		2 0	• •	35.1	38.6		-		÷.,	\sim			•			•	•	0.	٠		Carl	
		Sample	1	7	ო	4	ъ		7	· o	0 0	ע	10,	11	12	5		7" L ⊣ r		- - -	17	18	19	20	210				TOtal has

59

¹Total basic amino^{® a}ctifi

,

 $\sum_{i=1}^{n}$

.

Table 10

بر

)

.

Correlation Coefficients Between Values Reported in Table 9

• •

		ï					ת		
	Observed			Basic am	amino acida				
-	cruae Protein				actus	,		Available	the lysine
Observed a	(N x 6.25)	meal	Allsyne	Arginine	Histidine	TBAA	mg/g Drotein	b∕bш	b/bu
Diotein /N × 6 251		•					11722074	теат	protein
	1.00	0.67	-0.12	-0.01	-0.12				,
DBC mg/g meal	0.67	1.00	5 U		1		-0.43	0.35	т. 0- Л
Lysine	<pre>c< 0-</pre>		•	19.0	0.27	0.60	0.38	0.83	0.63
Arainine	1 - -	/ c • ň	1.00	0.89	0.27	0.97	0.84	C _ 0	
	-0.01	0.61	0.89	1.00	750		1		0.82
Histidine	-0.12	76 0			••••	0.95	0.76	0.70	0.75
TBAA			0.30	0.36	1.00	0.47	0.46	° ۲۲ ' 0	
	-0.10	0.60	0.97	0.95				•	0.00
DBCP mg/g protein	-0.43				0.40	1.00	0.86	0.74	0.83
		•	0.04	0. 76	0.46	0.86	1.00	0.58	0 <u>7</u> 0
Available lvsine				• • •					
		*							
mg/g meal	0.35	0.83	0.72	c c					
mq/q protein		, , ,	1	0 0	0.33	0.74	0.58	1.00	
	-0.03	0.63	0.82	0.75	0_38			•	26.0
					0 1 • ·	U. 83	0.79	0.92	1.00
-									
	•			-		.			
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·								``
	• •	•							<u> </u>

60

•)

3

л**і**, ч

studied, depending on the amount of dyes bound to a unit weight of protein. Above the average of 347 mg/g protein, the predicted value over-estimated the protein content of the meal and vice versa. The high correlations between the DBCP and the total basic amino acids particularly lysine further suggests that DBCP of a sample is a good measure of the protein quality of the meal.

To verify the protein quality predicted by DBCP, the same RSM samples were assayed for available lysine contents. The available lysine contents of the RSMs, expressed as mg per g meal and mg per g protein, are shown in Table 9. The values have been adjusted for loss of dinitrophenyl-lysine (DNP-lysine) during the acid hydrol is in the determination. The correlation coefficient between DBC and mg available lysine per g meal of the samples was 0.83 and that between DBCP and mg per g protein was 0.79. In both cases, the correlation coefficients were highly significant (P<0.01). The results thus showed agreement in protein quality estimation of the RSM samples by the DBCP and the available lysine methods.

Although numerous regression equations relating a single dye-binding characteristic and Kjeldahl protein percent have been reported for various protein-rich food and feedstuffs, as reviewed previously, few have been critically tested for practical applicability. However, results from numerous comparative studies of the Udy Protein Analyzer and Kjeldahl method reported in the literature were in favour of the use

of the dye-binding method for routine analysis (Olson and Heiges, 1962; Hymowitz <u>et al</u>. 1969; Parial <u>et al</u>. 1970). The use of the DBC determination for estimating the crude protein of RSM appears to over-estimate samples with protein contents below 35% but under-estimated, in most instances, when the protein contents of the samples were above 35%.

The high correlation between DBC and available lysine content of the RSMs was comparable to that reported for fishmeals by Carpenter and Opstvedt (1976). These workers found a high correlation between the DBC and available lysine of eight fishmeals and the protein qualities of these samples were confirmed in chick bioassay. In the present study, the size of the RSM samples received was inadequate to permit their use in biological assays and as a result, the predicted nutritional values of the selected RSMs could not be verified biologically.

4 Summary

The linear equation relating the DBC and Kjeldahl protein of RSM obtained in Experiment 1 was applied to 126 samples of RSM for estimating the protein contents of the meals. Results obtained indicated that the predicted protein percent by the dye-binding technique over-estimated the protein contents of meals in the lower protein range but under-estimated those in the higher protein range. A further study of selected meals revealed, however, that the deviation was caused mainly by the presence of samples having atypical basic amino acid compositions. The dye-

binding capacity of RSM protein was found to correlate highly with the lysine and available lysine contents of the meals, indicating the potential of the use of dye-binding capacity per g protein as a protein mality index for RSM.

c Experiment 3:

The Effect of Moist Heat on the Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Acid Orange 12

1 Objective

In Experiment 2, it was found that the predicted protein content obtained by using the dye-binding equation underestimated the crude protein percent for some RSM samples. It was felt that this was due to a lower than average level of total basic amino acids in these samples. This was reflected in a reduction in the amount of Acid Orange 12 bound to a unit weight of RSM protein (DBCP). Since excess heat treatment seemed to be the most likely cause of the reduction in basic amino acids in these meals it was decided to study in this experiment the effect of heating meal in an autoclave for various periods of time on the DBC of the resulting meals. The adverse effect on the nutritional quality of the meals was also assessed by chemical determination of the available lysine in the meals.

2 Materials and Methods

Eight commercial RSMs comprised of two Bronowski, two Span and four Tower meals were used in this study. Each meal was divided into seven portions of approximately 1 lb each. Portions of each meal were autoclaved at 121°C for 0, 15, 30, 45, 60, 90 and 120 minutes. Untreated and autoclaved meals were analysed for crude protein and for their DBC with Acid Orange 12 as described previously. RSM samples autoclaved for 0, 30, 60, 90 and 120 minutes were further analysed for available lysine by Booth's (1971) procedure

3 Results and Discussion

The crude protein contents (1 5.25) of the samples as determined by the Kjeldahl procedure are presented in Table 11. A small decrease in percentage of protein was noted in a few of the samples autoclaved for 120 minutes.

The uptakes of Acid Orange 12 by the RSMs are tabulated in Table 12 and shown graphically in Fig. 5, plotted against the duration of autoclaving at 121°C. Autoclaving at 121°C for as long as 30 minutes did not affect the ability of the meals to bind Acid Orange 12. Decrease in DBC, however, became apparent when the duration on heat treatment reached 45 minutes and the DBC continued to decline as the treatment was prolonged. The data were analysed by one-way analysis of variance and significant differences among treatment means were compared using Duncan's Multiple Range test (Steel and Torrie, 1960). It was found that the mean DBC of the RSMS autoclaved at 121°C for 90 minutes was significantly lower than those of meals treated for 45 minutes or less (P<0 $^{\circ}$ 5). Increasing the duration of treatment beyond 90 minutes did not further reduce the DBC of the meals significantly. То determine whether the rates of decrease with time in DBC differed among the eight RSMs studied, statistical analysis of homogeneity of regression coefficients of DBC with time was computed. The results indicated that the Span RSM (S2) showed the largest decline in DBC after 120 minutes of heat

Table]]

. _ `_ ŝ,

Crude Protein Percent of Rapesced Meals Autoclaved at 121°C for Various Periods of Time • • • 1

						Autoclav	ing time,	Autoclaving time, minutes		
· .	Sample	0		P	15	30	45	. 60	06	120
	Bronow	Bronowski (Bl)	о В1).	39.5	40.0.	39.5	39.6	40.0	40.9	38.8
	Bronowski	vski ((B2)	37.5	36.6	37.7	37.0	37.1	37.4	36.3
	Span (S1)	(IS)		35.6	36.0	36.0	36.1	36.1	36.3	36.2
	Span (B2)	(B2)		35.0	35.1	35.1	34.8	34.8	35.4	34.0
	Tower (T1)	(TJ)	۰.	36.4	36.6	35.4	36.5	36.2	36.7	35,5
	Tower (T2)	(T2)		36.0	35.7	36.3	35.5	35.4	36.3	2 32 33 32
	Tower	(T3)		34.6	35.3	35.5	34.5	34.8	35.4	9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0 9 0
	Tower (T4)	(T4)		30.1	29.0	29.8	29.8	29.4	30.6	30.0

66

۰. ...

÷.,

			•	с. С.	67	
N D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D	120	129.0 112.6 102.8 97.3 102.6 103.7 101.9 101.9				
for Various	06	127.8 117.0 108.1 106.1 109.1 106.9 100.4 88.7	108.0 ^{bc}	(E	Ċ.	
at 121°C fc	minutes 60	135.3 124.0 115.5 115.9 115.2 112.9 115.3 96.1		M. tly different		
.2 Autoclaved	ving time, 45	137.4 126.8 118.6 120.3 121.2 121.2 117.5 117.5 117.5	120.0 ^a	gram of RSM. significantly		·
Table 1 Meåls Of Tim	Aut o claving 30	139.6 131.5 121.6 122.7 122.6 121.2 119.9 119.9	122.6 ^a	bound per g were not s	1000 - 1000 1000 - 1000 1000 - 1000 1000 - 1000 1000 - 1000	231 735 930
Rapeseed	1.5.	139.5 132.8 124.0 123.8 123.8 123.4 123.8 123.8	124.7 ^a	l Orange 12 bc superscript w		款)
acity ^l of	0	140.1 131.5 125.5 124.5 124.5 121.6 124.2 124.2 103.7	124.4 ^a	f Ació same	2000 - 200 19	
Dye-Binding Capacity	Sample	Bronowski (Bl) Bronowski (B2) Span (Sl) Span (S2) Tower (Tl) Tower (T2) Tower (T3) Tower (T4)	Mean ²	l _{Expressed as mg 2Means with the}		





...

P

treatment whereas the Bronowski RSM (B1), was least affected by the heat treatment.

The protein quality status of the RSMs was also studied. The DBCP calculated for the treated RSMs Table (13) paralleled that of the DBC of the meals. The mean DBCP decreased from , <u>@</u>~ 350 mg dye/g protein for the untreated RSMs to 295 mg dye/ g protein for meals autoclaved for 120 minutes. As was the case for DB screases in DBCP were noted in some RSMs treated for only 30 minutes. Statistical analysis of the DBCP data showed that the mean DBCP of RSMs autoclaved for 45 minutes was significantly lower than those of meals treated for 15 minutes or receiving treatment but higher than those autoclassed for 60, 90 and 120 minutes (P<0.05). These results clearly indicate that prolonged heat treatment of RSM reduces both the DBC and the DBCP of meals without materially reducing the crude protein (N x 6.25) contents of the meals. Hence the DBC or DBCP of such RSMS would not yield a reliable estimate of the protein contents of the RSMs.

In the study on the effect of autoclaving the RSMs for 0, 60, 90 and 120 minutes at 121°C, it was found (Tables 14 and 15) that = available lysine contents of the RSMs were significantly reduced when treated for 60 minutes and continued to decline at 90 and 120 minutes.

Correlation coefficient between DBC and available lysine (Tables 12 and 14) of the RSMs was 0.84 and that between DBCP and mg available lysine/g protein (Tables 13 and 15) was 0.94.

Table 13 • Dye-Binding Capacity

ŝ

È

\$ ् हि

of the Protein of Rapeseed Meals Autoclaved at 121°C for Various Periods of Time

2/3

đ

		120	332.5 309.8 283.6 286.2 286.2 288.7 292.1 284.5 284.5 285.9	295.4 ^d	05) .	
		06	312.6 312.8 312.8 297.4 299.9 294.5 294.5 283.9 283.9	298.5 ^d	ent (P<0.05	
	time, minutes	60	338.2 334.0 320.1 333.3 333.3 338.4 318.4 319.0 319.0 331.7 327.0	327.7 ^C	protein. ntly different	an An An
	ing time,	45	346.8 342.6 328.2 345.2 331.9 331.6 331.6 341.0 337.7	338.1 ^b	9 of RSM prot significantly	
	Autoclaving	30	353.5 348.5 337.8 337.8 331.5 334.1 334.1 334.1 348.1	4 2 .6 ^{ab}	per tot	•
		15	349.1 362.6 344.3 344.3 346.8 345.7 345.7 350.1	0.00		
•		0	354.7 354.7 356.7 356.7 337.8 358.9 344.5 344.5	.349.6 ⁴ 3. Acid (trance	ame <i>(</i> supers	Ċ
		<u>a</u>	ki (Bl) ki (Bl) Sl) S2) T1) T1) T2) T3) T4)	as mg	the	a
	Samla	at duing	Bronows Bronows Span (Span (Span (Tower (T	Express	² Means w	
9	Samolo		<pre>nowski (B1) nowski (B2) n (S1) (S1) r (T1) r (T2) r (T2) r (T3) r (T4) 2</pre>	cessed as mg Ac	sam	

ł

. 9

نلول)

Tabl	e 14

5

يلمي ا

....

5

 \mathcal{G}

Available trains a 11/2	
Available Lysine Content ^{1,2} of Rapeseed Meals	Autoglause
at 10100 course the represeduce means	Autociaved
at 121°C for Various Periods of Time	

71 .

୍

್ಷಟ್

5.3.

6

		Autoclay	ving time	, minute:	5
Sample	0	30	60	90	120
Bronowski (Bl)	. ~ 22.6	20.2	17.4	14.0	12.7
Bronowski (B2)	20.2	6.9	14.8	11	11.3
Span (Sl)	18.2	14.2	12.0	7.	6.0
Span (S2)	18	17.3	12.5	8.3	>
Tower (Tl)	17	16.2	12.7	10.8	ى 8 . 6
Tower (T2)	16.8	16.4	15.4	11.7	8.9
Tower (T3)	19.4	17.0	12.5	7.3	6.5
Tower (T4)	15.7	13.2	10.6	9.3	7.4
Mean ³ ,	18.6 ^a	16.4 ^a	13.5 ^b	• 10.1 ^C	8.3 ^C

Expressed as mg available lysine per g of RSM.

The correlation coefficient between the tabulated values and the corresponding dye-binding capacities of the meals was 584. بر همر . بر همر :

³Means with the same superscript were not signficantly different (P<0.05).

7	2
1	1.

Tab	ole	15
-----	-----	----

Available Lysine Contents^{1,2} of the Protein of Rapeseed Meals Autoclaved at 121°C for Various Periods of Time

· · ·		Autocla	ved time	, minute:	S
Sample	0	30	60	90	120
Bronowski (Bl)	57.1	51.1	43.4	34.2	32.8
Bronowski (B2)	53.9	44.9	39.7	31.7	31.0
Span (Sl)	51.2	39.3	33.3	21.0	16.0
Span (S2)	51:8	49.3	36.0	\$ 23.6	15.9
Tower (Tl)	48.3	44.4	35.1	29.5	24.1
Tower (T2)	46.7	45.3	43.5	32.1	25.0
lower (T3)	56.0	48.0	35.9	32.1	25.0
Cower (T4)	52.0	44.3	36.1	30.4	24.5

PS-

¹Expressed as mg available lysine per g of RSM protein. ²The correlation coefficient between the tabulated values and the corresponding dye-binding capacities of protein of the meals was 0.94.

Both coefficients were highly significant (P<0.01).

Although the highly positive correlation between DBC and available lysine seemed to suggest that the ability of the RSM to bind Acid Orange 12 was a reliable means of detecting the decrease in protein quality of the RSMs with increasing time of autoclaving, the degree of protein damage measured by the dye-binding method and by the available lysine determination for the same meal seemed to differ. In comparing the decreases in DBC and available lysine of the autoclaved RSMs, the DBC and mg available lysine/g meal were expressed as percentages of those of the corresponding unheated meals and the results are presented in Table 16. From the tabulated percentages, it will be seen that the available lysine levels in the RSMs declined more rapidly than the DBCs for the same meals. The available lysine contents of the meals were decreased appreciably by autoclaving the meals for as short a time as 30 minutes while the DBCs of the meals were only slightly affected. The differences became more marked as the duration of heat treatment increased. The mean reduction from 120 minutes of autoclaving was 16% in DBC as compared to 55% in available lysine content. This difference might be caused by the continued binding between Acid Orange 12 and the damaged basic amino groups through some unknown secondary mechanisms other than electrovalent attraction. Several reports in the literature have demonstrated the

adverse effect of heat treatment either by autoclaving or by oven-heating on the dye-binding ability of various feedstuffs

. 2

73

×-	f Rapeseed Meals		120	92.0 (56.4) 85.6 (55.9) 81.9 (31.7) 78.2 (29.7) 82.4 (48.7) 82.4 (48.7) 82.2 (52.8) 82.1 (33.7) 82.1 (33.7) 82.7 (46.9) 83.7 (44.5) 1tage of the	
	of Dye-Bir Exp	Autočiaving time, minutes		(B2) 100 1 100 1 100 9 100 9 100 9 100 9 100 9 100 9 10 10	
	Comparison	samp1e .	Bronowski	Bronowski Span (S1) Span (S2) Tower (T1) Tower (T2) Tower (T3) Tower (T4) Tower (T4) Mean	۰. بر

-

•

.

٠

· •

ł, -140) •140) · · ·

74

5 23

ала 19**39** 10

4

ъ.,

-12 -

1

٠

•

(Choppe and Kratzer, 1963; Moran et al., 1963; Udy, 1971). The adverse effect of autoclaving on the DBC of RSMs recorded in The present study agreed well with the findings of the bovo workers. As an example, Udy (1971) reported decrease DECP of soybean meal protein from 378 to 367 mg Acid Orange g protein after 1 hour of oven heating at 130°C. This is dequivalent to a reduction of 3%. For RSMs autoclaved for 1 nour at 121°C, the mean DBCP decreated from 349.6 to 327.7 mg Acid Orange 12/g protein, a reduction of 6.3%. The close correlation between the amount of Acid Orange 12 bound by the protein of commercial RSM and the available lysine of the protein of the same RSMs also compared favourably with findings for other feedstuffs (Hurrell and Carpenter, 1975; Carpenter and Opstvedt, 1976). The differences in rates of decrease in DBC and available lysine as a result of autoclaving of RSM agree with the findings reported by Hurrell and Carpenter (1975). They found that groundnut meals heated in an autoclave at 121°C for 1 and 4 hours bound 1030 and 920 mmole Acid Orange 12/kg crud to 1060 mmole for the unheated meal. The decreases were $\frac{4}{2}$ equivalent to 3 and 13% of the control value. For available lysine the corresponding decreases were 8 and 50% respectively. The basic amino acids of the RSMs were not determined in the present study and the reduction of number of basic groups available for binding with Acid Orange 12 as a result of autoclave heating was not known.

4 Summary

The dye-binding capacities (DBC) and protein quality of RSMs which were heated in an autoclave at 121°C for various periods of time were studied. The results indicated that . heating RSMs adversely affected their ability to bind Acid Orange 12. In this regard, a decrease in the DBC of the meals was noted with as short an autoclaving period as 30 minutes and the DBC of the meals decreased as the autoclaving time increased.

The protein quality of the RSMs, as estimated by the DBC of the protein of the meals also decreased with indreasing time of autoclaving. In this connection the DBCP of the RSMs was significantly decreased after 45 minutes of heating in the autoclave and continued to decline as the duration of heat treatment was prolonged.

The protein quality of the RSMs, as measured by available lysine contents of the meals, decreased with increasing length of time that the RSMs were heat treated. The percentage decrease in available lysine as a result of the heat treatments was greater than the percentage decrease in DBCP. 5 This would suggest that where protein quality predictions are made on heat-damaged feedstuffs, measurement of available lysine would give a more reliable measure of protein quality than measurement of the DBCP.

76

÷

d Experiment 4:

Evaluation of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Biological Assay with Chicks

77

1 Objectives

The purpose of this study was to examine the DBCPs of both commercially produced RSMs and meals which were deliberately heat-damager in the laboratory and to determine whether a relation of existed between the protein quality index as predicted by the dye-binding method and by biological assay using chicks as the experimental animals.

Materials and Methods

i Protein quality evaluation of rapeseed meals by the dye-binding method

Eighty commercial RSMs obtained from four processing plants (20 from each) were screened for their DBCs with Acid Orange 12. The meals were collected over a 10 day period with one sample obtained in the morning and one in the evening of each day. One sample from each processor is each day as provided in quantity adequate for biological star purpose. The latter were samples of evening collections from three plants and morning collections from the remaining plant.

In addition small quantities of Tower RSM were deliberately heat-damaged by autoclaving at 121°C for 1/2, 1, 2 and 4 hours. The autoclaved meals, as well as the original sample of Tower RSM, were tested for DBC with Acid Orange 12.

The crude protein contents of all RSM samples were curred by the Kjeldahl procedure (A.O.A.C., 1970).

ii Biological evaluation of the protein quality of rapeseed meals by the total protein efficiency method Two chick growth trials were conducted to study the relationship between the protein quality of the RSMs as predicted by dye-binding and by chick growth. The chick growth trial employed for evaluating the protein quality was the total protein efficiency (TPE) method developed by Woodham (1967).

In growth Trical 1, the selection of the commercial RSMs for the biological a say was restricted by several factors and as a consequence was difficult to make. Firstly although 80 RSMs were screened in the DBC study only 40 of them were available in sufficient quantity for biological evaluation. Secondly, the differences found in the DBCPs of RSMs collect at one plant in the 10 day collection period were relatively For the ten samples received from this processor small. (Plant 1, Table 21) the difference was only approximately 10 mg dye pergg protein. The differences for the remaining three processors were about 20 mg dye per g protein. The commercial RSMs eventually selected for the chick growth trial were the eight samples representing the pair of meals with the highest and lowest DBCP values from each processing plant. In theformulation of the experimental rations, the RSMs which showed the highest DBCP from Plants 2 and 3 were, however; found inadequate to provide the 12% protein required in the

3

test ration. In these cases, the meals having the second highest DBCP values were used.

In growth Trial 2, the five Tower RSMs were used in the bioassay.

The experimental rations used in the two trials were formulated to contain 18% crude protein of which 12% was provided by the test supplement (RSM) and the remaining 6% by the cereal grains, corn, wheat and wheat shorts (Tables 17 and 18). The rations were isonitrogenous and approximately isocaloric.

In Trial 1, 240 two week old chicks were selected from a flock of Hubbard broiler-type male chicks (Dominant White male, White Plymouth Rock female) which had been fed a balanced starter ration. The selected chicks were allotted into groups of 10 birds each such that the total body weight of birds in each group was approximately the same. Three groups of chicks were fed each of the eight rations shown in Table 17.

In Trial 2, 150 Shaver broiler-type male chicks were selected as described above and three groups of chicks were fed each of the five rations shown in Table 18.

At the end of the 14 day experimental periods, the feed intakes and body weights of the groups were recorded. The total protein efficiency (TPE) of the test feedstuffs was calculated as the weight gain of the chicks divided by the total weight of the protein eaten by the chicks.



Table 17

ķ

Composition of Rations Used in Growth Trial 1

Ja K

۰.

٠,

Indredient	
10 63.00 63	
Calculated Analysis:	
/kg25	
P. % 18.01 10.05 1.05	
<pre>und corn, 45; ground wheat, 9; wheat shorts, 4.37; stabilized fat, n phosphate, 1.25; iodized salt, 0.35; manganous oxide, 0.02; zinc 0.5 kg. Vitamin premix supple per kg ration: vitamin b cono min F. 10 ru</pre>	
5.2 mg; folic acid, 0.55 mg; calcium pantothenate, 15.4 mg;	

5 and 6 from Plant 3 and 7 and 8 . 3 and 4 from plant 2, ²RSM in rations 1 and 2 were from Plant 1, from Plant 4.

ن,

80

e.

3	6	3	86	

	•	• • • • • •		•	
•	National Library of Canada	Bibliothèque nationale du Canada ⊱	CANADIAN THESES ON MICROFICHE	THÈSES CANADIENI SUR MICROFICHE	VES
	•			•	4
	· · ·		و ک		• • • • •
	F AUTHOR NOM DE L	YEO (.)	KWAN & GUI		τ.
•	THESIS TITRE DE LA	AUTEUR	Cas THE ARCHER	My ASSIDIATES	[5:11]
			THIZP TICK TOF	RAPENCES MEN	······
• •		- PRILINY			
	SITY/UNIVER9ITÉ	ALBENTA		**** ********************************	·
DEGREE F	FOR WHICH THESIS W	AS PRESENTED / E THESE FUT PRÉSENTÉE	Ph. D		
		U DIRECTEUR DE THÈSE	PROF NR	CLANDININ	
5 6	•		•		e à la RIRI IOTI
Permissi	ion is hereby gran	ted to the NATIONAL LIBR	ARY OF L'autorisation es	t, par la présente accordée	
Permissi	ion is hereby gran A to microfilm this	ted to the NATIONAL LIBR	ARY OF L'autorisation es		ner cette th ès e
Permissi CANAQA of the fil	ion is hereby gran A to microfilm this Im.	ted to the NATIONAL LIBR	ARY OF L'autorisation es copies QUE NATIONALE de prêter ou de ve	t, par la présente accordée • DU CANADA de microfilm	ner cette thèse Im.
Permissi CANAQA of the fil The auth	ion is hereby gran A to microfilm this Im.	ted to the NATIONAL LIBR thesis and to lend or sell	ARY OF L'autorisation es copies QUE NATIONALE de prêter ou de ve her the L'auteur se rése	t, par la présente accordée • DU CANADA de microfilm endrè des exemplaires du fin	ner cette thèse Im. publication; ni
Permissi CANAQA of the fil The auth thesis n	ion is hereby gran A to microfilm this Im nor reserves other p nor extensive extrac	ted to the NATIONAL LIBR thesis and to lend or sell publication rights, and neit	ARY OF L'autorisation es copies QUE NATIONALE de prêter ou de vo cher the L'auteur se rése r other- thèse ni de longs	t, par la présente accordée • DU CANADA de microfilm endre des exemplaires du fin erve les autres droits de p	ner cette thèse lm. publication; ni ent être imprin
Permissi CANAQA of the fil The auth thesis n wise rep	ion is hereby gran A to microfilm this Im. hor reserves other p hor extensive extrac	ted to the NATIONAL LIBR thesis and to lend or sell publication rights, and neit its from it may be printed or author's written permission	ARY OF <i>L'autorisation es</i> copies <i>QUE NATIONALE</i> <i>de prêter ou de ve</i> ther the <i>L'auteur se rése</i> r other- <i>thèse ni de longs</i> m. <i>ou autrement repr</i>	t, par la présente accordée • DU CANADA de microfilm endrè des exemplaires du fin erve les autres droits de p extraits de celle-ci ne doive	ner cette thèse Im. publication; ni ent être imprin
Permissi CANAQA of the fil The auth thesis n wise rep	ion is hereby gran A to microfilm this Im. hor reserves other p hor extensive extrac	ted to the NATIONAL LIBR thesis and to lend or sell publication rights, and neit ts from it may be printed or	ARY OF <i>L'autorisation es</i> copies <i>QUE NATIONALE</i> <i>de prêter ou de ve</i> ther the <i>L'auteur se rése</i> r other- <i>thèse ni de longs</i> m. <i>ou autrement repr</i>	t, par la présente accordée • DU CANADA de microfilm endrè des exemplaires du fin erve les autres droits de p extraits de celle-ci ne doive	ner cette thèse lm. publication; ni ent être imprin
Permissi CANAQA of the fil The auth thesis n wise rep DATED/D	ion is hereby gran A to microfilm this Im. hor reserves other p hor extensive extrac	ted to the NATIONAL LIBR thesis and to lend or sell publication rights, and neit its from it may be printed or author's written permission 21, 1378 SIGNED/ <i>SIG</i>	ARY OF L'autorisation es copies QUE NATIONALE de prêter ou de ve ther the L'auteur se rése r other- thèse ni de longs m. ou autrement repr NE $ -$	t, par la présente accordée • DU CANADA de microfilm endrè des exemplaires du fin erve les autres droits de p extraits de celle-ci ne doive	ner cette thèse lm. publication; ni ent être imprin
Permissi CANAQA of the fil The auth thesis n wise rep DATED/D	ion is hereby gran A to microfilm this Im. nor reserves other p nor extensive extrac produced without the	ted to the NATIONAL LIBR. thesis and to lend or sell publication rights, and neit its from it may be printed or author's written permission 21, 1378 SIGNED/S/G/ ICE FIXE 191, (ARY OF L'autorisation es copies QUE NATIONALE de prêter ou de vie ther the L'auteur se rése r other- thèse ni de longs m. ou autrement repr NE $(AIULOULC)$ $\overrightarrow{CREENLEAF}$	t, par la présente accordée DU CANADA de microfilm endrè des exemplaires du fin rve les autres droits de p extraits de celle-ci ne doive oduits sans l'autorisation ée	ner cette thèse lm. publication; ni ent être imprin
Permissi CANAQA of the fil The auth thesis n wise rep DATED/D	ion is hereby gran A to microfilm this Im. nor reserves other p nor extensive extrac produced without the	ted to the NATIONAL LIBR. thesis and to lend or sell publication rights, and neit its from it may be printed or author's written permission 21, 1378 SIGNED/S/G/ ICE FIXE 191, (ARY OF L'autorisation es copies QUE NATIONALE de prêter ou de ve ther the L'auteur se rése r other- thèse ni de longs m. ou autrement repr NÉ $AIUEOUEAFVIEAFVI$	t, par la présente accordée DU CANADA de microfilm endrè des exemplaires du fin rve les autres droits de p extraits de celle-ci ne doive oduits sans l'autorisation ée	ner cette thèse lm. publication; ni ent être imprin
Permissi CANAQA of the fil The auth thesis n wise rep DATED/D	ion is hereby gran A to microfilm this Im. nor reserves other p nor extensive extrac produced without the	ted to the NATIONAL LIBR. thesis and to lend or sell publication rights, and neit its from it may be printed or author's written permission 21, 1378 SIGNED/S/G/ ICE FIXE 191, (ARY OF L'autorisation es copies QUE NATIONALE de prêter ou de vie ther the L'auteur se rése r other- thèse ni de longs m. ou autrement repr NE $(AIULOULC)$ $\overrightarrow{CREENLEAF}$	t, par la présente accordée DU CANADA de microfilm endrè des exemplaires du fin rve les autres droits de p extraits de celle-ci ne doive oduits sans l'autorisation ée	ner cette thèse lm. publication; ni ent être imprin

National Library of Canada

Cataloguing Branch Canadian Theses Division

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

NOTICE

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if ' the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us a poor photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. Please read the authorization forms which accompany this thesis.

THIS DISSERTATION HAS BEEN MICROFILMED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction du catalogage Division des thèses canadiennes

AVIS

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec, l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont étédactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de mauvaise qualité.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30. Veuillez prendre connaissance des formules d'autorisation qui accompagnent cette thèse.

LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS REÇUE

NL-339 (3/77)

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

STUDIES ON THE PROBLEMS ASSOCIATED WITH THE UTILIZATION OF RAPESEED MEAL BY POULTRY

by

YEOW KWANG GOH

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE

. OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

DEPARTMENT OF ANIMAL SCIENCE EDMONTON, ALBERTA

SPRING, 1978

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTAN

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and ecommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for acceptance, a thesis entitled "Studies on the problems associated with the utilization of rapeseed meal by poultry" submitted by Yeow Kwang Goh, in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Poultry Nutrition.

External Examiner

University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon

April 10, 1978 Dated

ABSTRACT

A series of experiments (Part I) were undertaken to study the use of dye-binding for estimating the quantity and quality of protein in rapeseed meal (RSM) as well as the degree of protein denaturation caused by heat treatment. Results obtained from Experiment 1 in which the dye-binding capacities (DBCs) with Acid Orange 12 and the crude protein contents (N x 6.25) of 15 samples of RSM were investigated showed that the two parameters were related by the linear equation, $Y(N \times 6.25) = 2.2 + 0.27X$ (DBC) with a correlation coefficient of 0.98. The equation was tested for its applicability to 126 RSMs in Experiment 2 and it was found that it under-estimated or over-estimated the crude protein of about 20% of the samples by 1% or more. The deviation was caused mainly by atypical content of basic amino acids, particularly of lysine, in these meals. On the other hand, the dye-binding capacities of the protein (DBCPs) of 21 samples of RSM were found to correlate highly to the lysine and available lysine contents of the meals (r = 0.84 and 0.79)indicating the potential of the use of DBCP as a protein quality index for RSM.

In Experiment 3, moist heat treatment was found to decrease the DBCP of RSM as a function of autoclaving duration at 121°C. Protein quality, estimated by available lysine determination, showed a parallel but accelerated decline compared to the decrease in DBCP noted.

iv

Results obtained from two chick broassays (Experiment 4) indicated that commercial RSMs with DBLE to a renging from 335 to 360 mg Acid Orange 12/g protein were aparanle from the point of view of growth promotion of male bro ler However, laboratory heat-damaged RSMs which had chicks. DBCP values equal to or lower than 327 mg/g protein were , found to have infe for growth promoting values as measured by total protein efficiency in bioassays involving male broiler chicks. The degrees of protein denaturation in autoclave and oven-heated RSMs, estimated by the dye-binding method, showed that the meals were more severely affected by heating in an autoclave at 121°C than by heating in an oven at the same temperature for similar periods of time (Experiment 5).

In Part II of the studies, the effect of feeding high and low glucosinolate RSMs (HG-RSM and LG-RSM) at 5 and 10% of the ration to laying hens on the transfer of dietary iodine to eggs was examined. Percent ¹²⁵I incorporated into eggs during the steady state showed that the amount of ¹²⁵I transferred to egg yolk was significantly reduced by the inclusion of HG-RSM but, not by the LG-RSM (P<0.05).

In Part III of the studies, the effects of glucosinolate level in RSM and supplementary choline on the production of fishy eggs by fishy egg layers were investigated. Rapeseed meals with high, medium and low glucosinolate levels (HG-RSM, MG-RSM and LG-RSM) were fed at 10% of the laying ration. The mean trimethylamine (TMA) level and mean fishy odor score were numerically highest in the edgs produced by the birds \cdot fed the ration containing 10% HG-RSM but not significantly different from those resulting from feeding birds the ration containing 10% LG-RSM. Supplementing a laying ration devoid of RSM with choline at 250 and 500 mg/kg ration did not cause the birds to lay eggs with measurable TMA content or detectable fishy odor.

vi

Z CKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author wishes to thank the Chairman of the Department of Animal Science for placing the research facilities of the Department at his disposal. [He is particularly indebted to Dr. D.R. Clandinin, Professor of Poultry Nutrition, for his encouragement, helpful guidance and constructive criticism in connection with the research reported herein.

Thanks are extended to Dr. A.R. Robblee, Professor of Poultry Nutrition, for his assistance during the course of the studies and to Dr. R.T. Hardin, Professor of Poultry Genetics, for his assistance in the statistical analysis of the data.

The writer also wishes to express his gratitude to Mr. K. Darlington of the Alberta Department of Agriculture for his participation in the sensory evaluation of eggs on Part III of these studies, to Mr. J. Watson and other members of the staff at the Poultry Research Unit for their help in the care and feeding of the experimental birds, to Mr. T. Fenton for his technical advice in the analytical work, to Miss E. Koziol and Miss L. Jenkin for their technical assistance and to Miss W. Beaton for her assistance in typing the thesis.

Special thanks and appreciation are due to the author's parents and to his wife, Joan, for their patience and encour-agement.

vii

The financial assistance received from the National Research Council of Canada, the Alberta Agricultural Research Trust and the Rapeseed Association of Canada are also gratefully acknowledged.

G

viii

	• • • • •	
	TABLE OF CONTENTS	•
	TABLE OF CONTENTS	Page
	INTRODUCTION	• 1
•	OBJECTIVES OF THE STUDIES	2
	PART I STUDIES ON THE USE OF DYE-BINDING FOR ESTIMATING THE QUANTITY AND QUALITY OF PROTEIN IN RAPESEED MEAL /	2 /) 4
	A Introduction	. 4
	B Review of Liperature	5
	a Historical Development of the Method	3
	b Theoretical Basis of Dye-Binding for Estimating Crude Protein Content	5
•	c Outline of the Method	• 6·
	d Kinds of Dyes Used	7
	e Mechanism of Dye-Binding Interaction	. 9
r	f Application of Dye-Binding to Deter- mination of the Quantity of Crude	
	. Protein in Foods and Feedstuffs	10
1	l Milk 2 Meat	11
	3 Cereals	14
\	4 Tubers	18
	5 Forages	- 19
•	6 Oilseed Meals and Other High Protein Feedstuffs	19 /
	g Application of Dye-Binding to Deter- mination of the Quality of Protein	21
	l Detection of Heat Damage to Protein	22
· .	2 Selection of High Lysine Variety of Cereal Grains	25
	h Correlations Between Protein Qualities of Feedstuffs as Predicted by the Dye- Binding Method and by Biological Assays	27
	, ix	

Page 1 Determination of Nutritionally Available Lysine Content of Fred- stuffs by Differential Dye-Binding Capacity 29 2 Experiments Conducted at The University of Alberta 34 3 Fxberiment 1: Study of the Corro- lations Between the Crude Protein Contents and the Dyc-Binding Capaci- tics of Rapesed Mealts with Orange 34 1 Objective 34 2 Natorial and Methods 34 3 Results and Discussion 41 4 Natorial and Methods 34 5 Results and Discussion 41 4 Summary 47 5 Experiment 2: Estimation of the Crude Protein Contents of Commer- cially Processed Rapesed Meals by Dyc-Binding Capacity with Acid Orange 12 48 1 Objective 48 2 Materials and Methods 48 3 Results and Discussion 49 4 Summary 62 5 Summary 62 6 Assults and Discussion 64 1 Objective 64 2 Materials and Methods 64 3 Results and Discussion 65 <th></th> <th></th> <th></th>			
Available Lysine Content of Feed- stuffs by Differential Dye-Binding Capacity 29 C Experiments Conducted at The University of Alberta 34 a Experiment 1: Study of the Corre- lations Battween the Crude Protein Contents and the Dye-Binding Capaci- ties of Rapeseed Meals with Orange G and Acid Orange 12 34 a Material and Methods 34 b Experiment 2: Estimation of the Crude Protein Contents of Commor- cially Processed Repseed Meals by Dye-Binding Capacity with Acid Orange 12 48 a Materials and Methods 48 b Experiment 2: Estimation of the Crude Protein Contents of Commor- cially Processed Rapeseed Meals by Dye-Binding Capacity with Acid Orange 12 48 c Materials and Methods 48 d Materials and Methods 48 d Summary 62 c Emperiment 3: The Effect of Moist Heat on the Dye-Binding Capacity of Repseed Meal with Acid Orange 12 64 d Summary 76 d Summary 76 d Experiment 4: Evaluation of Protein Ouality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Meat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio- logical Assay with Chicks 77 d Objectives 77 d Materials and Methods 77			Page
Stuffs by Differential Dye-Binding Capacity29C Experiments Conducted at The University of Alberta34a Experiment 1: Study of the Correlations Retween the Crude Protein Contents and the Dye-Binding Capacia- ties of Rapeseed Meals with Orange G and Acid Orange 12341 Objective342 Material and Methods343 Results and Discussion414 Summary47b Experiment 2: Estimation of the Crude Protein Contents of Commer- cially Processed Rapeseed Meals by Dye-Binding Capacity with Acid Orange 12481 Objective482 Materials and Methods'483 Results and Discussion494 Summary626 Experiment 3: The Effect of Moist Heat on the Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Acid Orange 12644 Objective645 Results and Discussion654 Summary766 Experiment 4: Evaluation of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio- logical Assay with Chicks771 Objectives772 Materials and Methods77	i	Determination of Nutritionally Available Lysine Content of Feed-	
Alberta 34 a Experiment 1: Study of the Correlations Between the Crude Protein Contents and the Dyc-Binding Capacities of Rapeseed Meals with Orange G and Acid Orange 12 34 1 Objective 34 2 Materials and Methods 34 3 Results and Discussion 41 4 Summary 47 b Experiment 2: Estimation of the 1 Crude Protein Contents of Commercially Processed Rapesed Meals by Dyc-Binding Capacity with Acid Orange 12 48 1 Objective 48 2 Materials and Methods' 48 3 Results and Discussion 49 4 Summary 62 6 Acid Orange 12 64 6 Acid Orange 12 64 1 Objective 64 2 Materials and Methods 64 3 Results and Discussion 64 4 Summary 64 2 Materials and Methods 64 3 Results and Discussion 65 4 Summary 76 4 Summary 76 4 Summary 76 5 Materials and Methods 64 3 Results and Discussion 65 4 Summary 76 5 Materials and Met		stuffs by Differential Dye-Binding	29
lations Between the Crude Protein Contents and the Dyc-Binding' Capaci- tics of Rapeseed Meals with Orange 341Objective342Materials and Methods343Results and Discussion414Summary47bExperiment 2: Estimation of the Crude Protein Contents of Commor- cially Processed Rapeseed Meals by Dyc-Binding Capacity with Acid Orange 12481Objective482Materials and Methods'483Results and Discussion494Summary.626Summary.626Capacity of Rapeseed Meal science643Results and Discussion644Summary.626Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Acid Orange 12644Summary.764Summary.765Summary.766Capacity of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio- logical Assay with Chicks771Objectives772Materials and Methods77	C E:	xperiments Conducted at The University f Alberta	34
2Materials and Methods343Results and Discussion414Summary47bExperiment 2: Estimation of the Crude Protein Contents of Commer- cially Processed Rapesced Meals by Dye-Binding Capacity with Acid Orange 12481Objective482Materials and Methods483Results and Discussion494Summary.626Emperiment 3: The Effect of Moist Heat on the Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Acid Orange 12641Objective642Materials and Methods654Summary.764Summary.764Summary.765Summary.766Experiment 4: Evaluation of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio- logical Assay with Chicks771Objectives772Materials and Methods77	. a	Contents and the Dye-Binding Capaci- ties of Rapeseed Meals with Orange	34
2Materials and Methods343Results and Discussion414Summary47bExperiment 2: Estimation of the Crude Protein Contents of Commer- cially Processed Rapesced Meals by Dye-Binding Capacity with Acid Orange 12481Objective482Materials and Methods483Results and Discussion494Summary62cEmperiment 3: The Effect of Moist Heat on the Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Acid Orange 12641Objective642Materials and Methods643Results and Discussion654Summary764Summary764Summary765Atterials and Methods644Summary766Experiment 4: Evaluation of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio- logical Assay with Chicks771Objectives772Materials and Methods77	•	1 Objective	
 3 Results ind Discussion 41 4 Summary 47 b Experiment 2: Estimation of the Crude Protein Contents of Commercially Processed Rapeseed Meals by Dye-Binding Capacity with Acid 0range 12 48 1 Objective 48 2 Materials and Methods 48 3 Results and Discussion 49 4 Summary 62 c Experiment 3: The Effect of Moist Heat on the Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Acid 0range 12 64 1 Objective 64 2 Materials and Methods 64 3 Results and Discussion 65 4 Summary 76 d Experiment 4: Evaluation of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Biological Assay with Chicks 77 1 Objectives 77 2 Materials and Methods 77 			· ,
4 Summary 47 b Experiment 2: Estimation of the Crude Protein Contents of Commor- cially Processed Rapesed Meals by Dye-Binding Capacity with Acid Orange 12 48 1 Objective 48 2 Materials and Methods' 48 3 Results and Discussion 49 4 Summary 62 c Experiment 3: The Effect of Moist Heat on the Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Acid Orange 12 64 1 Objective 64 2 Materials and Methods 64 3 Results and Discussion 65 4 Summary 76 4 Summary 76 4 Experiment 4: Evaluation of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio- logical Assay with Chicks 77 1 Objectives 77 2 Materials and Methods 77			34
 b Experiment 2: Estimation of the Crude Protein Contents of Commer- cially Processed Rapeseed Meals by Dye-Binding Capacity with Acid Orange 12 1 Objective 2 Materials and Methods 3 Results and Discussion 49 4 Summary. 62 c Emperiment 3: The Effect of Moist Heat on the Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Acid Orange 12 64 1 Objective 64 2 Materials and Methods 65 3 Results and Discussion 65 4 'Summary 76 d Experiment 4: Evaluation of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio- logical Assay with Chicks 1 Objectives 77 1 Objectives 77 2 Materials and Methods 		ind biscussion	2 41
Crude Protein Contents of Commer- cially Processed Rapeseed Meals by Dye-Binding Capacity with Acid Orange 12 48 1 Objective 48 2 Materials and Methods 48 3 Results and Discussion 49 4 Summary 62 C Emperiment 3: The Effect of Moist Heat on the Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Acid Orange 12 64 1 Objective 64 2 Materials and Methods 64 3 Results and Discussion 65 4 Summary 76 d Experiment 4: Evaluation of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio- logical Assay with Chicks 77 1 Objectives 77 2 Materials and Methods 77		4 Summary	47
2Materials and Methods483Results and Discussion494Summary.62CEmperiment 3: The Effect of Moist Heat on the Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Acid Orange 12641Objective642Materials and Methods643Results and Discussion654'Summary76dExperiment 4: Evaluation of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio- logical Assay with Chicks771Objectives772Materials and Methods77	b L	Crude Protein Contents of Commer- cially Processed Rapeseed Meals by Dye-Binding Capacity with Acid	48
2Materials and Methods483Results and Discussion494Summary.62CEmperiment 3: The Effect of Moist Heat on the Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Acid Orange 12641Objective642Materials and Methods643Results and Discussion654Summary76dExperiment 4: Evaluation of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio- logical Assay with Chicks771Objectives772Materials and Methods77		1 Objective	48
 3 Results and Discussion 4 Summary 62 C Emperiment 3: The Effect of Moist Heat on the Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Acid Orange 12 64 1 Objective 64 2 Materials and Methods 64 3 Results and Discussion 65 4 'Summary 76 d Experiment 4: Evaluation of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio- logical Assay with Chicks 77 1 Objectives 77 2 Materials and Methods 		2 Materials and Methods '	
4Summary62CEmperiment 3: The Effect of Moist Heat on the Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Acid Orange 12641Objective642Materials and Methods643Results and Discussion654Summary76dExperiment 4: Evaluation of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio- logical Assay with Chicks771Objectives772Materials and Methods77			
 C Experiment 3: The Effect of Moist Heat on the Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Acid Orange 12 64 1 Objective ' 64 2 Materials and Methods 64 3 Results and Discussion 65 4 'Summary 76 d Experiment 4: Evaluation of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio- logical Assay with Chicks 77 1 Objectives 77 2 Materials and Methods 77 			
Heat on the Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Acid Orange 12 64 1 Objective 64 2 Materials and Methods 64 3 Results and Discussion 65 4 Summary 76 d Experiment 4: Evaluation of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio- logical Assay with Chicks 77 1 Objectives 77 2 Materials and Methods 77		-	02
 Materials and Methods Results and Discussion Summary Summary Experiment 4: Evaluation of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio- logical Assay with Chicks Objectives Materials and Methods 		Heat on the Dye-Binding Capacity of	64
 Materials and Methods Results and Discussion Summary Summary Experiment 4: Evaluation of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio- logical Assay with Chicks Objectives Materials and Methods 		1 Objective /	Б.Л
 3 Results and Discussion 4 Summary 65 4 Summary 66 76 67 68 69 69 69 69 60 60 60 61 65 76 77 78 79 79 79 70 71 71 72 74 74 75 76 77 77 76 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 78 79 79 79 70 71 71 72 73 74 74 75 76 76 76 77 77 76 76 77 76 77 <	100 A.		-
 4 Summary d Experiment 4: Evaluation of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio- logical Assay with Chicks 1 Objectives 2 Materials and Methods 			
d Experiment 4: Evaluation of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio- logical Assay with Chicks 77 1 Objectives 77 2 Materials and Methods 77			
Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio- logical Assay with Chicks 77 1 Objectives 77 2 Materials and Methods 77	·	4 Summary	76
<pre>1 Objectives 77 2 Materials and Methods 77</pre>	~	Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Bio-	-
2 Materials and Methods 77			
		-	77
- X		2 Materials and Methods	77
×			
X			•
	-	x	•
•			
--------	--	------	
•	i Protein quality evaluation	Page	
	i Protein quality evaluation of rapeseed meals by the dye-binding method	77	
	ii Biological evaluation of		
	the protein quality of rape- seed meals by the total pro- tein efficiency method	78	
	3 Results and Discussion (
	i Protein quality evaluation of rapeseed meals by the dye-binding method	82	
		82	
	ii Biological evaluation of the protein quality of rapeseed meals by the total protein efficiency method		
		87	
	4 Summary	96	
	e Experiment 5: The Effects of Heating Laboratory Prepared Rapeseed Meal in an Autoclave or an Oven for Varying Periods of Time on Protein Denatur- ation in the Rapeseed Meal and the Feasability of the Dye-Binding Method for Measuring Such Denaturation	97	
	1 Objectives	97	
	2 Materials and Methods	97	
· ·	3 Results and Discussion .	98	
	4 Summary	109	
PART	II EFFECT OF THE LEVELS OF THE GLUCOSINOLATES IN RAPESEED MEAL ON THE TRANSFER OF DIETARY IODINE TO EGGS BY LAYING HENS	111	
	A Introduction	111	
	B Review of Literature	112	
	C Experiment Conducted at The University of Alberta	114	
•	a Materials and Methods	114	
• •	b Results and Discussion	117	
	c Summary	124	
5			
	xi	•	

			$V_{\rm eff}(\rho)$
PART III	ETSHI	ES OF THE PROBLE: OF THE LAYING OF CEGGS BY HENS FED ATIONS CONTAINING GEED MEAL	. 1. j. j.
	A _Ir	troduction	5 ⁵ 6
	B Re	view of Liferature	126
•	C Ex of	periments Conducted at The University Alberta	· · 32
	a	Experiment 1: Effect of Glucosino- late Content of Rapeseed Meal on the Incidence of Fishy Egg Production by Brown-Shelled Egg Layers	• 132
		1 Objectives	+ 1∃2
		2 Materials and Methods	132
		3 Results and Discussion	135
•	b	Experiment 2: Effect of Supplementing a Laying Ration with Choline on the Production of Fishy Eggs by Brown- Shelled Egg Layers	141
		1 Objective	141
		2 Materials and Methods	141
		3 Results and Discussion	142
	С	General Discussion	144
	r d	Summary	147
BIBLIOGRAF	РНҮ		149
APPENDIX			160

. . .

1

xii

.. •

LIST OF TABLES

•

, · · ·

.

		Page
TABLE 1	Linear Regression Equations Relating the Kjeldahl Protein Content and Dye-Binding Readings for Some Commonly Used Foods and Feedstuffs	12
TABLE 2	Effect of Particle Size of Sample on the Amount of Orange G Bound by Rapeseed Meal	36
TABLE 3	Effect of Particle Size of Sample on the Amount of Acid Orange 12 Bound by Rapeseed Meal	37
TABLE 4	Effect of Protein to Dye Ratio on the Amount of Orange G Bound by Rapeseed Meal	39
TABLE 5	Crude Protein, Basic Amino Acids and Dry Matter Contents of Rapeseed Meals and Dye-Binding Capacities of Rapeseed Meals with Orange G and Acid Orange 12	42
TABLE 6	Differences Between Observed Crude Protein and Predicted Crude Protein Percents of Rapeseed Meals Based on Their Dye-Binding Capacities	τ 2 50 φ
TABLE 7	Frequency Distribution of the Differences Between Observed Protein Percents and Those Predicted by the Dye-Binding Capacity Equation	55
TABLE 8	Frequency Distribution of the Dye- Binding Capacity of the Protein of Rapeseed Meal	57
TABLE 9	Crude Protein, Basic Amino Acido, Dye- Binding Capacities and Available Lysine of Selected Rapeseed Meals	59 -
TABLE 10	Correlation Coefficients Between Values Reported in Table 9	60
TABLE 11	Crude Protein Percent of Rapeseed Meals Autoclaved at 121°C for Various Periods of Time	66

×iii

£.,

		Page.
TABLE 1	2 Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meals Autoclaved at 121°C for Various Periods of Time	67
TABLE 1	Bye-Binding Capacity of the Protein of Rapeseed Meals Autoclaved at 121°C for Various Periods of Time	70
TABLE 1	4 Available Lysine Contents of Rapeseed Meals Autoclaved at 121°C for Various Periods of Time	71
TABLE 1	5 Available Lysine Contents of the Protein of Rapeseed Meals Autoclaved at 121°C for Various Periods of Time	72
TABLE 1	6 Comparison of Dye-Binding Capacities and Available Lysine Contents of Rapeseed Méals Expressed as Percentages of Un- treated Meals	74
TABLE 1	7 Composition of Rations Used in Growth Trial 1	80
TABLE 18	3 Composition of Rations Used in Growth Trial 2	81
'TABLE 19	Crude Protein Contents cf Commercial Rapeseed Meals from Four Processing Plants	83
TABLE 20) The Dye-Binding Capacities of Commercial Rapeseed Meals with Acid Orange 12	84
TABLE.21	The Dye-Binding Capacities of the Protein of Commercial Rapeseed Meals with Acid Orange 12	85
TABLE 22	Analysis of Variance of DBCP of Commercial Rapeseed Meals	86
TABLE 23	Protein Contents and Dye-Binding Capacities of Tower Rapeseed Meals Autoclaved for Different Periods of Time at 121°C	88 [.]
TABLE 24	Summary of Results of Growth Trial 1	89
TABLE 25	Basic Amino Acid Composition of Rapeseed Meals and of Experimental Rations Used in Growth Trials 1 an	91
		,
	xiv	
		•

、	1		
7			Page
	TABLE 26	Summary of Results of Growth Trial 2	92
a a to the	TABLE 27	Effect of Heating Rapeseed Meal in an Autoclave or Oven for Various Periods of Time on the Solubility of the Nitrogen of the Meals in Water	م 99
	TABLE 28	Dyc-Binding Capacities of the Protein of Nipesced Meals Heated in an Autoclave or Oven for Various Periods of Time	103
	TABLE 29	Available Lysine Contents of Rapeseed Meals Heated in an Autoclave or Oven for Various Periods of Time	106
	TABLE 30	Composition of Experimental Rations	115
	TABLE 31	¹²⁵ I in Egg Yolk During Steady State, ¹²⁵ I Uptake by Thyroid Glands and Thyroid Size of Hens	119
	TABLE 32	Iodine Contents of Egg Albumen After Pre-Experimental and Experimental Periods	123
	TABLE 33	Composition of the Experimental Rations	134 .
	TABLE 34	Effects of Glucosinolate Contents of Rapeseed Meal on the Trimethylamine Content and Fishy Odor Score of Eggs	136
,	TABLE 35	Effect of Inclusion of Ground Raw Rapeseed in Rations Containing Rapeseed Meal on the Trimethylamine Content and Fishy Odor Score of Eggs	138
	TABLE 36	Effect of Supplementary Choline on the Production of Eggs with a Fishy Odor by Brown-Shelled Egg Layers	.143

• •

•

.

xv

LIST OF FIGURES

, .

ā		Page
FIGURE 1	Acid azo dyes commonly used in dye-	8
FIGURE 2	The relationship between the dye- binding capacities of the rapeseed meals with Orange G and the Kjeldahl protein contents of the meals	43
FIGURE 3	The relationship between the dye- binding capacities of the rapeseed meals with Acid Orange 12 as deter- mined by Udy and spectrophotometric methods and the Kjeldahl protein contents of the meals	4 5
FIGURE 4	Relationship between Kjeldahl protein contents and dye-binding capacities (mg Acid Orange 12/g meal) of commercial gapeseed meals	54
FIGURE 5	Relationship between the dye-binding capacity of rapeseed meal and the duration of autoclaving of the meal at 121°C	68
FIGURE 6	Solubility of nitrogen as a function of time rapeseed meals heat-denatured in autoclave or oven at 121°C for various periods of time	100
FIGURE 7	Dye-binding capacities of protein of rapeseed meals heated in an autoclave or oven at 121°C for various periods of time	104
FIGURE 8	Rate of ¹²⁵ I incorporation in egg yolk	120

xvi

÷

INTRODUCTION

Rapeseed, first grown in Western Canada for commercial use in 1943, has now become the most important oilseed crop grown in Canada. During recent years its annual production has fluctuated around 1.2 million metric tons (Runciman and Olson, 1975). The seed, containing 40% or more of oil by weight, is grown mainly for its oil. The oil, obtained by extracting the crushed seeds with hexane and further refining, is used as an edible oil. The residue, left after oil removal, is rich in protein and is used as a source of protein for livestock and poultry.

Early attempts to use rapeseed meal (RSM) in rations for livestock and poultry were not very successful owing to the presence of goitrogenic factors in RSM and to the relatively low metabolizable energy value of RSM. As a result, only limited levels of RSM were recommended for use in feeds for poultry and swine (Clandinin <u>et al.</u>, 1972; Bowland and Bell, 1972).

In recent years, the prospects for increased utilization of RSM by feed manufacturers and for wider acceptance of RSM by livestock producers have greatly improved as a result of developments on two fronts; the production of new varieties of rapeseed of improved quality and an increased world-wide demand for protein for human consumption. With regard to the former, plant breeders have developed varieties of rapeseed which are low in glucosinolate content and are in the process of developing varieties which are low in

fibre content (Downey and Klassen, 1977). In addition, rapeseed processing technology has improved to the point where the quality of the protein in RSM compares favourably with other protein-rich feedstuffs. These advancements have made it possible to double the recommended levels of usage for low glucosinolate RSM by monogastric animals and poultry as compared to the usage levels recommended for high glucosinolate type RSM. On the other front, the world-wide shortage of protein for human consumption has greatly increased the demand for soybean meal which, in the past, has been the major source of protein for livestock and poultry feeds. The scarcity and high price of soybean meal have compelled animal nutritionists to seek alternate sources of protein. As a consequence of the above, it is logical to anticipate improved potential for increased use of RSM by feed manufacturers throughout the world.

Rapeseed meal is, at present, widely used in rations for poultry. However, in spite of its much improved nutritional quality, there are still unsolved problems associated with the use of RSM in rations for poultry (Clandinin <u>et al.</u>, 1977) which require solution. This thesis is concerned with studies on some of these unsolved problems.

OBJECTIVES OF THE STUDIES

The objectives of the first series of experiments (Part I) were to investigate the feasibility of using the dyebinding method as a rapid and inexpensive procedure for determining the crude protein content of RSM and for eval-

uating the quality of the protein of RSM.

{

The objective of the second study (Part II) was to determine the effect that feeding low and high glucosinolate type RSMs to laying chickens had on the iodine contents of eggs.

3

The final study (Part III) was designed to determine the factors in RSM which cause layers of brown-shelled eggs to produce eggs that have a "fishy" or "crabby" odor.

4

STUDIES ON THE USE OF DYE-BINDING FOR ESTIMATING THE QUANTITY AND QUALITY OF PROTEIN IN RAPESEED MEAL

A Introduction

Numerous so-called rapid methods have been developed as alternatives to the conventional macro-Kjeldahl procedure for measuring the protein content of cereal grains, oilseed meals and other biological materials. The principles on which these methods were based were completely different from those of the Kjeldahl method but in most cases were calibrated against it. They include; the measure of gaseous nitrogen derived from protein (Dumas' method), reaction of peptide chains of protein with reagents to form color complexes followed by spectrophotometric determination (Biuret method) and infrared absorption by peptide linkages between amino acids of protein molecules (IR method) etc. In spite of the advantages of these analytical procedures over the Kjeldahl method, most of them have only been used in research studies and only a limited number have been adopted officially by the Association of Official Analytical Chemists (A.O.A.C., 1970). One method which shows great potential and which meets the criteria of being rapid and inexpensive and which seems to be gaining in popularity is the dye-binding method. It was thought that by careful standardization and proper refinement of the analytical procedure, that the method might prove useful for daily quality control work in rapeseed processing plants and feed mills.

B Review of Literature

a Historical Development of the Method

It has long been known that acidic and basic dyes were effective protein precipitants. However, it was the persistent error observed in titration studies of protein solutions that caused Chapman et al. (1927) to measure the amount of certain acid dyes which were bound by proteins at various pH values. The proteins used in their studies were mainly isolated proteins such as gelatin, casein and fibrin. The complex nature of the dye-protein binding reaction was later studied by Rawlins and Schmidt (1929, 1930). They concluded that the interaction taking place between the dye ions and the oppositely charged ions of proteins was of chemical nature and reacted in stoichiometric proportions.

The technique of dye-binding, in its earliest stages of application, was used mainly for studying the mode of protein interactions with small molecules in living systems (Klotz, 1953). More recently, the procedure has been used to estimate the quantity and quality of protein.

b Theoretical Basis of Dye-Binding for Estimating Crude Protein Content

Nearly all of the dye-binding procedures described in the literature employed an acid azo dye and originated from the method devised by Frankel-Conrat and Cooper (1944). The principle factor involved in the reaction is the electrovalent attraction between the dye anions and the protein cations. The positively charged groups of the protein arise from the three basic amino acids, namely the epsilon amino

group of lysine, the imidazole group of histidine and the guanidine group of argining and to a less extent the terminal groups of peptide chains. It would seem reasonable to expect a direct stoichiometric delationship between the amount of dye bound and the number ϕf basic groups in the proteins of the sample. The amount of dye bound by the proteins of the sample should, therefore, serve as a measure of the total basic amino acids in the sample. If the amino acid composition of the protein of a biological material remains constant, the amounts of dye bound by samples of the material should be a function of their total protein contents. It is because of this theoretical potential and because of the practical advantages of the procedure that the method has been extensively studied and tested for its application in the determination of the total protein content of numerous foods and feedstuffs.

c Outline of the Method

Although experimental conditions selected as well as the kind of azo dye and equipment used might vary from one procedure to another, the basic technique is similar and may be summarized as follows:

1. The sample, finally ground if obtained in solid form, is thoroughly mixed with a dye solution of known concentration buffered at approximately pH 2.

2. During an equilibration period which may take a few minutes or several hours, the dye and proteins of the sample react to form insoluble complexes.

3. A clear supernatant is obtained by filtration or contrifugation.

4. The absorbance of the supernatant, which contains the unbound dye, is measured either after dilution or directly in a cuvette with a very short light-path length (0.2 mm).
5. The protein content of the sample is then obtained by referring the absorbance or other dye-binding readings to a pre-established calibration curve prepared for that particular protein material.

d Kinds of Dyes Used

The acid azo dyes commonly used in dye-binding procedure are Orange G (C.I. 16230*), Acid Orange 12 (C.I. 15970) and Amido Black 10B (C.I. 20470). The chemical structures of these dyes are shown in Fig. 1. The difference in dye-binding capacities of these dyes is due to the number of binding sites per molecule. While one molecule of Orange G or Amido Black 10B will bind with two positively charged groups of the protein, one molocule of Acid Orange 12 will bind with only one positively charged group of the protein since there is only one binding site in its molecule. However, it appears that there are no set criteria for the choice of the kind of dye used in the determination. When the procedure was first suggested by Frankel-Conrat and Cooper (1944), Orange G was the only dye investigated for its application in the protein determination of foods and feedstuffs (Udy, 1954, 1956a, 1956b; Moran et al., 1963). The azo dye Acid Orange *Standard color index number.

Orange G (C. I. 16230)



Acid Orange 12 (C. I. 15970)



Amido Black 10B (C. I. 20470)



Fig. 1. Acid azo dyes commonly used in dye-binding studies.

8

· · ·



•

· · ·

12 was first used by Udy in 1959 (ci ed by Udy, 1971) and was later found to react well with most commodities investigated. Since then, the use of this azo dye has become preferable over Orange G except in the case of determinations involving herbage (McKenzie, 1976). The use of Amido Black 10B has been limited, on the other hand, to crude protein determinations of dairy products (Dolby, 1961; O'Connell, 1970).

Several non-azo dyes have also been used for binding with proteins to assess protein quantity or quality. They have included phenolphthalein, cresol red, remazol blue and bromophenol blue (Frolich, 1954; Olomucki and Bornstein, 1960; Swaminathan <u>et al.</u>, 1973; Hurrell and Carpenter, 1975). The theoretical basis on which these dyes operate in predicting protein quantity and quality is not known.

e Mechanism of Dye-Protein Binding Interaction

The chemical nature of the dye-protein reactions are complex and involve multiple equilibria. Theoretical and mathematical relationships in dye-protein interactions have been reviewed by Rosenberg and Klotz, (1960).

The primary mechanism in the dye-protein interaction is an electrovalent association between the dye anions and cation sites on the proteins. Other than the primary mechanism, several possible secondary binding reactions may also be involved. These secondary bindings may be caused by interactions of the following nature; by hydrogen bonding between dye molecules and proteins, by hydrophobic bonding between dye molecules and proteins and by association between

free dye molecules and other dye molecules already bound to proteins. The binding of dye molecules to protein via the secondary mechanisms is undesirable since the extra dye so bound will over-estimate the crude protein content of the material under assay.

Of the two dyes, Orange G and Acid Orange 12, Orange G has been found to bind with protein primarily via electrovalent force and less via secondary binding than Acid Orange 12 (Lakin, 1973). In fact, the stoichiometric relationship between Orange G bound to the basic groups of several isolated proteins has been demonstrated (Frankel-Conrat and Cooper, 1944) whereas such relationship s, as yet, not been shown for Acid Orange 12. In the other hand, Acid Orange 12 does possess the advantage of binding more readily to protein than Orange G and thus the reaction with Acid Orange 12 takes less time to complete than with Orange G (Udy, 1971).

f Application of Dye-Binding to Determination of the Quantity of Crude Protein in Foods and Feedstuffs

Since the pioneer work of Frankel-Conrat and Cooper (1944), the dye-binding reaction has been extensively studied and used to determine the crude protein contents of various foods and feedstuffs ranging from dried skim milk powder to dry herbages. In the estimation of crude rectein,... one set of experimental conditions, such as the kind of dye used, time of mixing and protein:dye ratio, etc., established as optimal for a specific dye and a particular protein does not necessarily mean that those same conditions may be used for another protein source. As a consequence, information in the literature on dye-binding procedures was abundant. In the review described below, data reported by various workers for the same protein source are discussed under the same heading. A few representative linear regression equations relating crude protein or nitrogen percent, as determined according to the Kjeldahl procedure, and dye-binding readings as reported by various workers are tabulated in Table 1.

1. Milk

Dye-binding with Orange G was first applied to milk protein determination by Udy (1956a). The procedure was later studied by Ashworth et al. (1960) who reported a correlation coefficient of 0.98 between protein contents determined by dye-binding and Kjeldahl procedures in studies involving 345 whole milk samples. In the same study, it was found that breed differences as well as butter fat and lactose contents of milk did not affect the results obtained. European workers (Schober and Hetzel, 1956), using the dye Amido Black 10B found that dye-protein azo Dinding was optimal at pH 1.9 and was not affected by the temperature of the milk sample. The suitability of Amido Black 10B for determining milk protein was later confirmed by Steinsholt (1957) and the procedure was further modified by Raadsveld (1958) to make the method more rapid. Comparisons between Orange G and Amido Black 10B were

reported by Ashworth and Chaudry (1962) and Dolby (1961).

Teble 1

•

j

• -

r.near Regression Equations Relating the Kjeldahl Protein Content and Dye-Binding Readings for Some Commonly Used Food and Feedstuffs

-1

Protein material	Dye used	Regression ¹ equation	Sample size	Corr. ² coeff.	Reference
Milk Orange G Milk Acid Orang Ground beef Orange G Ground pork Orange G Wheat flour Orange G Wheat flour Orange G Wheat flour Orange G Milled rice Acid Orang Brown rice Acid Orang Soybean meal Orange G Sesame flour Acid Orang Rapeseed meal Acid Orang Rapeseed flour Acid Orang Correlation coefficient be	MilkOrange GP= 5.60 - 3MilkAcid Orange GP= (1.25-C) /Ground beefOrange GP= 8.18 + 0Ground porkOrange GP= 8.18 + 0Ground porkOrange GP= 44.47 -WheatOrange GP= 44.47 -WheatOrange GP= 14.67 -WheatOrange GP= 14.67 -WheatOrange GP= 14.67 -WheatOrange GP= 14.78 -WheatOrange GP= 14.78 -WheatOrange GP= 14.78 -Soybean mealOrange GP= 0.945BSoybean mealOrange GP= 1.7337Soybean mealAcid Orange I2N= 0.3048Goybean mealAcid Orange I2N= 0.3896Seame flourAcid Orange I2N= 0.3896Soybean mealAcid Orange I2N= 0.3896Soybean mealAcid Orange I2N= 1.7337Soybean percent; X, absorbance of unboundP, protein percent; X, absorbance of unboundP, mg of dye bound per gram sample; N, mg ofB, mg of dye bound per gram sample; N, mg of	P= 5.60 - 3.05X 345 0.98 Ashworth et a P=(1.25-C)/0.1824 Sherbon and F Sherbon and Wh P= 8.18 + 0.301B 10 0.90 Torten and Wh P= 8.18 + 0.301B 11 0.80 Torten and Wh P= 5.43 + 0.367B 11 0.80 Torten and Wh P= 44.47 - 40.00C 128 0.992 Udy (1956a) P= 44.47 - 13.60X 45 -0.961 Parial et al. P= 44.47 - 13.60X 45 -0.961 Parial et al. P= 44.47 - 13.60X 45 -0.961 Parial et al. P= 14.67 - 13.60X 45 -0.961 Moran et al. P= 14.78 - 14.12X 45 -0.961 Moran et al. P= 0.945B - 23.1 0.991 Medina et al. N. N= 0.3048 + 0.4358B 14 0.991 Medina et al. N= 0.3048 + 0.4358B 14 0.995 Medina et al. N= 0.3048 + 0.476B 17 0.995 Medina et al. N= 0.3048 + 0.4774B 17 0.995 Medina et al. N= 1.7337 + 0.4774B	345 0.9 345 0.9 10 0.9 128 0.9 45 -0.9 45 -0.9 45 -0.9 14 0.9 14 0.9 12 0.9 12 0.9 13 as measured j	0.98 0.90 0.80 0.992 0.992 0.992 0.992 0.992 0.992 0.997 0.991 0.995 0.991 0.995 0.977	345 0.98 Ashworth et al. (1960) 345 0.98 Ashworth et al. (1960) 10 0.90 Torten and Whitaker (1964) 11 0.80 Torten and Whitaker (1964) 128 0.992 Udy (1956a) 128 0.997 Udy (1956b) 218 0.997 Udy (1956b) 218 0.997 Udy (1956b) 218 0.997 Udy (1976) 218 0.991 Medina et al. (1970) 45 -0.961 Parial et al. (1970) 45 -0.961 Moran et al. (1976) 14 0.991 Medina et al. (1976) 12 0.995 Medina et al. (1976) 12 0.995 Medina et al. (1976) 17 0.977 Medina et al. (1976) 17 0.977 Medina et al. (1976) 18 0.977 Medina et al. (1976) 17 0.977 Medina et al. (1976) 18 0.977 Medina et al. (1976) 17 0.977 Medina et al. (1976) 18 0.977 Medina et al. (1976)
			מורכוורס מוו	ra-aźn n	ding readings.

12

•

•••

-7

Both groups of workers found that the two dyes were equally effective for the determination of milk protein. Both dyes gave linear relationships between protein and dye bound but Amido Black 10B had an advantage over Orange G in that it gave a much more sensitive optical indication of protein content. The protein values of milk as determined by dyebinding were not affected by refrigerated storage or pasteurization of the sample. The procedure of dye-binding for milk protein estimation has been investigated in collaborative studies and found to be highly reproducible within laboratories and acceptable between laboratories (Luke, 1967; Sherbon, 1967).

The high reproducibility and favourable acceptance of the dye-binding method by the dairy industry has stimulated work on automation of the procedure. The semi-automated Udy Protein Analyzer using Acid Orange 12 has been used experimentally as early as 1962 (Banasik and Gilles, 1962) and the Prometer Milk Analyzer using Amido Black 10 B has been produced in Europe (O'Connell, 1970). Both instruments have been tested for accuracy against the Kjeldahl procedure and found to be highly accurate and were recommended for official use by the Association of Official Analytical Chemists (Sherbon, 1967); Sherbon, 1975; Sherbon and Fleming, 1975).

A new azo dye Napthal Red S was recently tested by Konrad (1973a,b) and found to be suitable for milk protein determination. The correlation coefficient between the protein contents estimated by dye-binding and by the Kjeldahl

method for 15 samples was 0.98.

2. Meat

Torten and Whitaker (1964) were the first to study the use of Orange G and Amido Black 10B for estimating the protein contents of meats, including ground beef, pork, chicken breast and cod. When these foods were analyzed by the Orange G dye-binding method, the dye-binding capacity (DBC) per g Kjeldahl protein was found to vary with the protein content of the samples but the precision was poor. Neither Amido Black 10B nor Orange G.was found to be suitable for this purpose. In both cases, there was evidence of a decrease in proportionate DBC of the protein with increase in protein content of the sample. Moss and Kiefsmeier (1967) studied various dye:protein ratios to find the optimal test condition for bindings. They favoured the use of Amido Black 10B and recommended a dye:protein ratio of 0.521 with a dye concentration of 0.105% for binding with protein in meat. The correlation coefficient obtained between DBC and protein content of the samples was, however, low (r = 0.625).

Ashworth (1971) re-investigated the use of pure Acid Orange 12 in the protein determination of meat products. He suggested that a range of dye:protein ratio from 0.64 to 0.92 was suitable for measurement of protein content since a calibration curve relating free dye concentration in the filtrate to protein content by the Kjeldahl method can be readily prepared for each type of meat product based on such ratios. The DBC of meat proteins was not affected by normal

14

in the

cooking or 'fat content. Riqueline and Ashworth (1973) used the same dye (Ac d Orange 12) on 90 samples of lamb meat and obtained a high correlation between percent protein determined by the dye-binding technique and the Kjeldahl method (r = 0.99)confirming the earlier findings of Ashworth (1971). The accuracy of values obtained by dye-binding was comparable to that obtained by the Kjeldahl method but reproducibility between duplicates was greater by dye-binding than by the Kjeldahl method. Since the dye-binding procedure appeared promising, an interlaboratory study involving four laboratories was initiated to evaluate the application of the Ashworth (1971) procedure in meat protein determination by Heller and Sherbon (1976). Using six samples of meat, they found that the correlations between the protein values determined by the two procedures at individual laboratories were all highly significant but they also found significant interlaboratory differences in the protein values estimated. .Further studies are therefore required before application of the method is adopted.

Cereals

. 🦿

During the period when dye-binding was being studied, modified and automated for its use in milk protein determination, impressive achievements were also made in the application of the dye-binding principle to the estimation of the protein content of cereal grain.

Udy (1954) used Orange G in a study of four protein fractions isolated from wheat flour. He found that the

basic binding groups exhibited considerable constancy in their DBC within a given fraction for all varieties of wheat examined.

High correlation coefficients (0.992 and 0.997) between the concentration of unbound Orange G, which indirectly measured DBC, and the Kjeldahl protein content for 128 samples of wheat and 218 samples of wheat flour were reported by Udy (1956b). Mossberg (1965) using Amido Black 10B to determine the crude protein of wheat obtained lower protein values than estimated by the Kjeldahl method. Gruener <u>et al</u>. (1968) compared the use of Amido Black 10B versus Orange G for estimating protein content of wheat flour and favoured the latter.

Banasik and Gilles (1962) studied the precision of the Udy method for wheat protein analysis. Initial tests with the Udy Protein Analyzer appeared to indicate that the Udy Protein Analyzer was consistently giving low values in the high protein range and over-estimating protein contents in the low protein range. However, the values were corrected by a new conversion table obtained by recalibrating a standard curve covering a wide range of wheat protein contents. Greenaway (1972) also noted discrepancies in protein percent determined by dye-binding and the Kjeldahl procedure for 367 samples of wheat. Most mean differences were small, being less than 0.5% between dye-binding and Kjeldahl values except for wheats containing less than 10% protein where the mean differences approached 1%. Greenaway (1972) developed a

quadratic equation from the data he obtained from the Udy Protein Analyzer and Kjeldahl method and prepared a conversion table. The values obtained from the conversion table were in close agreement with Kjeldahl values.

Determination of the crude protein of other cereal grains by dye-binding was also reported by Mossberg (1968). Correlations between the dye-binding of five varieties of cereal grains and their nitrogen levels as analysed by the Kjeldahl method were; 0.97, 0.95, 0.96, 0.96 and 0.93 for barley, oats, wheat, rye and ryewheat respectively. The correlations between the amounts of dye bound and the total basic amino acids in the protein of the grains were equally high.

Olson and Heiges (1962) applied the dye-binding technique to routine barley protein analysis. Comparisons of the protein contents using the Kjeldahl and dye-binding methods on 577 barley samples indicated sufficient agreement to justify the use of the dye-binding method in routine barley protein analysis. The correlation coefficients for the different varieties of barley were all in excess of 0.96. Munck <u>et al</u>. (1969) adopted this technique as a rapid screening process to determine the crude protein content of barley. The dye-binding method has been approved as an official AACC (American Association of Cereal Chemists) method (1970).

Determination of protein level in rice by the Udy Protein Analyzer was reported by Parial <u>et al.</u> (1 /0). Mean protein contents of milled and brown rice estimated by the dye-binding method wore not statistically different from those obtained by the Kjeldahl procedure. Kim <u>et al.</u> (1971) also found high correlations between absorbance of the unbound dye and the protein content in brown rice.

4. Tubers

The dye-binding method has been used experimentally in the determination of protein in potato. Kaldy et al. (1972) found a correlation of 0.98 between Kjeldahl protein and absorbance of bound dye by raw potato, using Orange G as the dye for protein binding. High correlations were also reported by Fritz and Munzett (1975) on air-dried or fresh potatoes. They indicated that Orange G is sufficiently accurate for routine determinations. Another dye, Bromophenol Blue (BPB) was used to estimate the 'true' protein of potatoes by Swaminathan et al. (1973). Data collected from 120 samples of potatoes gave a correlation of 0.92 between the amount of BPB bound and the true protein content. Regression line relating the two variables passed through the origin, indicating absence of interference from non-protein nitrogenous substances. Protein values determined by both Orange G and BPB methods for dried potato samples were compared with their amino acid compositions by Desborough (1975). It was found that the values obtained by the BPB method were well correlated with those determined by amino acid analysis but the values

obtained by Udy Protein Analyzer were not as highly correlated with those determined by amino acid analysis as those obtained by the BPB method.

5. Forages

Quantitative estimation of protein in herbage by Orange G uptake was studied by Outen <u>et al</u>. (1966). Results obtained from study of 97 samples with 1 to 4% nitrogen content showed that although the uptake of Orange G increased proportionally as the nitrogen content increased, precision of the method was not as good as that of the Kjeldahl method. McKenzie (1976) recently compared the Orange G dye-binding method against the trichloroacetic acid (TCA) precipitated nitrogen for the determination of the protein content in dried pulp and leaf juice. It was found that the Orange G binding method was accurate and valid for estimation of TCA Kjeldahl nitrogen in leaf juice but less accurate for dried pulp unless separate regression equations were prepared for each species of dried pulp.

6. Oilseed Meals and Other High Protein Feedstuffs

One of the earlier studies on the use of Orange G binding as a measure of the protein content of high protein feedstuffs was presented by Bunyan (1959). Feedstuffs analysed included meat meals, whalemeat meals, fishmeals, soybean meals and groundnut meals. Linear regression equations were obtained for each of the individual protein sources, relating DBC and Kjeldahl protein contents. The

correlations for all the regression equations were highly significant except for meat meals in which a few atypical meals were encountered / Pomeranz (1965) also reported a high correlation between the protein values of finely ground soybean products determined by Orange G binding and by the Kjeldahl method (r = 0.98). However, the regression equation obtained was different from that reported by Bunyan (1959). Later, Hymowitz et al. (1969) modified the dye-binding determination by reading the protein content directly from the Udy Protein Analyzer and examined the relationship between values obtained by the Kjeldahl method and this modified version of the dye-binding technique. They found that the regression . equation relating the protein values of 95 samples of soybean meal estimated by the two methods was linear in meals that ranged in protein content from 27 to 51%. The correlation coefficient was 0.985. The protein content as predicted by the modified dye-binding method accounted for only 94.3% of the total Kjeldahl protein. The difference was attributed to the presence of non-protein nitrogenous substances in the soybean meals which were measured by the Kjeldahl method but not by the modified dye-binding method. McCready et al. (1970) applied this technique to the determination of safflower meal protein but failed to find a relationship between dyebinding values and nitrogen contents as determined by the Kjeldahl procedure. In a study involving groundnut meals Daghir et al. (1969) reported that Orange G binding capacity was highly correlated with the crude protein content of five

groundnut meals (r = 0.98). Medina et al. (1976) using the Udy procedure obtained an equation for predicting the crude protein of sesame flour with a correlation coefficient of 0.991 from a sample size of 14.

Information on the application of the dye-binding method to RSM has become available only recently. Udy (1971) recommended an equation for the determination of the crude protein content of rapeseed by Acid Orange 12 binding. However, the validity of the equation was not supported by any experimental data. Medina et al. (1976) studied the application of the dye-binding technique to RSM. They modified the Udy procedure (Udy, 1971) by reducing the mixing time to 30 minutes and predicting the crude protein contents of RSMs and rapeseed flours by the amount of dye bound to one gram of sample. The DBC was then related to nitrogen content determined by the Kjeldahl method. The predicted protein values for 17 samples of rapeseed flour and 12 samples of RSM were not significantly different from the Kjeldahl protein values. Linear regression equations derived from rapeseed flour and meal are shown in Table 1 and correlations between the two methods for flour and meal were 0.977 and 0.995 respectively. The dye-binding method had better precision than the Kjeldahl method as shown by the lower standard deviation of 0.338 versus 0.595% protein for Kjeldahl method.

g Application of Dye-Binding to Determination of the Quality of Protein

Although the majority of reports cited have clearly demonstrated the validity of the dye-binding method in

quantitative determination of crude protein, none have demonstrated a relationship between values obtained and protein quality other than indicating that the values obtained give a good estimate of the total basic amino acids in the sample analysed.

Careful examination of the principle involved in the dye-protein reaction, however, revealed that the dye-binding procedure has another advantage over Kjeldahl nitrogen determination in that it is capable of detecting changes which might alter the contents of the three basic amino acids, particularly the essential amino acid lysine. It is well known that when a protein material is subjected to excessive heat treatment the heat-labile and often limiting amino acid lysine is chemically altered in such a way that the epsilon amino group in its molecule becomes bound to carbohydrate and the nutritive value of the protein is greatly reduced (Carpenter and Booth, 1973). In this instance, the nitrogen content by the Kjeldahl method remains the same but, not so by the dye-binding procedure. The amount of dye bound to the heat-damaged protein will be reduced in proportion to the amount of lysine destroyed. Thus, it appears that combined analysis for nitrogen by the Kjeldahl and dyebinding methods could be used to measure the protein quality of a protein-rich material.

1. Detection of Heat Damage to Protein

Changes in the DBC of a protein containing sample appear to be largely dependent on the severity of the heat applied.

Mild heat treatment of protein over a short period of time does not seriously affect the content of amino acids and as a result the DBC of the protein. Egg albumen samples denatured by heating for 5 minutes and C and pH 2.5 and 11.7 did not affect the DBC of the albusamples accord to . Frankel-Conrat and Cooper (1944). Neither were adverse effects noted in liquid milk subjected to heating at temperatures as high as 190°F (Vanderzant and Tennison, 1961). Sterilization heat, intense enough to cause browning of the milk did, however, lower the DBC of the milk protein (Tarassuk, 1967). During his study of the application of dye-binding on milk protein determination, Udy (1956a) demonstrated that liquid whole milk and dried milk powder bound with different amounts of Orange G per g protein and attributed this difference to the denaturation of the milk protein during the drying process.

4

Mossberg (1965) studied the DBC of wheat and demonstrated a noticeable effect of heat treatment on the ability of wheat protein to bind Orange G. Ground wheat samples heated at 100°C for 16 hour showed consistently lower protein values than those recorded for the corresponding unheated samples when determined by the dye-binding method. Additive effect of temperature, water content and duration of heating on the uptake of dye by cereal grain was also examined by Mossberg (1966). Ground barley samples with moisture contents of 12.0, 21.1 and 27.9% were heated at 50° and 85°C from 8 to 96 hours. The protein contents according to Kjeldahl analysis did not change and were independent of temperature, water

content and the duration of heat treatment. On the contrary, the protein contents by dye-binding estimation changed after heat treatment as a function of temperature, moisture and duration of heating.

Influence of heat treatment on the DBC of oilseed meals has been studied mainly with soybean meal. Moran et al. (1963) studied the binding of Orange G by heated soybean meals and found that 15 minutes of heat treatment significantly reduced the DBC and further reduction occurred when the autoclaving was prolonged to 1 and 2 hours. Using the ratio of DBC of the unheated and heated meals as index of quality, they found that the protein quality of soybean mealsheated for 0, 45 and 90 minutes were significantly different from each other, a result which was confirmed by biological assay. Application by these workers of the technique to fishmeal was not successful because of the fluctuations in histidine and arginine contents among species or parts of fish used in fishmeal production. Similar reduction in DBC of soybean flour subjected to autoclaving was reported by Pomeranz (1965) and of soybean meal by Hymowitz et al. (1969) and in meat and bone meals by Choppe and Kratzer (1963). In all of these studies the samples were subjected to rather severe heating before a decrease in DBC was noted.

The various stages of heat destruction to food protein were studied in detail under simulated conditions using isolated protein by Hurrell and Carpenter (1975). The degree of protein damage was measured by the dye-binding procedure with three different dyes; a reactive dye, Remazol Brilliant Blue, a phthalein dye, Cresol Red, and an azo dye, Acid Orange 12. Their findings could be summarized as follows: for animal feedstuffs unheated or double be sum of total Acid Orange 12 binding values we to the sum of total histidine, arginine and lysine with double be epsilon amino groups. Both the dye-binding values and the sum of basic amino acids were reduced similarly by heat treatment. However, for protein double arises are an area to early 'Maillard' reaction, dye-binding values with Acid Counce 12 were unchanged even though the total content of basic amino acids was considerably reduced. Bindings of the other two dyes were found to be unsatisfactory.

2. Selection of High Lysine Variety of Cereal Grains Another important application of the dye-binding technique is in the selection of high lysine varieties of cereal grains in plant breeding work. The basis of the application is that, of the three basic amino acids in cereal grains, lysine is often the only limiting one and varies among varieties, whereas, the levels of histidine and arginine remain relatively constant. Hence, two samples of the same cereal grain containing identical amounts of protein according to Kjeldahl analysis but which bind different amounts of dye would probably contain different levels of lysine.

A new line of hybrid corn known to contain higher lysine than the original line was successfully identified by this method (Mossberg, 1966). The two lines, analysed by the

Kjeldahl procedure to contain 13.26 and 13.29% crude protein, bound 247 and 336 mg of dye per 100 g protein respectively. Of 67 samples from six varieties of cereals, the correlation between lysine levels determined by an amine acid analyzer and DBC was higher than that between lysine and the nitrogen contents (r = 0.94 versus 0.80). This observation,lends further support to the use of DBC as a suitable screening technique for lysine provided there is a good positive correlation between the total basic amino acids and lysine for the particular type of cereal studied. This procedure has been adopted by Munck <u>et al</u>. (1969) in 'is selection for a high protein, high lysine variety of barley by screening 2500 varieties of barley from the world collection.

Bhatty and Wu (1975) have recently presented a modified dye-binding procedure for screening barley samples for lysine content. Using a sample weight and dye concentration (Acid Orange 12) one-third of those used in the Udy (1971) method, a standard conversion table relating the transmittance reading to the lysine content of barley was prepared. Lysine levels of 34 lines of barley estimated by this modified dyebinding procedure were highly correlated to values obtained by an amino acid analyzer for the same samples. The advantage and reliability of this modified procedure was later confirmed by Laberge et al. (1976).

Juliano <u>et al</u>. (1973) used a similar procedure to screen for a high lysine variety of rice. Of more than ten thousands varieties examined from the world collection, only 38

varieties were found to contain higher total basic amino acids of which seven of them with high DBC had 0.5% higher lysine content than the mean value for brown rice.

h Correlations Between Protein Qualities of Feedstuffs as Predicted by the Dye-Binding Method and by Biological Assays

As indicated previously in this review, the dye-binding method used in conjunction with Kjeldahl nitrogen analysis, is a useful laboratory means for detecting inferior protein quality caused by excessive heat treatment. However, its practical applicability can be just fied only if the predicted protein quality of feedstuff is highly correlated with results derived from biological assays.

As early as 1957, the DBC of fishmeals with Orange G was studied for its correlation with their nutritive values (Thurston, 1957). Orange G absorption test was one of the methods used in predicting the protein quality of a wide range of protein foods by Bunyan and Price (1960). The same samples were also assayed biologically by the net protein utilization (NPU) method with rats. By comparing the Orange G binding data with the NPU values, it was found that the Orange G dye absorption correlated well with the NPU values when expressed as acid equivalents per 10⁴ g of protein. The whalemeat meals, meat meals and fishmeals that had higher dye-absorption values had higher NPU values. This was true also for the numerous other protein feedstuffs.

Similar agreement between dye-binding and biological assays was reported by Boyne et al. (1961) for numerous protein

27

concentrates from both plant and animal origins. Of the different kinds of oilseed meals studied, only the groundnut meal samples failed to show a correlation between the dye absorption values and the corresponding gross protein value (G \checkmark results recorded in chick assays.

Studies on meat and bone meals were reported by Choppe and Kratzer (1963). Twenty samples of meat and bone meal were used in chick growth assays as the sole source of protein. The meals were used to supply 24% of protein in a purified type ration and fed to chicks from the fifth to the fifteenth days of age. The amounts of Orange G bound to the meat and bone meals were poorly but positively correlated to chick growth data (r = 0.64).

Moran <u>et al</u>. (1963) studied the effect of heat treatment on the DBC of soybean meals and verified the results by chick assays. The meals autoclaved for periods ranging from 15 minutes to 2 hours were included at the 35% level in rations fed to chicks for four weeks. The decline in protein quality as measured by the chicks weight gain corresponded to the protein quality indices predicted chemically by DBC of the meals tested with the exception of the raw, unheated meal. Although the unheated soybean meal showed optimal binding with Orange G, it supported poorer growth than meal heated for 15 minutes. This was attributed to the presence of certain anti-nutritional factors in soybean meal. Both weight gain and dye-binding indices showed that the qualities of the meals were significantly reduced over that found after 15 minutes.

28

والمراجع الم

ŝ

Comparative assessment of the protein qualities of three fishmeals by the Orange G binding test and by chick growth assays were reported by Bunyan and Woodham (1964). The chick growth was measured by protein efficiency ratio (PER). The protein quality of the meals as predicted by Orange G dye uptake was closely correlated with the values obtained in chick assays.

Study of cereal grains was presented by Munck (1966). Several barley samples of known DBC were evaluated for their protein quality by weight gain to 20 days of age in mice feeding tests. A clear correlation between DBC of the barley samples and weight gain was demonstrated.

A recent study which showed close correlation between protein qualities predicted chemically by dye-binding and biologically by chick growth and NPU test in rats was reported by Carpenter and Opstvedt (1976). Eight samples of fishmeal were evaluated by laboratory methods and tested for their potency as sources of lysine for animal growth. When the mean results obtained from the various tests were compared with bioassay, the dye-binding test was found to be highly correlated with the chick growth and NPU values. The correlation coefficients found were 0.933 between dye-binding and chick assay and 0.742 for NPU assay.

i Determination of Nutritionally Available Lysine Content of Feedstuffs by Differential Dye-Binding Capacity

The term 'available lysine' refers specifically to the amino acid lysine with a free epsilon-amino group and is nutritionally available to the animal upon ingestion of

the protein material. It was introduced mainly to distinguish the 'available' form from the total lysine which is conventionally estimated by an amino acid analyzer and includes the 'available' as well as the unavailable lysine. At the time when correlation of amino acid composition of proteins and their nutritive values was being demonstrated, there was already some evidence that the reduced nutritive value of the protein of dried milk resulting from storage was related to the poor availability of lysine (Henry <u>et al.</u>, 1948). This was later verified by study of a casein-glucose model but also found true for other protein sources (cited by Carpenter and Booth, 1973).

Chemical methods developed for measuring available lysine content of feedstuffs were based on the reaction of the free epsilon-amino group of lysine with 1-fluoro-2, 4 dinitrobenzene (FDNB), a chemical used by Sanger (1945) for identifying the number of different N-terminal groups in proteins and peptides. The amount of available lysine was measured by quantitative determination of ξ -dinitrophenyl lysine (DNP-lysine) formed. The analytical procedure has been outlined by Carpenter (1960) and later modified by Booth (1971). Various modifications of the Carpenter (1960) procedure have been suggested for isolation of the DNP-lysine prior to spectrophotometric determination of the combound (Blom <u>et al</u>., 1967; Matheson, 1968; Holm, 1971). Roach <u>et al</u>. (1967), on the other hand, estimated the available lysine content by measuring the difference between the total lysine and unavailable lysine
content, that is the free lysine which was released on acid hydrolysis after the reaction with FDNB. Ostrowski <u>et al</u>. (1970) introduced slight changes in chromatographic conditions to improve the resolution of lysine and ornithine. Despite all of the improvements and modifications proposed for the analytical procedure, none of them is at present, considered ' faultless.

The dye-binding technique has recently been studied for its application in determining 'available lysine' content 'of protein commodities. This has led to the development of the new technique known as differential dye-binding capacity procedure. The determination is performed by measuring the amount of dye which binds with the protein before and after the free epsilon-amino group of lysine was masked by a chemical compound. The difference in DBC per unit weight of protein for the two determinations gives the equivalence of dye bound to the 'available lysine' in the protein. The modified method appears to be theoretically sound and if applied successfully would have the advantages of bypassing the cumbersome and lengthy acid hydrólysis and DNP-lysine isolation required in other methods.

Sandler and Warren (1974) were the first to put this hypothesis to test. For the selection of the reagent to mask effectively the free epsilon-amino groups of lysine, they suggested that a compound selected for such purpose should be of small molecular size to avoid steric hindrance to reaction of dye with the basic groups. Other than that, it

should react quantitatively with the epsilon-amino group without altering the basic properties of the imidazole group of histidine and guanidine group of arginine. Using ethyl chloroformate as the blocking agent, Sandler and Warren (1974) developed a practical analytical procedure for measuring the lysine content of fishmeal protein. Results obtained showed a close agreement between the differential equivalent DBC for fishmeal protein and lysine in the sample. The same procedure was found applicable to soybean meal but not suitable to gelatins.

Based on the same theoretical consideration, Jones and Lakin (1976) followed a similar procedure to estimate the lysine level of barley samples by determining the dye-binding difference (DBD) before and after blocking the epsilon-amino group of lysine with trinitrobenzene sulphonic acid (TNBS) at 40°C. A total of 24 feed barley samples were analysed. There was a strong correlation (r = 0.951) between the DBD values and their lysine levels as analysed by an amino acid analyzer. Hurrell and Carpenter (1976) used propionic acid to mask the free epsilon-amino group and measured the dyebinding capacity of samples before and after propionylation. The DBD values of the samples agreed with the available lysine levels determined by the Carpenter (1960) procedure for cereal grains, groundnut flour and soybean meal but fishmeal and meat meals usually gave lower DBD values than those obtained by the FDNB method. However, it should be noted that the differential dye-binding technique is still in

a rather early stage of development. With further refinement of the experimental conditions and selection of a suitable chemical for masking the free epsilon-amino group of lysine, the method might prove to be an indispensable tool for rapid estimation of the biologically 'available lysine' in feedstuffs.

C Experiments Conducted at The University of Alberta

a Experiment 1: Study of the Correlations Between the Crude Protein Contents and the Dye-Binding Capacities of Rapeseed Meals with Orange G and Acid Orange 12

1 Objective

The first of this series of experiments was designed to study the relationships between the crude protein contents as estimated by the Kjeldahl method and the dye-binding capacities (DBCs) of rapeseed meals (RSMs) with two dyes commonly used in dye-binding studies, namely, Orange G and Acid Orange 12.

2 Materials and Methods

Fifteen samples of RSM were assembled for the study. The samples were known to differ widely in protein contents. Thirteen of the samples were obtained from commercial rapeseed processing plants while two of the meals were produced in the laboratory. Prior to the study of DBC, the nitrogen contents of the samples were determined by the Kjeldahl procedure (A.O.A.C., 1970) and the percentages of crude protein were calculted using the conversion factor of 6.25. The moisture contents of the RSMs were determined by drying in a vacuum oven (A.O.A.C., 1970).

In connection with the determination of the contents of basic amino acids in the RSMs, 1 g samples of the meals were placed in 250 ml of flat bottom flasks fitted with a water cooled condenser and 25 ml of 6N HCl was added to each fl sk. The mixture was refluxed for 24 hours. Excess HCl was re-

moved under vacuum using a rotary evaporator. The residue was washed twice with distilled water, each time being evaporated to dryness in a rotary evaporator. The residue was made to 100 ml in a volumetric flask with de-ionized distilled water. A portion was filtered through a millipore filter attached to a syringe and the filtrate was analysed for basic amino acids using a JLC-5AH Amino Acid Analyzer (JEOL Co., Japan).

In an attempt to establish the experimental conditions required for optimal dye-protein binding, the effects of particle size and of protein:dye ratio in the mixture on the DBC of RSM with Orange G were studied. Only the effect of particle size on the DBC with Acid Orange 12 was investigated.

Particle size. Four samples of RSM were ground in a laboratory microanalytical mill to sizes which passed through 40 (0.42 mm) and 60 (0.25 mm) mesh sieves, respectively, and their uptakes of Orange G were studied by the procedure outlined by Moran <u>et al</u>. (1963). Results obtained are shown in Table 2. Statistical analysis of the data by Student's t test revealed no significant difference between the mean DBC of the 40 mesh versus the 60 mesh particle size (P<0.05).

Seven samples of RSM were ground to the particle sizes referred to above and were studied for their DBCs with Acid Orange 12 using the Udy Protein Analyzer (Udy, 1971). The results obtained showed no significant difference in the amounts of Acid Orange 12 bound by one gram samples ground to 40 or 60 mesh size (Table 3). A particle size of 40 mesh was therefore selected.

	mg Orange G bo of m	
Sample	40 mesh ¹	60 mesh
1	72.6	74.2
2	66.3	66.7
3	62.8	63.3
4	62.2	64.0
Meán ²	66.0	67.0

Effect of Particle Size of Sample on the Amount of Orange G Bound by Rapeseed Meal

~

Table 2

٠,

.,

 2 Means for DBC at 40 and 60 mesh were not significantly different (P<0.05).

·

Table 3

Effect of Particle Size of Sample on the Amount of Acid Orange 12 Bound by Rapeseed Meal

·				
	mg Acid Ora	nge 12 n of mea		-
Sample	40 mesh ¹		60 mesh	•
. 1	139.8	•	141.2	
• 2	137.4	•.	.138.5	
3	126.6	• . •	125.3	
4	124.1		124.2	
5	128.7	•	125.5	•
6	129.1	:	129.8	
7	123.7		121.3	•
Mean ²	129.9		129.4	• • • • • • • • •

 $1_{40 \text{ mesh}} = 0.42 \text{ mm}, 60 \text{ mesh} = 0.25 \text{ mm}.$

² Means for DBC at 40 and 60 mesh were not significantly different (P<0.05).

. •

.

Protein:dye ratio. Seven samples of RSM were studied for their DBCs with Orange G by the procedure of Moran <u>et al</u>. (1963). Protein:dye ratios of approximately 4:1 and 2:1 were tested for optimal binding of RSM protein with Orange G. The ratios were obtained by using 250 and 150 mg samples of RSM to react respectively with 25 ml of 0.1% Orange G solution. The results (Table 4) clearly indicated that the mean amount of Orange G bound per g of meal was significantly higher for the protein:dye ratio of 2:1 than for the ratio of 4:1. Although at both ratios, the DBC measured was highly correlated with the Kjeldahl protein levels of the meals, the ratio of 2:1 was chosen to ensure a more complete dye-protein reaction.

Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Orange G

150 mg of RSM ground to 40 mesh, was transferred to a . 60 ml polyethylene flask and 25 ml of 0.1% Orange G dye solution was delivered to the flask. (The 0.1% Orange G solution was prepared by dissolving 1 g of recrystallized Orange G in phosphate buffer solution of pH 2.2 which contained 980 ml of 0.1 M citric acid and 20 ml of 0.2 M disodium phosphate). The RSM-dye mixture was then placed on a shaker and shaken at the rate of 120 strokes per minute for 1 hour. It was then filtered through a filter cap fitted with a fibre glass filter paper and a 1 _______ aliguot of the filtrate was diluted 1:100 in a volumetric flask with distilled water.

Optical density of the diluted filtrate was recorded colorimetrically at 470 nm in a Beckman DBG Spectrophotometer. The amount of unbound dye in the filtrate was obtained from

Table 4

Effect of Protein to Dye Ratio on the Amount of Orange G Bound by Rapeseed Meal

	Kjeldahl protein (%)	gram o	G bound per of meal
Sample	$(N \times 6.25)$	1000000000000000000000000000000000000	dye ratio 2:1
1	44.8 ¹	66.1	80.9
2	40.4	62.6	73.3
3	39.8	62.4	72.6
4	36.5	56.9	66.3
5	36.6	56.0	62.8
6	36.8	57.8	62.2
7	33.9	54.1	58.7
Mean ²		59.4	68.1
1			

l Correlation coefficients between Kjeldahl protein and dye-binding capacity at protein:dye ratios of 4:1 and 2:1 were identical (r = 0.98).

 2 Means for DBC at 4:1 and 2:1 protein to dye ratios were significantly different (P<0.05).

a calibration curve prepared by determining the optical density of appropriately diluted stock dye solution over the range of 0 to 1.0 mg/ml at 0.1 intervals. Determination of the DBC of each RSM sample was done on five replicates. From the known amount of unbound dye and the sample weight, the DBC was calculated.

Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Acid Orange 12

A sample size of 250 mg of meal was used to react with 40 ml of Acid Orange 12 stock solution (1.3 mg/ml) for estimating the amount of Acid Orange 12 bound by RSM. (The stock solution was prepared by diluting Reagent Acid Orange 12 solution, Edy Co., Boulder, Colorado, with distilled This provided approximately 14 mg of protein nitrogen water). in the dye-protein mixture as suggested by Udy (1971). The DBC of the RSMs with Acid Orange 12 was determined according to the procedure of Udy (1971) by measuring the transmittance of the undiluted filtrate in a colorimeter equipped with a short light-path cuvette. The unbound dye concentration was obtained by referring the transmittance to the conversion chart provided. To allow cross-checking of the values obtained with Udy's colorimeter, the dye concentration of the same filtrate was also estimated by the spectrophotometric For this purpose, 1 ml of the filtrate was diluted method. to 100 ml with distilled water in a volumetric flask. The optical density of the diluted solution was read in a Beckman DBG Spectrophotometer at a wavelength of 480 nm. The concen-~ tration of the unbound Acid Orange 12 which remained after

removal of the dyo-protein complex was read from a calibration curve relating the optical density and dye concentration prepared in a manner similar to that used in connection with determinations involving Orange G.

3 Results and Discussion

The crude protein, dry matter and basic amino acid contents of the 15 RSM samples studied are shown in Table 5. The total amount of basic amino acids per g of RSM was also computed and presented in the same table.

The crude protein contents of the meals (N x 6.25) analysed by the Kjeldahl method were found to cover a wide range (30.1 to 44.8%). This was considered desirable. Variation in lysine, arginine and histidine contents of the different meals were of the same order. The moisture contents of the samples were relatively constant.

The dye-binding data for the RSMs tested are summarized in Table 5. For both Orange G and Acid Orange 12, the amount of dye bound to one gram of RSM decreased as the level of protein decreased. The relationship between the DBC (mg Orange G/g rapeseed meal) and the percent protein obtained by the Kjeldahl method is shown in Fig. 2. The regression equation relating DBC (x) and protein percent (Y) was:

Y = 3.91 + 0.49x.

The correlation coefficient was 0.93 and the standard deviation was 1.38% of the protein. Uptake of Acid Orange 12 by the RSMs as determined colormetrically by Udy's colorimeter and spectrophotometrically were plotted against percent

Table 5

--

.

4

7 **Crude Protein, Basic Amino Acids and Dry Matter Contents of Rapeseed Meals and Dye-Bi** Rapeseed Meals with Orange G and Acid Orange 12

Crude protein (N , 6				•					
	lde Hein	Basic	amino acid	(g/16g N)	Total BAA	Dru U	Orange G	Acid Or bound m	ange 12 g/g meal
	x 6.25) '	Lysine	Histidine		mg/g meal	معتلافة %	bound mg/g meal	udy's method	s Spectro- 10d photometric mathod
1 44	. 8	6.07	1 "						זויב רוזמם
3 40	4.		2.76	0.40 5.92	68.9 70,9	92.0	0	<u>م</u> ^	57
4 2 0	nœ	- 0	÷.				m n	44	42
		μa	ω,	· ·	6		$\frac{1}{2}$	ი ო	б. С.
36	•	3 6			<u>ب</u>			20 - 20 -	
9	•	? n			<u>.</u>		1 10	ч ч о	i.
9 9 0	œ, '	6.10					62.8	122.5	124.1
ဝပ	0 4	C4 L		. 01	:		പ്പ	5	8
9		~ α	- r	σ				5	60
34		ο σ	- r	-	_:			4 0	4
ς Γ	م	۱œ	~ α	0					
m	. 6	7	o o	ηα	•		•		
) -	Ţ	5.84	5	ა თ			•	4	
r ^l value with				۱	•		•	т.	4
٦	.00	•						<i>••</i> ,	
r value with							0.93	0.98	αο C
total BAA								•	•
	•				1.00		7 8 0		

.

0

42

.





protein and are shown in Fig. 3. Regression equations showing linear relationships between Acid Orange 12 binding (x) and Kjeldahl protein percent (Y) were: Y = 2.20 + 0.27x and Y = 0.36 + 0.28x for the colorimetric and spectrophotometric determinations respectively. The close relationship between the protein level in the RSM and the amount of Acid Orange 12 bound was clearly demonstrated by the high positive correlation coefficients (0.98 for both) obtained. The standard deviations calculated were 0.80 and 0.79% of the protein. The same data were further analysed statistically by quadratic regression analysis (Steel and Torrie, 1960) but there appeared to be no advantage for this analysis at the 5% level as compared to the linear regression. Therefore, it seems , that the linear regression equations obtained for the two dyes tested are adequate for satisfactory estimation of protein contents of RSMs.

Although for both dyes, the amount of dye bound per unit weight of RSM was linearly related to the crude protein of the meal, the use of Acid Orange 12 seemed superior to Orange G as shown by the higher correlation coefficients and the lower standard deviation for Acid Orange 12. It is also evident that the DBC as determined by direct reading of undiluted filtrate in the Udy colorimeter, is comparable to that measured by the spectrophotometer and suggests the former as the method of preference.

The fact that all the linear equations do not pass through the origin suggests that some interference with the dye-protein



ر در ۲۰ ۱۰ منه reaction by other non-protein substances was taking place. Ideally, the line represented by the linear equation for predicting protein content should pass through the origin with a correlation coefficient of 1.

Since the azosulphonic dyes used bind mainly to the basic amino acids, the absolute amount of the basic amino acids (BAA) in each meal was calculated and expressed in mg BAA/g rapeseed meal (Table 5). The correlation coefficients between DBC and BAA contents were 0.87 for binding with Orange G measured by the spectrophotometer and 0.96 and 0.97 for binding with Acid Orange 12 measured by Udy colorimeter and the spectrophotometer respectively. These results agree well with the earlier findings and support the use of Acid Orange 12 as a more suitable dye for estimation of the crude protein of RSM. A possible explanation for the less satisfactory results with Orange G as compared to Acid Orange 12 is that physical blocking of the formation of the proteindye complex might arise with Orange G due to the presence of two binding sites per Orange G molecule. Steric hindrance may prevent the complete binding of these sites.

Results recorded in this study compare favourably with values reported for other oilseed meals (Hymowitz <u>et al.</u>, 1969; Daghir <u>et al.</u>, 1969). However, the correlation coefficients obtained were slightly lower than those reported by Medina <u>et al.</u> (1976). These workers reported correlation coefficients of 0.977 and 0.995 between the nitrogen content and the amount of Acid Orange 12 bound by one gram of rapeseed flour and RSM

respectively. The correlation coefficient of 0.995 obtained for RSM in their study was based on measurements made on 12 samples of RSM which varied little in their protein contents since they were drawn from a single lot of RSM. In the present study, the RSM samples used in deriving the correlations between DBC and protein content covered a wide range of protein contents.

The practical application of the regression equation obtained for Acid Orange 12 using the Udy method will be investigated in the next experiment for mass screening the crude protein of commercial RSMs.

4 Summary

Fifteen RSMs were used to study the relationships between the Kjeldahl protein contents of the meals and their dye-binding capacities (DBCs) with the two dyes, Orange G and Acid Orange 12. The DBCs of RSM with Orange G were determined by a spectrophotometric method and the DBCs of the meals with Acid Orange 12 were measured by an Udy colorimeter and by a spectrophotometer. Correlations between DBC and percent Kjeldahl protein and between DBC and total basic amino acids in the meals were found to be highly significant. The results obtained favoured the use of the Udy method and Acid Orange 12 as the dye.

b Experiment 2:

Estimation of the Crude Protein Contents of Commercially Processed Rapeseed Meals by Dyc-Binding Capacity with Acid Orange

l Objective

This experiment was a follow-up of the previous experiment and was designed to test the applicability of the linear regression equation established in Experiment 1 for the estimation of the crude protein contents of commercial rapeseed meals (RSMs). The equation (Y = 2.2 + 0.27x) selected related the crude protein percent and the dye-binding capacity (DBC) of RSM as determined by the Udy's method.

2 Materials and Methods

A total of 126 samples of RSM were collected for the study. Most of the samples were obtained from four major processing plants. The varieties of the seeds from which the meals were produced were not known. The RSMs were numbered and reground in a cyclone mill to reduce the particle size to 40 mesh.

The RSMs were analysed for crude protein contents by the macro-Kjeldahl method (A.O.A.C., 1970) and their DBCs were determined by Udy's method (Udy, 1971) with Acid Orange 12. In addition, certain selected samples were further analysed for basic amino acids as described in Experiment 1 and for available lysine according to the procedure of Booth (1971).

3 Results and Discussion

.

The data obtained on the 126 RSMs, are summarized in Table 6. The crude protein contents of the meals varied from 32.4 to 39.08 and more than 90 of the samples were within the range of 34-378 protein. The DBCs recorded for the samples were also plotted against their crude protein percents and are shown in Fig. 4. A linear relationship between the two variables was seen but some degree of scattering was noted. The correlation coefficient between the two variables was 0.78. Although the value was highly significant (P<0.01), it was unexpectedly lower than the 'r' of 0.98 obtained from the 15 RSMs used in the preparation of the calibration curve in Experiment 1.

The predicted protein values based on their DBCs by the theoretical equation $Y = 2.2 \pm 0.27x$ where Y is the predicted protein percent and x, the DBC, are shown in Table 6. From the differences calculated between the analysed Kjeldahl protein percents '(N x 6.25) and the predicted protein percents, it appears that the predicted values over-estimated the Kjeldahl protein contents of meals when the N x 6.25 was less than 35% and under-estimated the protein contents of the meals when it exceeded 35%. The frequency distribution of the differences in protein percent are shown in Table 7. From the frequency distribution shown, it will be noted that approximately 80% of the predicted values fell within ±1% of the observed values and about 60% of them were within ±0.6%.

Ta	ьl	e	6
----	----	---	---

-

¥.

.,

٢,

Differences	Between Observed Crude Protein and Predicted Crude Percents of Rapeseed Meals Payed
Protein	Percents of Rapeseed Meals Based on Their Dye- Binding Capacities

Sample ¹	Observed crude protein (N x 6.25) a	DBC ² mg/g meal	Predicted crude protein b	Difference b-a	DBCP ³ mg/g protein
2	32.4	117.1	33.8	1.4	
2 3*	32.9	116.8	33.7	0.8	361.4
	33.2	118.0	34.1		355.0
4.	33.4	120.4	34.7	0.9	344.0
5*	34.0	124.2	35'.7	1.3	360.5
6	34.1	120.2	34.7	1.7	365.3
7	34.3	120.3	34.7	0.6	352.5
8	34.3	120.8	34.8	0.4	350.7
9	34.3	122.6	 	0.5	352.2
10	34.4	121 3 🐂		1.0	357.4
11	34.5	121.0		0.6	3.52.6
1.2	, '34.5	120.0		0.4	350.7
13	34.5	118.9		0.1	347.8
14	34.6	121.0		-0.2	344.6
15	34.6 -		9	0.3	349.7
16	34.6	119.7	3 4 <u>4</u> 5	-0.1	346.0
17	34.6	116.0	33.5	-1.1	335.5
18	34.6	121.8	35.1	0.5	352.0
]9*	34.7	120.8	34.7	0.1 .	348.0
20	34.7	125.5	36.1	1.4	361.7
21	34.8	117.3	33.9	-0.8	338.0
22	34.8	123.1	35.4	0.6	353.7
23	34.8	121.7	35.1	0.3	349.7
24*		124.8	35.8	1.0	
25	34.8	0124.2	35.7	0.9	357.8
26	34.8	123.2	35.5	0.7	356.9
27*	34.9	121.5	35.0	0.1	354.0
28	35.0	128.0	36.8	1.8	348.1
	35.0	119.8	34.5	-0.5	365.7
29*	35.1	123.2	35,5	0.4	342.3
		、 ・		0.4	351.0

Ş

.

•		
\mathbf{X}		

Table	6	(Continued)
-------	---	-------------

30 35.1 121.7 35.1 0 31 35.1 125.8 36.2 1.1 32 35.1 124.1 35.7 0.6 33 35.2 121.6 35.0 -0.2 34 35.2 121.7 35.1 -0.1 35 35.3 120.2 34.7 -0.6 36 35.3 122.5 35.8 0.5 37 35.4 123.5 35.5 0.1 $38*$ 35.4 118.0 34.1 * -1.3 39 35.4 123.0 35.4 0 40^* 35.4 117.7 34.0 -1.4 $41*$ 35.4 128.0 36.8 1.4 43 35.4 122.1 35.2 -0.2 44 35.4 122.1 35.2 -0.2 45 35.4 122.1 35.2 -0.2 46 35.5 123.3 35.5 0 47 35.5 128.0 37.0 1.5 $48*$ 35.5 117.1 33.8 -1.7 49 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 121.6 35.0 -0.7 55 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 123.3	DBCP ³ e mg/g protein	Difference b-a	Predicted crude protein b	DBC ² mg/g meal	Observed crude protein (N x 6.25) a	6 Sample ¹
32 35.1 123.6 36.2 1.1 33 35.2 121.6 35.7 0.6 34 35.2 121.7 35.1 -0.1 35 35.3 120.2 34.7 -0.6 36 35.3 124.5 35.8 0.5 37 35.4 123.5 35.5 0.1 $38*$ 35.4 118.0 34.1 -1.3 39 35.4 123.0 35.4 0 40^* 35.4 117.7 34.0 -1.4 $41*$ 35.4 119.3 34.4 -1.0 42 35.4 128.0 36.8 1.4 43 35.4 123.7 35.6 0.2 44 35.4 122.1 35.2 -0.2 45 35.4 122.4 35.2 -0.2 46 35.5 123.3 35.5 0 47 35.5 128.0 37.0 1.5 $48*$ 35.6 120.5 34.7 -0.9 50 35.6 122.2 35.5 -0.1 50 35.6 122.2 35.5 -0.1 51 35.6 122.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 123.6 <	346.7	0 .	35.1	121.7	35.1	
32 35.1 124.1 35.7 0.6 33 35.2 121.6 35.0 -0.2 34 35.2 121.7 35.1 -0.1 35 35.3 120.2 34.7 -0.6 36 35.3 124.5 35.8 0.5 37 35.4 123.5 35.5 0.1 $38*$ 35.4 123.0 34.1 $+-1.3$ 39 35.4 123.0 35.4 0 $40*$ 35.4 117.7 34.0 -1.4 $41*$ 35.4 128.0 36.8 1.4 42 35.4 122.7 35.6 0.2 44 35.4 122.1 35.2 -0.2 45 35.4 122.1 35.2 -0.2 46 35.5 123.3 35.5 0 47 35.5 128.0 37.0 1.5 $48*$ 35.5 117.1 33.8 -1.7 49 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 54 35.7 128.0 35.7 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4 59 35.8 124.5 <td< td=""><td>358.4</td><td>1.1</td><td>36.2</td><td>125.8</td><td>35.1</td><td></td></td<>	358.4	1.1	36.2	125.8	35.1	
33 35.2 121.6 35.0 -0.2 34 35.2 121.7 35.1 -0.1 35 35.3 120.2 34.7 -0.6 36 35.3 124.5 35.8 0.5 37 35.4 123.5 35.5 0.1 $38*$ 35.4 123.5 35.5 0.1 39 35.4 123.0 35.4 0 40^* 35.4 117.7 34.0 -1.4 $41*$ 35.4 119.3 34.4 -1.0 42 35.4 123.7 35.6 0.2 44 35.4 122.1 35.2 -0.2 45 35.4 122.4 35.2 -0.2 46 35.5 123.3 35.5 0 47 35.5 128.0 37.0 1.5 $48*$ 35.5 117.1 33.8 -1.7 49 35.6 120.5 34.7 -0.9 50 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 51 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 54 35.7 121.6 35.0 -0.7 55 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4 59 35.8 124.5 35.8 0	353.6		35.7	124.1	35.1	32
34 35.2 121.7 35.1 -0.1 35 35.3 120.2 34.7 -0.6 36 35.3 124.5 35.8 0.5 37 35.4 123.5 35.5 0.1 $38*$ 35.4 123.0 34.1 -1.3 39 35.4 123.0 35.4 0 $40*$ 35.4 117.7 34.0 -1.4 $41*$ 35.4 119.3 34.4 -1.0 42 35.4 123.7 35.6 0.2 44 35.4 123.7 35.6 0.2 44 35.4 122.1 35.2 -0.2 45 35.4 122.4 35.2 -0.2 46 35.5 123.3 35.5 0 47 35.5 128.0 37.0 1.5 $48*$ 35.5 117.1 33.8 -1.7 49 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 54 35.7 121.6 35.0 -0.7 55 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4 59 35.8 124.5 35.8 0	345.5		35.0	121.6	35.2	33
35 35.3 120.2 34.7 -0.6 36 35.3 124.5 35.8 0.5 37 35.4 123.5 35.5 0.1 $38*$ 35.4 118.0 34.1 $*$ -1.3 39 35.4 123.0 35.4 0 $40*$ 35.4 117.7 34.0 -1.4 $41*$ 35.4 119.3 34.4 -1.0 42 35.4 128.0 36.8 1.4 43 35.4 122.1 35.2 -0.2 44 35.4 122.1 35.2 -0.2 45 35.4 122.4 35.2 -0.2 46 35.5 123.3 35.5 0 47 35.5 128.0 37.0 1.5 $48*$ 35.5 117.1 33.8 -1.7 49 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 123.6 -2.3 57 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 124.5 <td< td=""><td>344.7</td><td></td><td>35.1</td><td>121.7</td><td>35.2</td><td>34</td></td<>	344.7		35.1	121.7	35.2	34
36 35.3 124.5 35.8 0.5 37 35.4 123.5 35.5 0.1 $38*$ 35.4 118.0 34.1 $*-1.3$ 39 35.4 123.0 35.4 0 $40*$ 35.4 117.7 34.0 -1.4 $41*$ 35.4 119.3 34.4 -1.0 42 35.4 128.0 36.8 1.4 43 35.4 123.7 35.6 0.2 44 35.4 122.1 35.2 -0.2 45 35.4 122.4 35.2 -0.2 46 35.5 123.3 35.5 0 47 35.5 128.0 37.0 1.5 $48*$ 35.5 117.1 33.8 -1.7 49 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 123.6 32.4 -2.3 57 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 124.5 35.8 0	340.5		34.7	120.2	35.3	35
37 35.4 123.5 35.5 0.1 $38*$ 35.4 118.0 34.1 -1.3 39 35.4 123.0 35.4 0 40^* 35.4 117.7 34.0 -1.4 $41*$ 35.4 119.3 34.4 -1.0 42 35.4 128.0 36.8 1.4 43 35.4 123.7 35.6 0.2 44 35.4 122.1 35.2 -0.2 45 35.4 122.4 35.2 -0.2 46 35.5 123.3 35.5 0 47 35.5 128.0 37.0 1.5 $48*$ 35.5 117.1 33.8 -1.7 49 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 54 35.7 121.6 35.0 -0.7 55 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 124.5 35.8 0	352.7	•	35.8	124.5	35.3	36
$38*$ 35.4 118.0 34.1 $4 - 1.3$ 39 35.4 123.0 35.4 0 40^{*} 35.4 117.7 34.0 -1.4 $41*$ 35.4 119.3 34.4 -1.0 42 35.4 128.0 36.8 1.4 43 35.4 123.7 35.6 0.2 44 35.4 122.1 35.2 -0.2 45 35.4 122.4 35.2 -0.2 46 35.5 123.3 35.5 0 47 35.5 128.0 37.0 1.5 $48*$ 35.5 117.1 33.8 -1.7 49 35.6 120.5 34.7 -0.9 50 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 54 35.7 121.6 35.0 -0.7 55 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4 59 35.8 124.5 35.8 0	348.9			. 123.5	35.4	37
39 35.4 123.0 35.4 0 40^* 35.4 117.7 34.0 -1.4 41^* 35.4 119.3 34.4 -1.0 42 35.4 128.0 36.8 1.4 43 35.4 123.7 35.6 0.2 44 35.4 122.1 35.2 -0.2 45 35.4 122.4 35.2 -0.2 46 35.5 123.3 35.5 0 47 35.5 128.0 37.0 1.5 48^* 35.5 117.1 33.8 -1.7 49 35.6 120.5 34.7 -0.9 50 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 54 35.7 121.6 35.0 -0.7 55 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 56^* 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4 59 35.8 124.5 35.8 0	333.3			118.0	35.4	- 38*
40^* 35.4 117.7 34.0 -1.4 41^* 35.4 119.3 34.4 -1.0 42 35.4 128.0 36.8 1.4 43 35.4 123.7 35.6 0.2 44 35.4 122.1 35.2 -0.2 45 35.4 122.4 35.2 -0.2 46 35.5 123.3 35.5 0 47 35.5 128.0 37.0 1.5 48^* 35.5 117.1 33.8 -1.7 49 35.6 122.2 36.0 0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 52 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 124.0 35.7 0.1 54 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 56^* 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 56^* 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 56^* 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 124.5 35.8 0	347.5			123.0	35.4	39
41* 35.4 119.3 34.4 -1.0 42 35.4 128.0 36.8 1.4 43 35.4 123.7 35.6 0.2 44 35.4 122.1 35.2 -0.2 45 35.4 122.4 35.2 -0.2 46 35.5 123.3 35.5 0 47 35.5 128.0 37.0 1.5 $48*$ 35.5 117.1 33.8 -1.7 49 35.6 120.5 34.7 -0.9 50 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 54 35.7 121.6 35.0 -0.7 55 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4 59 35.8 124.5 35.8 0	332.5			117.7	35.4	40*
42 35.4 128.0 36.8 1.4 43 35.4 123.7 35.6 0.2 44 35.4 122.1 35.2 -0.2 45 35.4 122.4 35.2 -0.2 46 35.5 123.3 35.5 0 47 35.5 128.0 37.0 1.5 $48*$ 35.5 117.1 33.8 -1.7 49 35.6 120.5 34.7 -0.9 50 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 54 35.7 121.6 35.0 -0.7 55 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4					35.4	41*
43 35.4 123.7 35.6 0.2 44 35.4 122.1 35.2 -0.2 45 35.4 122.4 35.2 -0.2 46 35.5 123.3 35.5 0 47 35.5 128.0 37.0 1.5 $48*$ 35.5 117.1 33.8 -1.7 49 35.6 120.5 34.7 -0.9 50 35.6 125.2 36.0 0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 52 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 124.0 35.7 0.1 54 35.7 121.6 35.0 -0.7 55 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4 59 35.8 124.5 35.8 0	337.0 361.6				35.4	42
44 35.4 122.1 35.2 -0.2 45 35.4 122.4 35.2 -0.2 46 35.5 123.3 35.5 0 47 35.5 128.0 37.0 1.5 $48*$ 35.5 117.1 33.8 -1.7 49 35.6 120.5 34.7 -0.9 50 35.6 125.2 36.0 0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 52 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 124.0 35.7 0.1 54 35.7 121.6 35.0 -0.7 55 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4 59 35.8 124.5 35.8 0	349.4				35.4	43
45 35.4 122.4 35.2 -0.2 46 35.5 123.3 35.5 0 47 35.5 128.0 37.0 1.5 $48*$ 35.5 117.1 33.8 -1.7 49 35.6 120.5 34.7 -0.9 50 35.6 125.2 36.0 0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 52 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 124.0 35.7 0.1 54 35.7 121.6 35.0 -0.7 55 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4 59 35.8 124.5 35.8 0	349.4					44 -
46 35.5 123.3 35.5 0 47 35.5 128.0 37.0 1.5 $48*$ 35.5 117.1 33.8 -1.7 49 35.6 120.5 34.7 -0.9 50 35.6 125.2 36.0 0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 52 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 124.0 35.7 0.1 54 35.7 121.6 35.0 -0.7 55 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4 59 35.8 124.5 35.8 0		•		122.4	35.4	45
47 35.5 128.0 37.0 1.5 $48*$ 35.5 117.1 33.8 -1.7 49 35.6 120.5 34.7 -0.9 50 35.6 125.2 36.0 0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 52 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 124.0 35.7 0.1 54 35.7 121.6 35.0 -0.7 55 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 115.6 33.4 -2.3 57 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4	345.8				35.5	46
48* 35.5 117.1 33.8 -1.7 49 35.6 120.5 34.7 -0.9 50 35.6 125.2 36.0 0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 52 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 124.0 35.7 0.1 54 35.7 121.6 35.0 -0.7 55 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4	347.3				35.5	47
49 35.6 120.5 34.7 -0.9 50 35.6 125.2 36.0 0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 52 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 124.0 35.7 0.1 54 35.7 121.6 35.0 -0.7 55 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4 59 35.8 124.5 35.8 0	363.4				35.5	48*
50 35.6 125.2 36.0 0.4 51 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 52 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 124.0 35.7 0.1 54 35.7 121.6 35.0 -0.7 55 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 115.6 33.4 -2.3 57 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4 59 35.8 124.5 35.8 0	329.9				35.6	49
51 35.6 122.2 35.2 -0.4 52 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 124.0 35.7 0.1 54 35.7 121.6 35.0 -0.7 55 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 $56*$ 35.7 115.6 33.4 -2.3 57 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4 59 35.8 124.5 35.8 0	338.5				35.6	50
52 35.6 123.2 35.5 -0.1 53 35.6 124.0 35.7 0.1 54 35.7 121.6 35.0 -0.7 55 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 56* 35.7 115.6 33.4 -2.3 57 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4 59 35.8 124.5 35.8 0	351.7				35.6	51
53 35.6 124.0 35.7 0.1 54 35.7 121.6 35.0 -0.7 55 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 56* 35.7 115.6 33.4 -2.3 57 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4 59 35.8 124.5 35.8 0	343.3				35.6	52
54 35.7 121.6 35.0 -0.7 55 35.7 123.3 35.5 -0.2 56* 35.7 115.6 33.4 -2.3 57 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4 59 35.8 124.5 35.8 0	346.1				35.6	53
5535.7123.335.5-0.256*35.7115.633.4-2.35735.7127.636.71.05835.8126.036.20.45935.8124.535.80	348.3				35.7	54
56*35.7115.633.4-2.35735.7127.636.71.05835.8126.036.20.45935.8124.535.80	340.6				35.7	55
57 35.7 127.6 36.7 1.0 58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4 59 35.8 124.5 35.8 0	345.4		•		35.7	56*
58 35.8 126.0 36.2 0.4 59 35.8 124.5 35.8 0	323.8					57
59 35.8 124.5 35.8 0	357.4				35.8	58
	352.0					59
60 35.8 125.0 35.9 0.1 ⁻	347.8			125,0	35.8	60
	349.2					61
62 25 0 100 5 55.0 -0.8	339.4					
63* 35.8 120.5 34.7 -1.1 63* 35.8 122.4 35.2 -0.6	336.6 341.9					63*

Sample ¹	Observed crude protein (N x 6.25) a	DBC ² mg/g neal	Predicted crude protein b	Difference b-a	DBCP ³ mg/g protein
64	35.8	126.5	36.4	0.6	353.4
65	35.8	124.	35.7	-0.1	346.4
66	35.8	123.6	35.6	-0.2	345.3
67	35.9	126.8	ە تە	0.5	353.2
68	35.9	123.8	35.6	-0.3	344.8
6 9	35 0	126.8	36.4	. 0.5	353.2
70	35.9	124.4	34.8	-0.1	346.5
71	35.9	121.0	34.9	-1.0	337.0
72	36.0	121.5	· 35.0	-1.0	337.5
73	35.0	120.6	34.8	-1.2	335.0
74	36.1	123.1	35.4	-0.7	341.0
75	36.1	125.7	.36.1	0	348.2
76	36.1	127.3	36.6	0.5	352.6
77	36.1	125.0	35.9	-0.2	346.3
78	36.2	127.2	36.5	0.3	351.4
79	36.3	125.3	36.0	-0.3	345.3
80	36.3	123.2	35.5	-0.8	339.4
81	36.3	127.3	36.6	0.3	350.7
82	36.3	128.1	36.8	0.5	352.9
83	36.3	127.3	36.6	0.3	350.7
84	36.4	123.8	35.6	-0.8	340.1
85	36.4	124.9	35.9	-0.5	343.1
.86	36.5	124.6	35.8	-0.7	341.4
87	36.5	130.0	37.3	0.8	356,2
88	36.5	127.0	36.5	0	347.9
89	36.5	129.0	37.0	0.5	353.4
90	36.5	128.1	36.8	0.3	351.0
91	36.6	128.1	36.8	0.2	350.0
92	36.6	126.0	36.2	-0.4	344.3
93 <u>_</u>	36.7	130.6	37.5	0.8	344.9
94	36.7	128.4	36.9	0.2	349.9
95*	36.8	124.0	35.7	-1.1	337.0
96	36.8	121.8	35.1	-1.7	331.0
97	36.8	124.4	35.8	-1.0	338.0

Table 6 (Continued)

52

~)

53 ;

1

¢

ŧ	Observed crude protein	DBC ²	Predicted crude	-	
Sample ¹	(N x 6.25) a	mg/g meal	protein b	Difference b-a	DBCP ³ mg/g protein
98*	3F.9	130.8	37.5	0.6	
99	36.9	128.0	36.8	-0.1	354.5
100	37.0	128.4	36.9	-0.1 \0.1	4 346.9
101	37.0	129.1	37.1	0.1	347.0
102	37.0	125.2	36.0	-1.0	348.9
103*	37.0	130.0	37.3		338.4
104	37.0	125.4	36.1	0.3 -0.9	351.4
105	37.0	129.0	37.0	0.9	338.9
106	37.1	126.0	36.2		348.6
107	37.1	129.6	37.2	-0.9	339.6
108	37.3	124.3	35.8	0.1	349.2
109 ·	37.3	129.7	37.2	-1.5 0.1	333.2 348.0
110.	37.3	125.0	35.9	1.4	
111	37.4	128.7	36.9	-0.5	335.1
112*	37.4	128.4	36.9	~0.5	344.1.
113*	37.6	124.1	35.7	-1.9	343.3
114	37.7	128.6	36.9	-0.8	330.1
115	37.7	132.8	38.1	0.4	341.1
116	37.7	130.4	37.4	-0.3	352.3
L17*	37.9	130.6	37.5	-0.4	345.9
L18	37.9	127.2	36.5	-1.4	344.6
19	37.9	134.1	38.4	0.5	335.6
20*	38.0	127.2	36.5	-1.5	353.8
.21	38.1	129.3	37.1	-1.0	334.7
22	38.1	130.8	37.5	-0.6	339.4
23	38.2	134.5	38.5	0.3	343.3
24	38.4	134.5	38.5	0.1	352. <u>1</u>
25*	38.6	135.5	38.8	0.2	350.3
26	39.0	136.1	38.9	-0.1	351.0
ean	35.93	124.64	35.85	0.T	349.0 347.00

ς

Samples with asterisk were selected for further basic amino acids and available lysifie analyses.

.

J

²Dye-binding capacity of rapeseed meal.

1.5

يني. مو

³Dye-binding capacity of protein of rapeseed meal. ð



			ν.				<u>.</u>					
, .			Ř.*		Tab]	le 7						
•	Freque Pred Capac	ncy I icted city	Distri 1 Prot Equat	but ein ion	and	of th epts obse ents	e Dif by t rved	fer he Crud	ences Dye-H le Pr	s Bety Bindir Coteir	ween ng n	
	Differe	nce	betwe	en j	predi	cted			······ ~		<u>-</u>	
	and obs	Serve	d val	lues	5 (8)		Υ.		F	reque	ncy	
	-2.6	to	-2.2							1		- .
• *	-2.2	to	-1.8							1		
	-1.8	to	-1.4							7		
	-1.4	to	-1.0							11		
	-1.0	, to	-0.6						x	14		
i sere	6 .	to	-0.2		,		L.	ī		18		
	-0.2	to	/0.2	• •	- ⁻					30		
No.	0.2	to	0.6				- 2			27		
	0.6	to	1.0	- * * * -						9		
		to.	1.4	ي ار (ال						5		
· ·	1.4		1.8	n mene		-			аг. ¹⁹	3	· · · · ·	
	•		<i>i:</i> -	ен С					· · · · ·		د. ·	I

· · · · ·

The reasons(s) for the differences between the predicted protein percents and the analysed values are not known but might be due to the presence of RSMs amongst the samples that had total basic amino acid contents higher or lower than what might be considered as normal. To examine this possibility, the amount of Acid Orange 12 which bound with one gram of RSM protein was calculated for the samples screened. This was done by dividing the DBC of each meal by its corresponding protein percent and the value was designated as the dye-binding capacity of the protein (DBCP) to distinguish it from the DBC of RSM. The data are shown in Table . It was found that the DBCP of the RSM samples ranged from 23.8 to 365.7 mg Acid Orange 12 per g protein and average mg per g protein. The frequency distribution of the DBCP values are shown in Table 8.

It would appear from Table 8 that RSM protein usually binds with Acid Orange 12 in the range of 335-355 mg per g protein. However, samples which bound less than 335 or more than 355 mg of Acid Orange 12 per g protein were noted and amounted to approximately 20% c the samples. Since Acid Orange 12 binds only with basic groups of protein, the observation of RSMs with atypical DBCP values suggested that some of the RSM samples contained total basic amino acids in amounts that deviated from usual amounts present in RSM protein. Of the basic, amino acids, lysine known to be most susceptible to destruction by heat treatment. It seemed possible, therefore, that some of the variation noted in the DBCP of the samples

Table 8

•

Frequency Distribution of the Dye-Binding Capacity of the Protein of Rapeseed Meal

			12/g protein	Frequency
37() to	365		2
. 365	to	360		5
360	to	355		8
355	to	350	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	. 31
350	ţo	345		35
345	to	340		19
340	to	335		17
335	to	330	ана на селото на село Селото на селото на с Селото на селото на с	. 7
330	to	325	۹	1,
325	tọ	320		1

.0

(

۰

57

0

of RSM may have reduced the lysine content in the protein of the meals as a result of excessive heat treatment during commercial processing of the rapeseed. As a consequence, it was decided to further examine the relationship between DBCP and the basic amino acid composition of the RSM samples. Twenty-one RSMs covering a wide range of DBCP were selected from the 126 samples for the study. The basic amino acid contents of the meals are presented in Table 9. Correlation coefficients relating the various parameters recorded or calculated are shown in Table 10.

From the correlation coefficients tabulated, the total basic amino acid contents (TBAA) were found to correlate significantly with the DBCP of the RSMs (r = 0.86, Table 10). Of the three basic amino acids analysed, the TBAA was closely related to the lysine and arginine levels but was fittle affected by the histidine level of the protein. Correlation between DBCP and lysine level of the protein was also highly significant (r = 0.84, Table 10). The lysine level of the selected RSMs decreased from 6.28 to 4.78 g/l6g N whereas the DBCP dropped from 365.7 to 323.8 mg Acid Orange 12 per g protein (Table 9).

The results obtained from the basic amino acids analysis support the earlier assumption that the amount of dye bound ato one gram of RSM protein was largely determined by the number of basic groups present in the protein available for binding. Consequently the difference between the observed and predicted protein percent varied among the RSM samples

Table 9

•

,

ļ

• .

					Table	6				
	crude Pi	crude Protein, Basic Amino	Amino Acids,		Dye-Binding Capac	Capacities and Ave leals	Available Ly	Lysine of	Seigcted R	Rapeseed
		Observed			-					
		crude		Ĥ	asic, amino a	acids (a/16 a	N.			
	Sample	protein (N x 6,25)	mg/g	Lysine	Arginine	54 jul 4 no	~!	DBCP	Availa	lable lysine
	1	32	r b				T.BAA	mg/g meal	mg/g meal	mg/g protoin
	20	34.0	124.2	6.22 6.06	500	•	14.62	10	1.	
	ראי ר גיי ר	34.7	25.				4	1 10	nι	0
	ינה				6.16	2.87	14.93	361.7	17.5	48,9 7
	, Q	36.9	ີ່ຕ	-		-		പ്പം	- m) ***
	7		- -	-			া প্ৰাৰ	20	m	* ~
	8		• ~				• . 	4		2
·	ۍ ہ ,	38.6	ທີ່			-	•	Ω.	10	~
	, u ,	37.0				-	•	7:		~ ~
	11	37.9			•		•	1:	~	
	7 T C	•		•	<u> </u>	~			-	-
			22	• • •	~ -	÷		7 7		
	י ה אור	•	2			••••	Ψ.	, (•
	1 Y		119.3		1. I.		•	11	-	•
¢	17	58°U	127.2	- CD	~ u	- (-	~	•	•
Ì	18	•) –	ρι	-	4	•	•
	19		-	\sim	• ~	א ה	പ്	m	•	
	20	•	N r	lo.	ഹ	Ωu	?	3	•	
	21		115 6	~ .		o ιc	<u>ה</u> נ	0	• •	•
			• • •	-			, 4			
	Jmetel .	Care a	2				•			37.8
	TOLAL DAI	TOTAL DASIC AMINO® A TT							:	
		בֿ		. /						

١

59

17. A.

Table 10

Correlation Coefficients Between Values Reported in Table 9

• •

					,	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	n		
	Observed crude	DBC		Basic amino	o acids			oldelieve	
	protein (N x 6.25)	mg/g meal	Lysine	Arginine	Histidine	TBAA	DBCP mg/g		THE TASING
Observed crude	1						protein	meal	mg/g protein
Procein (N x 6.25)	1.00	0.67	-0.12	-0.01	-0.12				
ubc mg/g meal	0.67	1.00	0 57		·	+ • >	0 * • 0	0.35	-0.9
Lysine	-0-		•	10.0	0.27	0.60	0.38	0.83	0.63
Arginine			1.00	0.89	0.27	0.97	0.84	0.72	0.82
Histidine		T9.0	0.89	1.00	0.36	0.95	0.76	0.70	0.75
TBAA		0.27	0.36	0.36	1.00	0.47	0.46	°.33	~ ~
DBCP mg/g protein	07.0-	0.60	0.97	0.95	0.48	1.00	0.86	0.74	0.83
		0.38	0.84	0.76	0.46	0.86	1.00	0.58	62.0
Available lysine	- General Anno - Anno -			• • • •					•
mg/g meal	0.35	0.83	С <u>с</u> с				·		
mg/g protein			7.0	00	0.33	0.74	0.58	1.00	6 U
	ro.o-	0.63	0.82	0.75	0.38	0.83	0.79	0.92	
)) 1
	2 1								
									•

60

1

÷)

يتر.

studied, depending on the amount of dyes bound to a unit weight of protein. Above the average of 347 mg/g protein, the predicted value over-estimated the protein content of the meal and vice versa. The high correlations between the DBCP and the total basic amino acids particularly lysine further suggests that DBCP of a sample is a good measure of the protein quality of the meal.

To verify the protein quality predicted by DBCP, the same RSM samples were assayed for available lysine contents. The available lysine contents of the RSMs, expressed as mg per g meal and mg per g protein, are shown in Table 9. The values have been adjusted for loss of dinitrophenyl-lysine (DNP-lysine) during the acid hydrol is in the determination. The correlation coefficient between DBC and mg available lysine per g meal of the samples was 0.83 and that between DBCP and mg per g protein was 0.79. In both cases, the correlation coefficients were highly significant (P<0.01). The results thus showed agreement in protein quality estimation of the RSM samples by the DBCP and the available lysine methods.

Although numerous regression equations relating a single dye-binding characteristic and Kjeldahl protein percent have been reported for various protein-rich food and feedstuffs, as reviewed previously, few have been critically tested for practical applicability. However, results from numerous comparative studies of the Udy Protein Analyzer and Kjeldahl method reported in the literature were in favour of the use

of the dye-binding method for routine analysis (Olson and Heiges, 1962; Hymowitz <u>et al</u>. 1969; Parial <u>et al</u>. 1970). The use of the DBC determination for estimating the crude protein of RSM appears to over-estimate samples with protein contents below 35% but under-estimated, in most instances, when the protein contents of the samples were above 35%.

The high correlation between DBC and available lysine content of the RSMs was comparable to that reported for fishmeals by Carpenter and Opstvedt (1976). These workers found a high correlation between the DBC and available lysine of eight fishmeals and the protein qualities of these samples were confirmed in chick bioassay. In the present study, the size of the RSM samples received was inadequate to permit their use in biological assays and as a result, the predicted nutritional values of the selected RSMs could not be verified biologically.

4 Summary

The linear equation relating the DBC and Kjeldahl protein of RSM obtained in Experiment 1 was applied to 126 samples of RSM for estimating the protein contents of the meals. Results obtained indicated that the predicted protein percent by the dye-binding technique over-estimated the protein contents of meals in the lower protein range but under-estimated those in the higher protein range. A further study of selected meals revealed, however, that the deviation was caused mainly by the presence of samples having atypical basic amino acid compositions. The dye-

binding capacity of RSM protein was found to correlate highly with the lysine and available lysine contents of the meals, indicating the potential of the use of dye-binding capacity per g protein as a protein mality index for RSM.

,

c Experiment 3:

The Effect of Moist Heat on the Dye-Binding Capacity of Rapeseed Meal with Acid Orange 12

1 Objective

In Experiment 2, it was found that the presided protein content obtained by using the dye-binding equation underestimated the crude protein percent for some RSM samples. It was felt that this was due to a lower than average level of total basic amino acids in these samples. This was reflected in a reduction in the amount of Acid Orange 12 bound to a unit weight of RSM protein (DBCP). Since excess heat treatment seemed to be the most likely cause of the reduction in basic amino acids in these meals it was decided to study in this experiment the effect of heating meal in an autoclave for various periods of time on the DBC of the resulting meals. The adverse effect on the nutritional quality of the meals was also assessed by chemical determination of the available lysine in the meals.

2 Materials and Methods

Eight commercial RSMs comprised of two Bronowski, two Span and four Tower meals were used in this study. Each meal was divided into seven portions of approximately 1 lb each. Portions of each meal were autoclaved at 121°C for 0, 15, 30, 45, 60, 90 and 120 minutes. Untreated and autoclaved meals were analysed for crude protein and for their DBC with Acid Orange 12 as described previously. RSM samples autoclaved for 0, 30, 60, 90 and 120 minutes were further analysed for available lysine by Booth's (1971) procedure.

3 Results and Discussion

The crude protein contents (1 5,25) of the samples as determined by the Kjeldahl procedure are presented in Table 11. A small decrease in percentage of protein was noted in a few of the samples autoclaved for 120 minutes.

The uptakes of Acid Orange 12 by the RSMs are tabulated in Table 12 and shown graphically in Fig. 5, plotted against the duration of autoclaving at 121°C. Autoclaving at 121°C for as long as 30 minutes did not affect the ability of the meals to bind Acid Orange 12. Decrease in DBC, however, became apparent when the duration on heat treatment reached 45 minutes and the DBC continued to decline as the treatment was prolonged. The data were analysed by one-way analysis of variance and significant differences among treatment means were compared using Duncan's Multiple Range test (Steel and Torrie, 1960). It was found that the mean DBC of the RSMS autoclaved at 121°C for 90 minutes was significantly lower than those of meals treated for 45 minutes or less (P<0 $^{\circ}$ 5). Increasing the duration of treatment beyond 90 minutes did not further reduce the DBC of the meals significantly. To determine whether the rates of decrease with time in DBC differed among the eight RSMs studied, statistical analysis of homogeneity of regression coefficients of DBC with time was computed. The results indicated that the Span RSM (S2) showed the largest decline in DBC after 120 minutes of heat

Table 11

i Ng

į s

Crude Protein Percent of Rapesced Meals Autoclaved at 121°C for Various Periods of Time

• • •

1

.

¢

		•	Autoclav	Autoclaving time, minutes	minutes		
Sample	P	15	30	45	. 60	06	120
Bronowski (B1)	39.5	40.0.	39.5	39.6	40.0	40.9	38.8
Bronowski (B2)	37.5	36.6	37.7	37.0	37.1	- 37.4	36.3
Span (Sl)	35.6	36.0	36.0	36.1	36.1	36.3	36.2
Span (B2)	35.0	35.1	35.1	34.8	34.8	35.4	34.0
Tower (T1)	36.4	36.6	35.4	36.5	36.2	36.7	35 . 5
Tower (T2)	36.0	35.7	36.3	35.5	35.4	36.3	35.5
Tower (T3)	34.6	35.3	35.5	34.5	34.8	35.4	35 . 8
Tower (T4)	30.1	29.0	29.8	29.8	29.4	30.6	0.05

1

۰.,

66

۰. _س

÷
102 102 102 103 103 103 101 85 85	Dye-Binding Capacity ¹	of	Rapeseed	IADIE 12 1 Meals Aut 0f Time	.2 Autoclaved a le	at 121°C for	r Various	Period	
vski (B1) 140.1 139.5 139.6 137.4 135.3 127.8 129 vski (B2) 131.5 132.8 131.5 126.8 124.0 117.0 112 (S1) 125.5 124.0 121.6 118.6 115.5 108.1 102 (S2) 124.5 123.8 122.7 120.3 115.9 106.1 97 (T1) 124.5 127.0 120.6 121.2 115.2 109.1 102 (T2) 121.6 123.4 121.2 117.5 112.9 106.9 103 (T3) 124.2 123.8 119.9 117.5 112.9 106.9 103 (T4) 103.7 103.1 103.8 100.7 96.1 88.7 85. (T4) 124.4 124.7 ^a 122.6 ^a 120.0 ^a 116.3 ^{ab} 108.0 ^{bc} 104.	ample	•	1.5	Aut o slav 30			0.0	120	
124.4 ^a 124.7 ^a 122.6 ^a 120.0 ^a 116.3 ^{ab} 108.0 ^{bc} 104.	vski vski (Sl) (S2) (T1) (T2) (T2) (T3)	140.1 131.5 125.5 124.5 124.5 124.5 124.2 124.2 103.7		139.6 131.5 121.6 122.7 120.6 121.2 129.9 119.9 103.8	137.4 126.8 118.6 120.3 121.2 117.5 117.5 117.5 117.5		127.8 117.0 108.1 106.1 106.9 100.4 88.7		¢р Х
,	ean ²		124.7		120.0 ^a		108.0 ^{bc}	104.4 ^C	

2

"

.

67

Ċ. , î

。 う 載う





treatment whereas the Bronowski RSM (B1), was least affected by the heat treatment. (The protein quality status of the RSMs was also studied. The DBCP calculated for the treated RSMs (Table 13) paralleled that of the DBC of the meals. The mean DBCP decreased from , ீ \$50 mg dye/g protein for the untreated RSMs to 295 mg dye/ g protein for meals autoclaved for 120 minutes. As was the case for DBC ecreases in DBCP were noted in some RSMs treated for only 30 minutes. Statistical analysis of the DBCP data showed that the mean DBCP of RSMs autoclaved for 45 minutes was significantly lower than those of meals treated for 15 minutes or receiving treatment but higher than those autoclaged for 60, 90 pand 120 minutes (P<0.05).

 \mathcal{P}_{i}

These results clearly indicate that prolonged heat treatment of RSM reduces bethethe DBC and the DBCP of meals without materially reducing the crude protein (N x 6.25) contents of the meals. Hence the DBC or DBCP of such RSMs would not yield a reliable estimate of the protein contents of the RSMs.

In the study on the effect of autoclaving the RSMs for 0, 60, 90 and 120 minutes at 121°C, it was found (Tables 14 and 15) that available lysine contents of the RSMs were significantly reduced when treated for 60 minutes and continued to decline at 90 and 120 minutes.

Correlation coefficient between DBC and available lysine (Tables 12 and 14) of the RSMs was 0.84 and that between DBCP and mg available lysine/g protein (Tables 13 and 15) was 0.94.

69

• · · · ·	· ·	ا مىلى ب	70
121°C for	120	332.5 309.8 283.6 286.2 288.7 288.7 292.1 284.5 284.5 285.9	295.4 ^d
Autoclaved at 12	6	312.6 312.8 312.8 297.4 294.5 294.5 289.6 289.6	298.5 ^d cent (P<0.05)
Meals	time, minutes 45 60	338.2 334.0 320.1 333.3 333.3 333.3 333.3 333.3 333.7 333.7	b 327.7 ^c 2 protein. antly different
apeseed of Time	Autoclaving tin 30 45	3.5 346.8 3.5 342.6 7.8 328.2 7.8 328.2 3.5 345.2 3.1.9 .1 331.6 .9 341.0 .1 337.7 v	34%.6 ^{ab} 338.1 ^b 3 d per g of RSM prot tot significantly
Table 13 Te Protein of R Arious Periods	15, Aut	349.1 353 362.6 348 344.3 337 352.7 349 346.8 331 445.7 334 45.7 334 55.2 348	50.9 ^a 12 boun
r'l of ti ∫	0	354.7 350.6 356.7 356.7 356.7 337.8 337.8 337.8 337.8 337.8 3344.5 344.5 344.5 344.5	Acid Orange same supersci
Dye-Binding Capacity		<pre>/ski (B1) /ski (B2) (S1) (S1) (S2) (T1) (T2) (T3) (T3) (T4) </pre>	
Dye-B.	Sample	3 3	Mean ⁴ Expressed as r Means with the
A CARACTER AND A CARACTER ANTICARACTER A			•



్టా

 \mathbb{C}^{n}

5.3



Ś

÷,

3

Available Lysine Content^{1,2} of Rapeseed Meals Autoclaved at 121°C for Various Periods of Time

		Autocla	ving time	, minut¢	S
Sample	0	30	60	90	120
Bronowski (Bl)	~22.6	20.2	17.4	14.0	12.7
Bronowski (B2)	20.2	.6.9	14.8	سر و	11.3
Span (Sl) '	18.2	14.2	12.0	7.	6.0
Span (S2)	18	17.3	12.5	8.3	5.4
Tower (Tl)	17	16.2	12.7	10.8	8.6
Tower (T2)	16.8	16.4	15.4	11.7	8.9
Tower (T3)	19.4	17.0	12.5	7.3	6.5
Tower (T4)	15.7	13.2	10.6	9.3	7.4
Mean ³ ,	18.6 ^a	16.4 ^a	13.5 ^b	10.1 ^C	8.3 ^C

Expressed as mg available lysine per g of RSM.

The correlation coefficient between the tabulated values and the corresponding dye-binding capacities of the meals was 284.

³Means with the same superscript were not signficantly different (P<0.05).

		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
		Autocla	ved time,	minute	5
Sample	0	30	60	90	120
Bronowski (Bl)	57.1	51.1	43.4	34.2	32.8
Bronowski (B2)	53.9	44.9	39.7	31.7	31.0
Span (Sl)	51.2	39.3	33.3	21.0	16.0
Span (S2)	51.8	49.3	36.0	23.6	15.9
Tower (Tl)	48.3	44.4	35.1	29.5	24.1
Tower (T2)	46.7	45.3	43.5	52.1	25.0
Iowar (T3)	56.0	48.0	35.9	32.1	25.0
Tower (T4)	52.0	44.3	36.1	30.4	24.5

Available Lysine Contents^{1,2} of the Protein of Rapeseed Meals Autoclaved at 121°C for Various Periods of Time

Table 15 '

125 17.

¹Expressed as mg available lysine per g of RSM protein. ²The correlation coefficient between the tabulated values and the corresponding dye-binding capacities of protein of the meals was 0.94.

Both coefficients were highly significant (P<0.01).

Although the highly positive correlation between DBC and available lysine seemed to suggest that the ability of the RSM to bind Acid Orange 12 was a reliable means of detecting the decrease in protein quality of the RSMs with increasing time of autoclaving, the degree of protein damage measured by the dye-binding method and by the available lysine determination for the same meal seemed to differ. In comparing the decreases in DBC and available lysine of the autoclaved RSMs, the DBC and mg available lysine/g meal were expressed as percentages of those of the corresponding unheated meals and the results are presented in Table 16. From the tabulated percentages, it will be seen that the available lysine levels in the RSMs declined more rapidly than the DBCs for the same meals. The available lysine contents of the meals were decreased appreciably by autoclaving the meals for as short a time as 30 minutes while the DBCs of the meals were only slightly affected. The differences became more marked as the duration of heat treatment increased. The mean reduction from 120 minutes of autoclaving was 16% in DBC as compared to 55% in available lysine content. This difference might be caused by the continued binding between Acid Orange 12 and the damaged basic amino groups through some unknown secondary mechanisms other than electrovalent attraction.

Several reports in the literature have demonstrated the adverse effect of heat treatment either by autoclaving or by oven-heating on the dye-binding ability of various feedstuffs

ģ. .

2

1

۲

Ś.

Comparison of Dye-Binding Capacities and Available Lysine Contents of Rapeseed Meals Expressed as Percentages of the Untreated Mealsl

	Autočlaving time, minutes	minutes	
Sample 0	60		
Bronowski (Bl) 100		ע	120
Bronowski (B2) 100		91.2 (62.0)	92.0 (56.4)
		89.0 (58.8)	85.6 (55.9)
•	ן ת	86.1 (41.9)	81.9 (31.7)
(T1)	(95.5) 93.1 (69.0)	ed. 85.2 (46.0)	78.2 (29.7)
(T2)	96.9 (91.8) 92.5 (72.1)	87.7 (61.6).	82.4 (48.7)
(T3)	99.66. (97	87.9 (69.3)	85.2 (52.8)
	.4)	8 (13 3 3 3 3 3 3 8 1 3 8 1 3 1 3 1 3 1 3 1	82.1 (33.7)
	ال100.1 (84.4) 92.7 (67.7) و100.1	.6 5 9.4)	٢
Mean			(4.04) 1.20
DOT	98.5 (88.6) 93.4 (72.6) 8	86.7 (54.6)	2 11 1 2 2 8
•			(2.44) /.00
rercents in parenthesis refer value the untreated meal	to available lys	ssed as percentage	΄ų C
			AYE UL LAE

Ì

74

3

ż,

Ç

ş.

 \mathcal{D}

(Choppe and Kratzer, 1963; Moran et al., 1963; Udy, 1971). The adverse effect of autoclaving on the DBC of RSMs recorded in The present study agreed well with the findings of the bovo workers. As an example, Udy (1971) reported decrease DBCP of soybean meal protein from 378 to 367 mg Acid Orange g protein after 1 hour of oven heating at 130°C. This is dequivalent to a reduction of 3%. For RSMs autoclaved for 1 hour at 121°C, the mean DBCP decreated from 349.6 to 327.7 mg Acid Orange 12/g protein, a reduction of 6.3%. The close correlation between the amount of Acid Orange 12 bound by the protein of commercial RSM and the available lysine of the protein of the same RSMs also compared favourably with findings for other feedstuffs (Hurrell and Carpenter, 1975; Carpenter and Opstvedt, 1976). The differences in rates of decrease in DBC and available lysine as a result of autoclaving of RSM agree with the findings reported by Hurrell and Carpenter (1975). They found that groundnut meals heated in an autoclave at 121°C for 1 and 4 hours bound 1030 and 920 mmole Acid Orange 12/kg crude to as compared to 1060 mmole for the unheated meal. The decreases were equivalent to 3 and 13% of the control value. For available lysine the corresponding decreases were 8 and 50% respectively. The basic amino acids of the RSMs were not determined in the present study and the reduction of number of basic groups available for binding with Acid Orange 12 as a result of autoclave heating was not known.

4 Summary

0

The dye-binding capacities (DBC) and protein quality of RSMs which were heated in an autoclave at 121°C for various periods of time were studied. The results indicated that heating RSMs adversely affected their ability to bind Acid Orange 12. In this regard, a decrease in the DBC of the meals was noted with as short an autoclaving period as 30 minutes and the DBC of the meals decreased as the autoclaving time increased.

The protein quality of the RSMs, as estimated by the DBC of the protein of the meals also decreased with increasing time of autoclaving. In this connection the DBCP of the RSMs was significantly decreased after 45 minutes of heating in the autoclave and continued to decline as the duration of heat treatment was prolonged.

The protein quality of the RSMs, as measured by available lysine contents of the meals, decreased with increasing length of time that the RSMs were heat treated. The percentage decrease in available lysine as a result of the heat treatments was greater than the percentage decrease in DBCP. This would suggest that where protein quality predictions are made on heat-damaged feedstuffs, measurement of available lysine would give a more reliable measure of protein quality than measurement of the DBCP.

76

d Experiment 4:

Evaluation of Protein Quality of Commercially Produced and Laboratory Heat-Damaged Rapeseed Meals by the Dye-Binding Method and by Biological Assay with Chicks

77

1 Objectives

The purpose of this study was to examine the DBCPs of both commercially produced RSMs and meals which were deliberately heat-damaged in the laboratory and to determine whether a relation in existed between the protein quality index as predicted by the dye-binding method and by biological assay using chicks as the experimental animals.

Materials and Methods

i Protein quality evaluation of rapeseed meals by the dye-binding method

Eighty commercial RSMs obtained from four processing plants (20 from each) were screened for their DBCs with Acid Orange 12. The meals were collected over a 10 day period with one sample obtained in the morning and one in the evening of each day. One sample from each processor is each day as provided in quantity adequate for biological is a purpose. The latter were samples of evening collections from three plants and morning collections from the remaining plant.

In addition small quantities of Tower RSM were deliberately heat-damaged by autoclaving at 121°C for 1/2, 1, 2 and 4 hours. The autoclaved meals, as well as the original sample of Tower RSM, were tested for DBC with Acid Orange 12.

The crude protein contents of all RSM samples were defined by the Kjeldahl procedure (A.O.A.C., 1970). ii Biological evaluation of the protein quality of rapeseed meals by the total protein efficiency method Two chick growth trials were conducted to study the relationship between the protein quality of the RSMs as predicted by dye-binding and by chick growth. The chick growth trial employed for evaluating the protein quality was the total protein efficiency (TPE) method developed by Woodham (1967).

In growth Trical 1, the selection of the commercial RSMs for the biological a say was restricted by several factors and as a consequence was difficult to make. Firstly although 80 RSMs were screened in the DBC study only 40 of them were available in sufficient quantity for biological evaluation. Secondly, the differences found in the DBCPs of RSMs collected at one plant in the 10 day collection period were relatively small. For the ten samples received from this processor (Plant 1, Table 21) the difference was only approximately 10 mg dye pergg protein. The differences for the remaining three processors were about 20 mg dye per g protein. The commercial RSMs eventually selected for the chick growth trial were the eight samples representing the pair of meals with the highest and lowest DBCP values from each processing plant. In theformulation of the experimental rations, the RSMs which showed the highest DBCP from Plants 2 and 3 were, however; found inadequate to provide the 12% protein required in the

test ration. In these cases, the meals having the second highest DBCP values were used.

In growth Trial 2, the five Tower RSMs were used in the bioassay.

79

The experimental rations used in the two trials were formulated to contain 18% crude protein of which 12% was provided by the test supplement (RSM) and the remaining 6% by the cereal grains, corn, wheat and wheat shorts (Tables 17 and 18). The rations were isonitrogenous and approximately isocaloric.

In Trial 1, 240 two week old chicks were selected from a flock of Hubbard broiler-type male chicks (Dominant White male White Plymouth Rock female) which had been fed a balanced starter ration. The selected chicks were allotted into groups of 10 birds each such that the total body weight, of birds in each group was approximately the same. Three groups of chicks were fed each of the eight rations shown in Table 17.

In Trial 2, 150 Shaver broiler-type male chicks were selected as described above and three groups of chicks were fed each of the five rations shown in Table 18.

At the end of the 14 day experimental periods, the feed intakes and body weights of the groups were recorded. The total protein efficiency (TPE) of the test feedstuffs was calculated as the weight gain of the chicks divided by the total weight of the protein eaten by the chicks.

Table 17

ł

•	× .	
mposition of Rations Used in Growth Trial 1		-
Compo		

1

Jan Star

<u>)</u>,

Thursday		Kations	TOILS			
-210		3 4	٩	9	2	000
RSM ² 34.03 Cellulose 2.97	0 63.00 3 34.33 7 2.67	63.00. 65.00 36.50 34.55. 0.50 24.55	63.00% 33.59 3.41	63.00 31.55 5.45	63.00 36.70 0.30	63.00 * 34.55 3.15
Calculated Analysis: '						
/kg259	2597	2611 2631	2584	2575	2631	2601
Protein, % 18.01 Ca, % 1.04 P, % 0.79		, ,	داع. 01 1.04	18.01 1.04	.18.01 1.06	18.01 1.05
0	а.	U.80 0.81	0.78	0.78	0.81	0.79

*

vitamin D3, 1000 IU; Vitamin E, 10 IU; Vitamin premix supplied per kg ration: Vitamin A, 5000 IU; Pyridoxine hydrochloride, 4, 2 mg; folic acid, 0.55 mg; calcium pantothenate, 15.4 mg; nicotimic acid, 44 mg; biotin, 0.1 mg. 6

 2 RSM in rations 1 and 2 were from Plant 1, 3 and 4 from Plant 2, 5 and 6 from Plant 3 and 7 and 8 from Plant 4.

.

20

• 52

20

. O

				·	•	
	·		Rations	· ,		
Ingredients	1	2	3	4	5	
Ba sal²	63.00	63.00	63.00	63.00	63.00	
$RSM^3 - 0 hr^4$	30.73	-	·	À	. –	
RSM - 1/2 hr	-	30.73	· _	, 	_	
RSM - 1 hr			30.73	- -		
RSM - 2 hr			<u> </u>	30.73	<u> </u>	
SM - 4 hr	· _	-	- <u></u>	· <u>-</u>	30.73	
ellulose	6.27	6.27	6.27	6.27	6.27	
		·				

-đ

2

²See Table 17.

- 1

3 The rapeseed meal used was Tower meal which contained 39.04% of crude protein as determined by Kjeldahl method.

⁴Time autoclaved at 121°C.

The basic amino acids of the RSM samples selected for the protein quality evaluation in both trials and the amino acids composition of the rations used in the two trials were analysed by the procedure described in Experiment 1.

3 Results and Discussion

i Protein quality evaluation of rapeseed meals by the dye-binding method

The crude protein contents estimated by the Kjeldahl procedure and the DBCs of the 80 commercial RSMs are summarized in Tables 19 and 20. The data were subjected to a simple correlation analysis and it was found that the correlation coefficient between the DBCs and crude protein contents of the RSMs was highly significant (r = 0.84).

To evaluate the protein quality of the RSMs, the DBCPs were calculated and tabulated in Table 21. The data on DBCP were analysed statistically by multiway analysis of variance. (Steel and Torrie, 1960). From the results shown in Table 22, it is apparent that there were no significant differences in the amounts of Acid Orange 12 bound to the protein of RSMs produced by the different processing plants. However, the DBCPs of the RSMs collected in the morning and the evening were significantly different (P<0.05). The DBCPs of the RSMs collected from the same plant over the 10 day period were not tested for their difference among day of collection since only single samples were obtained in the morning or evening within the same day.

.

Crude Protein Contents^l of Commercial Rapeseed Meals from Four Processing Plants

.

 $\hat{}$

I I Morning Evening 33.8 35.2 33.8 35.2 35.1 35.3 34.7 33.8 34.7 34.9 34.7 34.9 34.7 34.9 34.7 34.9 34.7 34.9 34.7 34.9 35.3 34.0 35.9 35.7	Evening	1			
EveningMorning35.235.235.335.235.335.235.335.235.735.735.731.5					
35.2 35.2 35.3 35.4 35.3 35.4 34.9 31.3 34.9 31.3 34.7 32.0 34.8 34.5 34.0 34.7 35.7 31.5	Evening	m			۰, ۲
8 35.2 35.2 35.2 1 35.3 35.4 7 33.8 32.8 1 34.9 31.3 7 34.9 31.3 34.9 31.3 34.9 31.3 34.6 34.5 35.7 34.6 35.7 31.5		Morning .	Evening	Morning	Evening
1 35.3 35.4 7 33.8 35.8 1 34.9 31.3 1 34.9 31.3 7 34.7 32.0 34.8 34.7 32.0 34.8 34.5 34.5 3 34.8 34.5 3 34.0 34.7 3 35.7 31.5	35.7	35.8	2 2 2 2		
7 33.8 32.8 1 34.9 31.3 7 34.7 32.0 34.8 34.5 3 34.6 34.5 3 35.7 31.5				1.55	34.1
1 34.9 32.8 1 34.9 31.3 7 34.7 32.0 34.8 34.5 34.8 34.5 34.0 34.7 35.7 31.5	ָ	36.3	35.7	34.4	34.2
1 34.9 7 34.7 34.8 34.0 35.7	34.7	. 33,5	35.5 35	7 25	
7 34.7 34.8 34.0 35.7	33.7	د 24		· · ·	0.15
34.8 34.0 35.7	, , ,	•	0.05	33.6	34.0
34.8 34.0 35.7	34.8	36.8	36.3	33.4	32_8
3 34.0 9 35.7	33.9	36.4	26 J	t c c	
5.9 35.7 5.5	α Lic			32.1	33.5
		0.05	. 6°2°	33.5	33.1
	32.9	36.2	34.7	33.5	34 0
33°3	34.3	35.5	36 6		•
35.8 35.7 34.5	·		• >	53. Y	33,1
	34.9	37.7	36.3	33.9	33.6

•

. 83

-

.

,

Ł,

The Dye-Binding Capacities^{1,2} of Commercial Rapeseed Meals with

Acid Orange 12

Morning Eve	'Evening	Morning	Evenina				4
			הימודווט				
				and	Evening	Morning	Evening
121.3 12	124.6	122.2	122.8	~ -			
125.6 125	5.9	123.6	а 711 А		1 • C • T	118.5	117.2
123.1 117	K (9 - / 7 7	L26.7	117.8	117.
	۲ • ·	7.011	117.1	126.4	123.4	ן 16 ב	- - -
117.8 123.3	3.2	110.8	121.9	129 F	۱ ۲ ۳) • • •	• 7 7 7
124.4 124.	4.2	116.8		•	C./21 .	116.9	116
	(л • 1 • Л	129.7	126.4	117,3	115.
	6.0	124.7	122.0	128.9	127 0	0 ר ר	
124.3 121	121.8	125.7	123 0	נ ר ר		8./11	116.
127.2	Ċ)) 1	C•/7T	125.7.	116.3	117.8
7.07T 7.12-	7.0	115.8	114.3	125.8	123.2	, , ,	1
125.6 125.2	5.2	118.8	120.8) - - 	· · · / TT	. 120.6
126.4 175)) 1	7 Z D - 8	125.3	118.4	115.
		6.911	123.2	123.4	123.2	118.6	11627
)

The Dye-Binding Capacities¹ of the Protein of Commercial Rapeseed Meals with Acid Orange 12

ŗ,

•	•			2				4
Day	Morning	Evening	Morning	Evening	Morning	Evening	Morning	
	358.6	353.9	347.3	344.1	357.0	348.8	351.5	
5	358.1	357.0*2	349.2	358.3*	352.1	54.	42.	
м [́]	354.5	347.1*	354.4	337.2*	376.9	347.9	345.1	353.2
4.	355.9	352.5	354.5	361.4	377 . 6	335.3*	യ	
ъ	358.3	357.0	364.8	355.9	352.9	348.6	350.9	
9	355.4	347.1	361.9	357.6	353.7	349.7	60.	• • 30
7	352.2	354.9	362.6	343.3	348 • 3	50	2 9 7 F	
ω	354.1	353.0	366.4	346.9	347.1	355.4	י נר	
6	353.2	346.4	356.5	351.9	357.	- 4	0 4 0	
10	352.3	351.2	350.4	35.38		339.8	350.4	247.8

85

²Rapeseed meals marked with an asterisk were selected for feeding trial 1 with chicks.

Table 22

Analysis of Variance of DBCP of Commercial Rapeseed Meals

		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Source of variance	Degree of freedom	Sum of square	Mean square	F-value
Plant	3	284.7	94.9	1.91
Day/plant	36	1973.6	49.8	-
Time	1	370.4	370.4	6.55 [*] * ¹
Plant x time	3	155.6	51.9	0.92
Time/day/plant	36	2035.7	56.9	

¹Significantly different at P<0.05.

 $\mathbb{C}\mathbf{V}$

· _

The crude protein contents, DBC and DBCP data on the Tower RSMs **g**utoclaved for different periods of time at 121°C are presented in Table 23. Statistically, a highly negative correlation was found between the DBCs of the meals and the duration of autoclave treatment (r = -0, 95). This result clearly demonstrated the inverse relationship between the length of time the meal was autoclaved and its ability to bind Acid Orange 12. The DBC and DBCP data of the autoclaved meals were not analysed statistically since a single sample of each meal was used in the determination of DBC. However, the amount of Acid Orange 12 bound to the Tower meal autoclaved for only 30 minutes was considerably reduced as compared to that of the untreated Tower meal (136.6 vs 127.8 mg dye/g meal and 349.9 vs 326.9 mg dye/g protein). By the time the meal was heated for 4 hours, the DBC and DBCP values were only 77% of the control value. Thus, the protein quality of these autoclaved meals appeared severely damaged.

ii Biological evaluation of the protein quality of

rapeseed meals by the total protein efficiency method The growth data (Trial 1) are summarized in Table 24. The means for TPE for the eight RSMs evaluated ranged from 2.22 to 2.47. The TPE means were analysed statistically by one-way analysis of variance and it was found that there were no significant differences among the mean TPE values of the eight RSMs evaluated (P<0.05), nor was there a significant correlation between the DBCP and the TPE obtained. Since the results of the growth trial failed to show any positive relationship between the protein quality index as predicted

Table 23

Protein Contents and Dye-Binding Capacities of Tower Rapeseed Meals Autoclaved for Different Periods of Time at 121°C

.

đ.

·····	· · · · ·		
Autoclave treatment hr at 121°C	Crude protein %	DBC, mg dye per g meal	DBCP, mg dye per g protein
0	39.0	136.6 ¹	349.9
1/2	39.1	127.8	326.9
1	39.0	119.8	307.3 _ý
2	39.0	113.6	291.6
4	. 39.0	104.0	267.1

Correlation coefficient between DBC and autoclaving time was -0.95 and was highly significant (P<0.01).

Summary of Results of Growth Trial 1¹

					•
Ration ²	DBCP, mg dye/g protein	Weight gain, g/group	Feed intake, g/group	Crude protein eaten, ³	
1	357.0	0026		dno 16 /6	TPE'
 C		DAOC	8302	1494	2.47
7	347.1	3291	7993	1439	
m	358.3	3322	8198	1476	7
4	337.2	3345	8208	1477	2.25
۰. د	354.8	3168	7933	1428	2.26
9	335.3	3647	8467	1524	2.22
٦.	360.2	3516	8286		2 . 39
ω	342.3	3300	7985		2.36
s.е.м. ⁵	••				- 8-30
5 6		0011	±157.3	+28	+0.05
		16	16	16	У
The means of weig replicate groups.	of weight gain, fe groups.	feed intake, crude	protein saten	and TPE were averages of	of three
ee Table 1.	See Table 17 for composition of rations.	of rations.	•		
The amount of crude p 4 The means were not side 5	of crude protein are not significa	vrotein eaten was calculated on gnificantly diffèrent (P<0.05)	calculated on the basis Frent (P<0.05).	s of 18% in the ration.	
Standard error of the	the		•		
PUTED OF FU					

6 Degree of freedom.

•

,

by the dye-binding method (DBCP) and the TPE measured biologically, the RSMs and rations used were further analysed for their contents of basic amino acids. The analytical results are shown in Table 25. The levels of lysine in the RSMs seemed to be in good agreement with the DBCPs calculated. Within each pair of RSMs from the same plant, the meal having a higher DBCP contained a higher level of lysine expressed as However, neither the levels of lysine in the RSMs g/16g N. nor in the rations explained the lack of relationship between the DBCPs and TPEs. The probable cause could be that despite the differences in DBCPs noted among the meals used in the protein evaluation, the lysine levels (ranged from 5.13 to 6.03 g/l6g N) were adequate to support comparable growth.

The data for growth Trial 2, in which the effect of laboratory autoclave treatment on the protein quality of Tower RSM was evaluated, are presented in Table 26. The DBCPs of the meals and the mean TPEs, analysed by a simple correlation analysis, were highly correlated (r = -0.96), indicating a decreasing TPE values with decreasing DBCP Weight gain and feed intake also declined with values. declining TPE values. The TPE data were further subjected to one-way analysis of variance followed by Duncan's Multiple Range test (Steel and Torrie, 1960) and it was found that all of the TPE means for the five Tower RSMs were significantly different from each other (P<0.05). However, the decrease in protein quality of the RSMs as demonstrated biologically occurred at a faster rate than the decline in DBCP as a function of autoclaving duration.

83

ry Table 25

Basic Amino Acid Composition of Rapeseed Meals and of Experimental Rations Used in Growth Trials 1 and 2

.

/

• •

,

Trial ²			E H	Basic amino ac	acids in RSM ¹	•	Basica	amino acids in	ration ¹
	Ration	LBCP OF RSM	Lysine	Histidine	Arginine	TBAA	Lysine	1 0	1 .
щ	Ļ	357.0	5.90	2.74	5.65	14.29	5 0 2	C T C	
ч.	7	347.1	5.81	, , ,		• •	20.0	7.19	5.36
. 1) ~	200	H (0) • (0) • (1)	4	11.0	14.30	4.83	2.65	5.25
1 -	۰ ۱	5.9CC	6.03	2.71	5.56	14.30	4.99	2.76	ר ר ני נ
,	4a 4	337.2	5.70	2.54	5.42	13.62	4.88		
	S	354.8	5.43	2.76	5.74	13.93			, 23 . C
Ч	9	335.3	5.21	2.58	0 V 5		•	2.75	5.05
Ч	7	360.2	5 7 7		- I - I - I	13.28	4.57	2.78	5.22
-	0		•	2.0Y	5.65	13.73	4,75	2.79	5.22
4	Ø	342.3	5.13	2.60	5.55	13.28	4.56	7 75	
	-		et.						77°C
2	Ч	349.9	5.41	2.71	C a v				
5	2	326.9	4.59	(3 6)		76.01	4.88	2.84	5.42
2		c 202	•	T0 • 7	۰.c ک	12.74	4.17	2.74	5.20
ç) •		4.23	2.60	5.19	12.02	3.75	2.81	9 L V
7	4	291.6	3.33	2.51	4.40 - 1/	10.24	ΒC Γ		0 · ·
7	S	267.1	2.54	2.43	2000		5 1 4 1 5 (6 ° 3 3	4.36
						CX•7	2.76	2.81	3.41
1 The hack		Ithe basic amino acida							
	י מוודווס מר	Xa ALLE EX	pressed as	1 g/16g N.	۱۰ ۲۰ ۲۰	, , ,			
"See Tables	s 17 and	17 and 18 for RSMs u	sed	in trials.			•		
		·				۲. 	,		
							Ú M		

. . .

91

Summary of Results of Growth Trial 2^1

1448 1438 1351 1292 1095 ±36 10	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$M_{\rm entropy} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 349.9 & 3599 & 8049 & 1448 \\ 1/2 & 326.9 & 2959 & 7987 & 1438 \\ 1 & 307.3 & 2549 & 7507 & 1351 \\ 307.3 & 2549 & 717^2 & 1292 \\ 4 & 291.6 & 1366 & 717^2 & 1292 \\ 4 & 267.1 & 618 & 6085 & 1095 \\ 6 & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & &$	Ration ²	Autoclave treatment, hr at 121°C	DBCP, mg dye/g protein	Weight gain, g/group	Feed intake, g/group	Crude ³ protein g/group	4 4 × 4
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	-1	0	349.9	3599	8049	1448	2.48
$ \frac{1}{F.6} \frac{307.3}{F.6} \frac{2549}{1366} \frac{7507}{717} \frac{1351}{1292} \frac{1292}{1095} \frac{4}{F.6} \frac{267.1}{F.6} \frac{618}{10} \frac{6085}{10} \frac{10}{10} \frac{10}{10} \frac{10}{10} $	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0 0	1/2	326.9	2959	798.7	1438	2.06
$ \frac{1}{F.6} \frac{2}{F.6} \frac{291.6}{4} \frac{1366}{267.1} \frac{1366}{618} \frac{717}{6085} \frac{1292}{1095} \frac{1}{265} \frac{1}{265} \frac{1202}{236} \frac{1}{236} \frac{1}{10} \frac{10}{10} \frac{10}{10} $	 ² 291.6 1366 717 1292 ⁴ 267.1 618 6085 1095 ⁴ 267.1 5 ±202 ±36 ¹⁰ 10 10 10 ¹⁰ 10 10 ¹¹ ¹⁰ 10 ¹¹ ¹⁰ ¹⁰ 	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	າ ເ	- 	307.3	2549	7507	1351	1.89
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	4 267.1 618 6085 1095 .M. ⁵ ±65 ±202 ±36 6 10 10 10 10 neans of weight gain, feed intake, crude protein eaten and TPE were TPE were replicate groups. 10 TPE were	.M. ⁵ 4 267.1 618 6085 1095 6 ± 65 ± 202 ± 36 10 10 10 10	3 ", L	7	291.6	1366	717-	1292	1.06
± 6 ± 65 ± 202 ± 36 10 10 10 10	6 ±65 ±202 ±36 6 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	.M. ± 65 ± 202 ± 36 6 10 10 10 10 10	ບ ເ ເ ເ	4	267.1	618	6085	1095	0.57
10 10	. 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	10 10 10 t gain, feed intake, crude protein eaten and TPE were	о 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		•	+65	±202	±36	±0.05
	neans of weight gain, feed intake, crude protein eaten and TPE were nree replicate groups.	means of weight gain, feed intake, crude protein eaten and TPE were replicate groups.	•			10	10	10	, 10

 $^3 \mathrm{The}$ amount of crude protein eaten was calculated on the basis of 18% crude ⁴The means were significantly different from each other (P<0.05).

⁵Standard error of thé means.

 $\epsilon^{<}$

⁶Degree of freedom.

Thus, differences in the protein quality of commercial RSMs and deliberately heat-damaged RSMs have been clearly demonstrated. Rapeseed meals of commercial origin, despite their difference in ability to bind Acid Orange 12, were not measurably different in protein quality whereas 30 minutes of heating RSM in an autoclave at 121°C not only reduced its ability to bind Acid Orange 12 but had an adverse effect on chick growth. A comparison of the basic amino acid contents of the heat-treated RSMs and the commercial meals showed that the lysine content in the heat-treated Tower RSM was reduced by heating for as short a time as 30 minutes, from 5.41 to 4.59 g/l6g N and further to 3.33 and 2.54 g/l6g N after 2 and 4 hours of heating in the autoclave at 121°C. Of the other basic amino acids, arginine was affected to a similar degree to lysine, from 5.8 g/l6g N in the untreated meal to 2.98 g/l6g N after 4 hours of treatment. In the case of the meal heated for only 30 minutes, the lysine level of 4.59 g/ 16g N was lower than that found in any of the commercial meals.

The lower lysine and arginine contents of the autoclaved RSM were also reflected in the basic amino acid composition of the test rations (Table 25). The lysine levels of the rations (4.17 to 2.76 g/l6g N) containing autoclaved Tower RSMs were all below the lysine levels of the rations (4.53 to 5.02 g/l6g N) containing the RSM that was not autoclaved or the commercial

RSMs. Similar decreases in arginine but not in histidine were noted in the rations containing the meals heated in the autoclave from 1 to 4 hours.

94

It appeared that only RSMs with DBCP equal to or less than 326.9 mg dye/g protein were sufficiently inferior in the protein quality to permit detection biologically. Nevertheless, the overall findings from the feeding trials in the present study were in favour of the use of the dye-binding technique coupled with macro-Kjeldahl protein determination as a laboratory means of predicting the protein quality of RSMs, particularly of meals that may have been heat-damaged.

In the discussion above, the lack of difference in protein quality among the commercial RSMs but apparent among the autoclaved Tower meals were explained by the differences in dietary lysine levels in the rations. The presence of glucosinolates which are potentially growth depressing in the meals themselves was not considered. In this respect, the level of glucosinolates in the RSMs was more important in the interpretation of the TPE data obtained from Trial 1 where commercial high glucosinolate type RSMs were used. The exact glucosinolate contents of these meals were not known. This was further confounded by the fact that the percent of RSMs incorporated into the eight rations varied according to the protein percent of the meals (Table 17). Therefore, it was not known to what extent variation in the glucosinolate content of the rations affected the growth performance of the chicks. On the other hand, the influence of glucosinolates on the chick growth and on TPE was less important in the second trial since the RSM used was from Tower rapeseed known to contain a glucosinolate level approximately one-tenth of that found in high glucosinolate rapeseed (Stefansson and Kondra, 1975). Secondly, the five Tower meals, although autoclaved for various lengths of time, were derived from the same batch of RSM and were incorporated into the rations at the same level. The unknown levels of glucosinolates in the commercial RSMs might therefore be partially responsible for the poor agreement between the prometing up the type of type

Studies on the nutritional quality of RSM reported to date have been aimed at establishing the optimal replacing levels of RSM for soybean meal in practical poultry feedings. Few studies have been undertaken to compare the protein quality of different RSMs. In an earlier study, Hill (1974) compared the nutritional quality of RSMs prepared by different oil extraction processes against soybean meal. Using a modified TPE method, RSM samples were used to supply 11% of the 17% protein in the test rations and the results showed that four of the nine RSMs evaluated gave TPE values significantly lower than the control soybean meal ration. These RSMs were not assayed for protein quality by any chemical means. The inferior protein quality of t: RSMs could not be explained by their chemical compositior or by glucosinolate contents.

The lack of correlation between the protein quality index as obtained by the dye-binding technique and by the TPE method for the commercial RSMs has been discussed. On the other hand, the highly positive correlation recorded for the laboratory heat-damaged Tower RSMs was in agreement with those reported for soybean meals by Moran <u>et al.</u> (1963) and for barley by Mossberg (1966).

4 Summary

Two chick growth trials were undertaken to investigate the relationship between the protein quality index of commercial RSMs and laboratory heat-damaged RSMs as predicted chemically by the dye-binding method and biologically by the total protein efficiency (TPE) method. Results obtained from the study indicated that commercial RSMs which bound Acid Orange 12 from 335 to 360 mg/g protein were not significantly different in protein quality as shown in the chicks growth assay. However, the dye-binding technique was able to distinguish RSMs of inferior protein quality caused by heat particularly those heated in the autoclave for more than 30 minutes. RSMs with DBCP equal to 327 mg Acid Orange 12/g protein or less were of lower protein quality as shown by chick growth assay. The TPE values recorded from RSMs heated for various lengths of time ranked in the same order as the DBCP and were a function of heating time.

The Effects of Heating Laboratory Prepared Rapeseed Meal in an Autoclave or an Oven for Varying Periods of Time on Protein Denaturation in the Rapeseed and the Feasibility of the Dye-Binding Method for Measuring Such Denaturation

1 Objectives

The last of this series of dye-binding studies was-toinvestigate the use of the dye-binding technique as a measure of protein denaturation in RSMs caused by various autoclave or oven heat treatments.

2 Materials and Methods

Raw rapeseed (<u>B. campestris</u> var. Span) was crushed in a laboratory blender with dry ice and its oil was extracted with hexane for 24 to 30 hours in a Soxhlet type extractor. The RSM prepared was then ireeze-dried under vacuum to remove the water in the meal. The moisture content was reduced to 2% by this procedure.

The freeze-dried RSM was divided into several equal portions and distilled water was added to bring the moisture contents of the meals to 10, 20, 30 and 40%. The samples of RSM with the different moisture contents including the 2% freeze-dried meal were further subdivided into five portions and transferred to an autoclave or an oven preheated to 121°C. The RSMs were heated for 15, 30, 60, 120 and 240 minutes. After the heat treatments, the samples were frozen in a freezer at -20°C and those meals with moisture levels before heating above 10% were again freeze-dried to remove the excess water. However, the freeze-drying in this instance was terminated when the moisture contents of the meals were reduced to 8 to 9%. The RSMs were reground to 40 mesh and stored in dessicators for chemical analyses.

The crude protein contents, moisture contents and DBCs with Acid Orange 12 of the RSMs were analysed as described in previous experiments. Available lysine contents of the RSMs were also determined.

The degrees of protein denaturation in the RSMs resulting from the two types of heat treatment for different periods of time were estimated by nitrogen solubility of the heated meals in water as follows: 2 g of RSM reground to a particle size of 60 mesh was weighed and transferred to a 250 ml conical flask. One hundred ml of distilled water was added to the flask and the meal was dispersed thoroughly with a stirring rod. The flask was sealed with parafilm and placed on a mechanical shaker. The mixture was shaken for 2 hours at the rate of 160 strokes per minute. The flask with its contents was allowed to stand for a few minutes and 60 ml of the solution was decanted into a centrifuge tube. The tube was centrifuged for 20 minutes at 2500 rpm. Two 25 ml aliquotes of the supernatant were assayed for soluble nitrogen by the Kjeldahl procedure (A.O.A.C., 1970). The amount of soluble nitrogen was expressed as percent of the total nitrogen in the RSM.

3 Results and Discussion

The degree of protein denaturation in the Heated RSMs as measured by their nitrogen solubility (NS) is presented in Table 27 and shown graphically in Fig. 6. The data for

5
2
ð
1
д
d
H

3

Effect of Heating Rapeseed Meal in an Autoclave or Oven for Various Periods of Time on the Solubility of the Nitrogen of the Meals in Waterl,2

MOISture, &	heat	15	30	30 60 120	120	240
2	A	18.5	17 0			
	··· () 	0 • / Ŧ	8.01	9.4	8.3
	D	34.0	29.6	12.2	5.5	ר ה
0 1	А	16.8	12.7	h. 3	8.6	а 1 1 1
	0	24.3	19.4	14.4	1,7	, (, , , ,
20	A	14.8	7.7	7.4	0.6	· · 6
	0	23.1	21.8	13.6		
30	A	8.2	8.4	8.7		
	O	24.5	16.5	, y 11		L4.2
40	A	8.4	8.9	D • • •	α	6.9
	0	25.6	14.1			15.2
			$\left(\right)$		ו- י	8.7

÷ŋ,

²The nitrogen solubility of the defatted RSM without treatment was 33.68.

ł

0 = oven. ³A = autoclave;

.-

,





NS were analysed statistically by a multiway analysis of variance. The results indicated that the NS of the RSMs was significantly affected by the three factors studied, namely, the form of heat applied to the meals, the moisture level in the meals and the duration of heat treatment. The treatment effects on the NS of the RSMs could be summarized as follows: . decreases in NS were noted in all heated meals except the RSM which was oven-heated for only 15 minutes; when compared to meals which were oven-heated for 1 hr or less, meals which were autoclaved for 1 hour or less showed a greater reduction of NS but the effects were reversed when the heating duration was extended to 2 and 4 hours (Fig. 6).

If one used NS as a measure of denaturation it would appear from the data that some denaturation occurred with as little as 15 minutes of heat treatment in the autoclave whereas it took 30 minutes of heating in the oven to reduce NS. Protein denaturation was at its maximum when the RSMs were autoclaved for 1 hour or oven heated for 2 hours. The level of moisture present in the meals also affected the extent of protein denaturation. When the denaturation of heat treatment was short, the presence of high moisture aggravated protein denaturation but appeared beneficial when treatment duration was prolonged.

In addition to recorded NS, changes in color of the meals as a result of the heat treatments were noted. A brownish color began to develop in RSMs autoclaved for as

for 30 minutes. The color development intensified in direct relationship to heating time. Intensity of color development has been related to the degree of protein denaturation in soybean meal during heat treatment by Beckel <u>et al</u>. (1942).

To study the effects of the three factors on the dyebinding capacity of the protein (DBCP) of the RSMs, the crude protein and DBC of the meals were determined and the DBCP with Acid Orange 12 were calculated as in previous experiments. The data are tabulated in Table 28 and shown graphically in Fig. 7. In order to examine the relationship between the degree of protein denaturation and the corresponding binding ability of the RSM protein with Acid Orange 12, the correlation between the DBCP data and NS was determined (r = 0.63). Although the correlation obtained was highly significant (P<0.01), examination of the graphs in Figures 6 and 7 showed that there were some differences in the degree of protein denaturation as measured by NS and by DBCP for the same RSM samples. From the two figures shown, the rates of decrease in DBCP and of NS for RSMs differed for meal subjected to the same heat treatment. The DBCP of autoclaved RSMs showed little decrease in the first 15 minutes of heating but declined sharply thereafter until 2 hours of heat treatment was reached. Continued heating in the autoclave did not further reduce the DBCP of the meals. This observation was in direct contrast to the NS of the same autoclaved RSMs in which a reverse in NS were noted when the heating duration was longer than 2 hours. For the oven-heated RSMs, the rate
L

Dye-Binding Capacities of the Protein of Rapeseed Meal Heated in an Autoclave or Oven-for Various Periods of Timel,2

•

15 368.5 369.2 352.8 352.8 352.8 352.2 352.2 352.2 351.6 351.6 357.2 357.2 reatment was 0range 12 per		Formof		Duration	Duration of heating, minutes	minutes	
A -368.5 367.0 353.1 282.6 0 369.2 367.2 352.7 310.1 A 352.8 333.2 352.7 310.1 A 352.8 333.2 302.5 253.5 0 352.8 333.2 302.5 253.5 0 352.2 346.9 331.5 268.4 A 342.4 312.7 297.1 258.9 0 350.4 342.0 329.4 290.6 A 329.5 307.5 304.3 286.6 A 329.5 307.5 304.3 286.6 A 351.6 334.2 315.4 305.1 A 351.6 334.2 315.4 305.1 A 351.6 334.2 315.4 305.1 A 351.6 335.6 291.2 335.1 A 357.2 350.5 312.4 325.1 2 B 0 357.2 350.5 332.4 325.1 2 B 60 350.5 <th></th> <th>heat^j</th> <th>15</th> <th>30</th> <th>60</th> <th>120</th> <th>240</th>		heat ^j	15	30	60	120	240
0 369.2 367.2 352.7 310.1 A 352.8 333.2 352.5 253.5 0 352.2 346.9 331.5 258.9 0 352.2 346.9 331.5 268.4 A 342.4 312.7 297.1 258.9 0 350.4 342.0 329.4 290.6 A 342.6 312.7 297.1 258.9 0 350.4 342.0 329.4 290.6 A 329.5 307.5 304.3 286.6 A 329.5 307.5 314.2 216.6 A 329.5 307.5 329.4 290.6 A 325.0 323.6 291.2 0 348.8 335.0 323.6 291.2 0 348.8 335.0 323.6 291.2 0 357.2 350.5 315.4 325.1 0 357.2 350.5 332.4 325.1 0 357.2 350.5 332.4 325.1 0 357.2 350.5 332.4 325.1 0 357.2 350.5 332.4 325.1 0 357.2 350.5 332.4 325.1 0 357.2 350.5 332.4 325.1 0	2	A	368.5	367.0	353.1 ⁻	282.6	279 5
A 352.8 333.2 302.5 253.5 0 352.2 346.9 331.5 268.4 A 342.4 312.7 297.1 258.9 0 350.4 342.0 329.4 290.6 A 329.5 307.5 304.3 286.6 A 329.5 307.5 304.3 286.6 A 351.6 334.2 315.4 305.1 2 A 351.6 334.2 315.4 305.1 2 A 351.6 334.2 315.4 305.1 2 A 357.2 350.5 332.4 325.1 2 e of heat treatment was 121°C. 332.4 325.1 2 as mg Acid Orange 12 per g protein. 0 350.5 332.4 325.1 2		0	369.2	367.2	352.7	310.1	
0 352.2 346.9 331.5 268.4 A 342.4 312.7 297.1 258.9 0 350.4 342.0 329.4 290.6 A 329.5 307.5 304.3 286.6 0 348.8 335.0 323.6 291.2 2 A 351.6 334.2 315.4 305.1 2 A 351.6 334.2 315.4 305.1 2 A 357.2 350.5 332.4 325.1 2 e of heat treatment was 121°C. 332.4 325.1 2 as mg Acid Orange 12 per g protein. 0 350.5 332.4 255.1 2	10	Ą	352.8	333.2	302.5	253.5	253.5
A 342.4 312.7 297.1 258.9 O 350.4 342.0 329.4 290.6 A 329.5 307.5 304.3 286.6 A 351.6 335.0 323.6 291.2 A 351.6 334.2 315.4 305.1 A 351.6 334.2 315.4 305.1 O 357.2 350.5 332.4 325.1 e of heat treatment was 121°C. 332.4 325.1 as mg Acid Orange 12 per g protein. O O Oven.		0	352.2	346.9	331.5	268.4	0
0 350.4 342.0 329.4 290.6 A 329.5 307.5 304.3 286.6 0 348.8 335.0 323.6 291.2 A 351.6 334.2 315.4 305.1 A 351.6 334.2 315.4 305.1 A 351.6 334.2 315.4 305.1 B 0 357.2 350.5 332.4 325.1 e of heat treatment was 121°C. as mg Acid Orange 12 per g protein. O Ore oven.	20	A	342.4	312.7	297.1	258.9	0.002 0.770
A 329.5 307.5 304.3 286.6 O 348.8 335.0 323.6 291.2 A 351.6 334.2 315.4 305.1 A 351.6 334.2 315.4 305.1 O 357.2 350.5 332.4 325.1 e of heat treatment was 121°C. as mg Acid Orange 12 per g protein. 0 = oven.		0	350.4	342.0	329.4	290.6	
0 348.8 335.0 323.6 291.2 A 351.6 334.2 315.4 305.1 0 357.2 350.5 332.4 325.1 e of heat treatment was 121°C. as mg Acid Orange 12 per g protein. o o	30	A	329.5	307.5	304.3	286.6	
A 351.6 334.2 315.4 305.1 O 357.2 350.5 332.4 325.1 e of heat treatment was 121°C. as mg Acid Orange 12 per g protein. o oren.		0	348.8	335.0		•	8.102
 a 351.6 334.2 315.4 305.1 b 357.2 350.5 332.4 325.1 e of heat treatment was 121°C. as mg Acid Orange 12 per g protein. O = oven. 	40		-	•	0.070	291.2	251.0
0 357.2 350.5 332.4 325.1 e of heat treatment was 121°C. as mg Acid Orange 12 per g protein. O = oven.	2	A .	351.6	334.2	315.4	305.1	280.6
e of heat treatment was 121°C. as mg Acid Orange 12 per g protein. O = oven		0 :	357.2	350.5	332.4	325,1	296.5
as mg Acid Orange 12 per g protein. O = oven.	The temperatur	e of heat tr	eatment was	121°C.	î.		
0 = oven.	Unit of DBCP w	as	range 12 pe				Q
	A = autoclave;	0					

103

,

۰.

ł

· 1



104

<u>A</u>

of decrease in DBCP was slow in the RSMs heated for 15 minutes to 1 hour but was rapid from then until the lowest DBCP was reached at the end of 4 hours of heating. Statistical analysis of the DBCP data showed that the ability of the RSM protein to bind Acid Orange 12 was significantly affected by the three factors studied, the length of heating being the most important one.

The available lysine contents of the heat treated meals expressed as mg/g protein are presented in Table 29. The determinations were undertaken mainly to estimate the nutritive values of the heat-treated RSMs and to make comparisons between nutritive and DBCP values. The tabulated available lysine data have been adjusted for the loss of DNP-lysine during the analytical procedure. Similar to the observed decreases in DBCP, available lysine levels in the RSMs were significantly reduced by increasing the time of heat treatment (P<0.01). The rate of decreases in available lysine was dependent mainly on the duration of heat treatment. However, oven-heating appeared to be less detrimental than autoclaving to available lysine content. On the other hand, it was noted that high levels of moisture in the RSMs decreased the adverse effects of heat treatment on the available lysine contents of the meals. The correlation coefficient (r = 0.90)between the DBCP and the available lysine of the RSMs was highly significant (P<0.01).

Protein denaturation has been defined by Neurath <u>et al</u>. (1944) as "any non-proteolytic modification of the unique

.

.

Available Lysine Contents of Rapeseed Meals Heated in an Autoclave or Oven for Various Periods of Timel, 2

٩

4

٠ź

ł

	Form of		Duration	Duration of heating, minutes	minutes	
Moisture, %	heat ³	15	30	60	120	240
7	A	54.3	53.6	43.7	24.3	8.4
	Ō	58.9	59.4	51.0	14.0	7.3
10	А	50.6	49.1	26.2	18.4	13.8
	0	51.3	56.3	45.1	13.3	9.7
20	A	54.6	47.1	37.5	24.5	13.2
	0	50.3	48.4	43.7	29.5	6.3
30	Α.	49.5	48.3	36.8	. 24.6	16.5
	0 ₇ ,	55.3	55.0	51.3	41.5	17.1
40	A	44.8	42.5	37.1	30.1	20.4
	0	56.5	49.3	42.5	40.8	22.2

.

ς,

¢

106

.

²Correlation coefficient between available lysine and DBCP was 0.90 and was highly significant (P < 0.01). 2 7

0

ì

.

0 = oven.3A = autoclave;

Ø

.

structure of native proteins, giving rise to definite changes in chemical, physical or biological properties". Although several factors including heat, chemicals and pH are known to denature protein, the most likely factor involved in the denaturization of protein in oilseed meals during processing is the exposure to excess heat treatment.

Interest in studying protein denaturation in oilseed meals arose mainly from attempts to establish optimal processing conditions for the production of isolated protein and to maintain uniform processing operations for optimal nutritive value. Reports on protein denaturation in soybean meal during processing or in the industrial production of isolated soybean protein appeared in the literature as early as 1938 (Smith and Circle, 1938; Beckel <u>et al.</u>, 1942; Pomeranz and Lindner, 1960).

Rutkowski <u>et al</u>. (1966) were the first to investigate the effects of processing conditions on protein denaturation in RSM. In a study involving steam heating of RSM at 105° to 135°C for 30, 60 and 90 minutes, they found that the least decrease in soluble nitrogen occurred in meal heated at 105°C for 30 minutes. Increasing temperature and particularly time of processing decreased soluble nitrogen.

The results of the current study involving RSM containing a normal level of moisture (10%) agree well with these reported by Rutkowski <u>et al</u>. (1966). Although the autoclave treatment was more severe in our study, the greatest amount of soluble nitrogen was found in the RSM receiving the

mildest heat treatment (15 minutes) and decreased progressively as the time of heating increased to 1 hour. The NS of the RSMs having moisture contents of 2 to 20% and autoclaved for only 15 minutes also agreed well with values reported by Finlayson (1966) and Lo and Hill (1972). The former worker found that water dissolved about 20% of the meal nitrogen while the latter group of workers reported that between 14-18% of the original meal nitrogen was water soluble.

The effects of dry and moist heats on rapeseed protein denaturation were examined by Girault (1973). Laboratory defatted rapeseed flour and industrial RSM were heated at $105 \circ C$ on a stove either dry or with 8% moisture for 30 minutes to 3 hours. It was found that heating in the presence of moisture produced harsher effects on nitrogen solubility in both alkaline and saline solutions than heating in the absence of moisture. Similar observations on soybean meal protein denaturation by moist and dry heats at various temperatures were reported by Beckel <u>et al</u>. (1942) and on defatted soy flakes by Pour El (1973). In the present study, more damaging effects of the autoclave treatments compared to those from the oven heating treatments on the solubility of nitrogen in RSMs were evident from 15 minutes to 1 hour of heating but were reversed from 2 to 4 hours.

From the results of the present study, the changes in DBCP of the RSMs as a result of the heat treatments did not agree with the decreases in NS of the meals subjected to the same treatments. Thus, for the same RSM, the extent of protein denaturation measured by the two methods might

be expected to differ considerably. This difference probably arises from the fact that the two determinations measure different properties of the heat-denatured R&Ms. While the NS determinations measured changes in physicochemical properties, the DBCP determinations estimated the changes in total basic groups in the protein and consequently the nutritive values of the protein. Furthermore, the NS values for the RSMs include non-protein nitrogen as well as protein nitrogen and therefore should not be as reliable as index of the nutritional value of the RSM as the DBCP of the RSM. The higher correlation coefficient between DBCP and available lysine, than between DBCP and NS (0.90 versus 0.63) also suggests suggests that the DBCP of the RSM is a better index of heat damage when nutritional quality is the prime consideration of acceptability of the RSMs. However, in food technology where functional and physical properties of isolated oilseed protein, rather than its nutritive value, will largely determine its acceptability as an ingredient in prepared foods, the method of nitrogen solubility determination is preferable.

4 Summary

Laboratory produced RSMs with moisture contents ranging from 2 to 40% of the meal were heated in an autoclave or an oven at 121°C from 15 minutes to 4 hours. The degree of protein denaturation of the RSMs was estimated by nitrogen so ity in water (NS) and by dye-binding with Acid Orange `Results of the study indicate that heating RSM for 15 minutes to 1 hour in an autoclave produced more severe

. 109

denaturation than heating RSM at a similar temperature for the same periods of time in an oven. When heating was prolonged the denaturation trends were reversed. The ability of the RSM protein to bind Acid Orange 12, calculated as the dye-binding capacity of the protein (DBCP), was more severely affected by the autoclave-heating treatments than by the ovenheating treatments. In this regard, the DBCPs of the proteindenatured RSMs were at the lowest after 2 hours of autoclaveheating and after 4 hours of oven-heating.

Since the NS values for the RSMs include non- protein nitrogen, while DBCP values measure mainly basic amino acids, the latter values are likely to be more valid for estimating the nutritional value of RSM. The higher correlation coefficient that was found in this study between DBCP and available lysine than that between NS and available lysine (0.90 versus 0.63 respectively) would seem to support this view.

EFFECT OF THE LEVELS OF THE GLUCOSINOLATES IN RAPESEED MEAL ON THE TRANSFER OF DIETARY IODINE TO EGGS BY LAYING HENS

A Introduction

Most of the thyrotoxic properties of rapeseed meal (RSM) have been attributed to the presence of glucosinolates in the meal. During the course of passage of meal through the gut of animals, myrosinase-like enzymes present in the gut hydrolyse these compounds to produce substances which impair thyroid function and cause enlargement of the glands (Greer and Deeney, 1959). One of the most studied glucosinolates found in rapeseed is progoitrin (2-hydroxy-3-butenylglucosinolate). This compound on hydrolysis yields glucose, bisulfate and 2hydroxy-3-butenyl isothiocyanate (Greer, 1956) which is unstable and cyclizes to form goitrin, (-)-5-vinyl-2-oxazolidinethione (Kjaer, 1960). Goitrin has been shown in studies with growing chickens to interfere with the power of the thyroid glands to synthesize thyroxine (Matsumoto <u>et al.</u>, 1968).

Until recently the use of RSM in rations for monogastric animals and poultry has been limited by its high content of glucosinolates. This has been particularly true with respect to RSM derived from <u>Brassica napus</u> type seed which contains a higher level of glucosinolates than RSM derived from <u>Brassica</u> <u>campestris</u> type seed (Clandinin <u>et al</u>., 1972). However, RSM derived from rapeseed that contains a very low level of glucosinolates has become available recently for feeding to livestock and poultry. The objective of the study described herein was to compare the effects of including high or low glucosinolate type RSM (HG-RSM or LG-RSM) at various levels in the ration of laying hens on the uptake of iodine by the thyroid glands of layers fed rations containing such meals and on the transfer of iodine to eggs.

B `Review of Literature

Despite the known goitrogenic properties of RSM and their effects on the general health and well-being of domestic animals (Rutkowski, 1971; Rapeseed Association of Canada, 1972), the transfer of goitrogenic substances in RSM to milk, meat and eggs has been the object of only limited studies.

Earlier investigations on the transfer of goitrogenic compounds to milk as a result of feeding dairy cows with crystalline oxazolidinethione and thiocyanate in quantities similar to amounts fed as green rape fodder indicated that these compounds seemed to be transferred to milk (Virtanen et al., 1958, 1959; Virtanen and Gmelin, 1960). The amounts found in milk were so small that it seemed unlikely that they could cause disturbances in the functioning of the thyroid glands of man consuming such milk. A considerable decrease in the iodine content of milk was, however, noted (Piironen and Virtanen, 1965). A reduction in the iodine content of milk from cows fed RSM was also reported by Iwarsson (1973). Cows were fed protein concentrates containing 0, 4.2, and 8.05% RSM according to milk yields. A significantly lower iodine concentration in milk from the RSM fed

groups compared to that of the control group was noted after five weeks of lactation. Based on the estimation of the iodine intake per day, the mean percents of iodine secreted milk calculated over the whole lactation were in the 0.72% in the group given 8.05% RSM and 1.2% in the control group. A higher thiocyanate concentration in milk produced by cows fed RSM as compared to those fed no RSM was also noted. In a related study, milk produced by the three groups of cows were further examined for their goitrogenic properties in a rat assay over a five week test period (Iwarsson and Nilsson, 1973). Rats fed milk from cows given concentrates with 4.2 and 8.05% RSM showed thyroid hypertrophy and lowered serum protein bound iodine (PBI). Uptake of a single dose of ¹³¹I was higher in the RSM groups than in the control group. These changes were attributed to the lower iodine content of the milk.

In poultry, goitrogenic effects on the progeny of breeding hens fed RSM were first reported by March <u>et al</u>. (1972). Hypertrophy of the thyroid glands and reduced body weight of day-old chicks hatched from eggs produced by hens fed rations containing high levels of R^oM over a prolonged period of time were reported. Since the type of RSM used contained a considerable amount of glucosinolate, it was first thought that one or more of the antithyroid substances resulting from glucosinolate hydrolysis might have been transferred to the eggs and thus resulted in thyroid enlargement of the progeny. However, extensive studies by Roos and Clandinin (1975) failed

to detect the presence of hydrolysis products of glucosinolates in eggs from layers fed rations containing RSM. This led these workers to investigate an alternate hypothesis, namely, that the thyroid hypertrophy noted in day-old chick was the result of a decreased iodine content in eggs from breeders fed RSM. They found that transfer of ¹²⁵I to egg yolk was affected by the presence of RSM in the ration of the laying hens and the levels of RSM included in the ration. The effect was more severe when a source of myrosinase, the enzyme responsible for the release of goitrin from the progoitrin in RSM, was also included in the ration.

C Experiment Conducted at The University of Alberta

a Materials and Methods

Fifty Single Comb White Leghorn (SCWL) layers that had been laying for six months were selected for the study. They were placed in individual cages and fed a control ration with soybean meal as the main source of supplementary protein. The control ration contained 0.3 mg/kg diet of added iodine supplied by potassium iodate. After the birds were on the control ration for two weeks, eggs produced over a three day period were collected for iodine analyses. The fifty birds were then divided into ten groups of five birds each and duplicate groups were assigned to each of the experimental rations (Table 30). The rations consisted of a control ration and four RSM rations which contained either HG-RSM or LG-RSM included at the 5 or 10% level. Water and feed were supplied ad libitum. After the birds had been on the experimental rations for six weeks a further three day collection of eggs was made for iodine analyses.

Composition of Experimental Rations

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
		R	ations		
Ingredients	1	2	3	4	5
Basal ¹	80.00	80.00	80.00	80.00	80.00
Ground wheat	12.00	8.40	4.80	8.90	5.80
Soybean meal (48% protein)	7.00	4.30	1.60	3.85	0.70
HG-RSM ²	·	5.00	10.00	° —' .	-
lg-rsm ³		-	<u></u>	5.00	10.00
Stabilized fat	1.00	2.30	3.60	2.25	3.50
KIO34	+	+	+	+	. + .

¹Contained per 80 kg; ground wheat, 41.8; ground barley, 10.0; ground oats, 10.0; wheat shorts, 1.12; dehydrated alfalfa meal, 2.0; soybean meal, 5.2; ground limestone, 7.0; calcium phosphate, 1.5; NaCl (CP), 0.5; MnO, 0.025; ZnO, 0.01; 50% choline chloride, 0.02; vitamin AD premix, 0.5; vitamin B premix, 0.3; vitamin E premix, 0.025.

Vitamin AD premix supplied 6,000 IU of vitamin A and 1,200 IU of vitamin D_3 per kg of complete ration. Vitamin B premix supplied 3 mg of riboflavin, 6 mg of calcium pantothenate, 15 mg of niacin and 7.5 ug of vitamin B_{12} per kg of complete ration. Vitamin E supplied 11 IU per kg of complete ration.

²High glucosinolate rapeseed meal, mixed <u>B</u>. <u>napus</u> varieties of low erucic acid type.

³Low glucosinolate rapeseed meal (<u>B. napus</u> var. Tower).

⁴Added at rate of 0.5 mg per kg of ration.

Eight birds, selected according to their egg production records, were drawn from the birds receiving each treatment ration for study of ¹²⁵I transfer to egg yolk. One ml of 0.9% saline containing 10 μ C of ¹²⁵I was administered daily for eleven days, by lowering a pipette directly into the crop of the test bird. The ¹²⁵I solution contained 0.4% of 0.02N NaOH to prevent volatilization of the iodine.

Counting of ¹²⁵I activity incorporated in egg yolk and egg albumen began on the day following ¹²⁵I oral administration and was carried out as follows: the eggs were weighed, broken and separated into yolk and albumen and their weights were recorded separately. Egg yolk and egg albumen fractions were homogenized and duplicate samples (approximately one gram) of each were transferred to counting vials. The activities of ¹²⁵I in yolk and albumen samples were counted using a Biogamma Counter. Standards were prepared by diluting the daily dose with distilled water to volumes similar to those for the yolk and albumen and were counted as referred to above. The amounts of ¹²⁵I transferred to yolk and albumen were expressed as percentages of the daily dose received by the test bird.

At the end of the experiment, the birds were killed and the thyroid glands were removed and weighed. Approximately 20 mg of the thyroid glands of each birds was homogenized with 10 ml of distilled water. Duplicate 1 ml samples of the homogenates were transferred to counting vials and counted. The total activity of ¹²⁵I taken up by the thyroid glands was

expressed as a percentage of the weekly dose received by the test birds.

Samples of eggs collected prior to administration of radioactive iodine were broken and separated into yolk and albumen. The two fractions were then freeze-dried and stored in a freezer at -13° C for chemical determination of their , iodine contents according to the procedure of Foss <u>et al</u>. (1960). The amount of iodine was expressed in ug I/g dry yolk and albumen.

The potential isothiocyanate and oxazolidinethione contents of the RSMs were determined according to the method of Appelquist and Josefsson (1967).

Data obtained in this experiment were subjected to statistical analysis by a one-way analysis of variance. Two of the test birds did not lay during the oral administration of ^{125}I and thus resulted in unequal observations among treatments on the percentages of ^{125}I incorporated into egg yolk and in thyroid. Means which were significantly different as indicated by the F test were further analysed by Duncan's Multiple Range test (Steel and Torrie, 1960).

b Results and Discussion

J.

Analysis of the RSMs used showed that the HG-RSM contained 2.5 mg/g meal of potential isothiocyanates and 6.4 mg/ g meal of potential oxazolidinethione whereas the LG-RSM contained potentially 0.6 and 0.4 mg/g meal, respectively, of these two hydrolytic products. Thus, the glucosinolate content of the HG-RSM was approximately 10 times that of the LG-RSM.

The antithyroid effects of the RSMs are shown in Table 31. Statistical analysis of the means for thyroid gland size in mg/100 g body weight for the various treatment groups showed that the thyroid gland sizes of the birds fed the HG-RSM containing rations (rations 2 and 3) were significantly heavier than those fed the LG-RSM-containing rations or the control ration.

Fig. 8 shows the rates of accumulation of ¹²⁵I in egg yolk in percent of daily dose by laying birds fed the five experimental rations. The means used in plotting the curves were the averages of the percentages for ¹²⁵I incorporated in the yolk fraction of eggs laid daily by birds receiving the same ration. The number of eggs laid per group varied from two to eight per day. It will be noted that the 125 I content of egg yolk has reached a plateau by the seventh day. Once the steady state was reached, the amount of 125 I transferred to egg yolk remained fairly constant. The small daily variations in the means within treatments appeared to be caused by the variation in number of eggs laid. daily. The activity of 125 I found in egg albumen was higher than that of egg yolk on the first and second days after radioiodine administration. However, by the time the steady state was reached, the activity in egg albumen had become very slight, less than 1% of the daily dose , and, as a consequence, the data are not reported here. The plateaus obtained for the five treatment groups during the steady state clearly indicated a trend for less ¹²⁵I being trans-

Percent $^{125}{\rm I}$ in Egg Yolk During Steady State, $^{125}{\rm I}$ Uptake by Thyroid Glands and Thyroid Size of Hens

э

Treatments ¹	125 ' in egg yolk in steady state, expressed as % of daily dose	125 in thyroid glands, expressed as % of weekly dose	Thyroid weight, mg/100 g body weight
Control	13.3 ^{a2}	12.6 ^a	7.6 ^a
HG-RSM - 5%	10.1 ^{bc}	25.8 ^b	12.5 ^b
HG-RSM - 10%	8.1 ^c	34.7 ^b	19.6 ^b
LG-RSM - 58	14.2 ^a	16.2 ^a	ر ۲.9 ^a
LG-RSM - 10%	12.3 ^{ab}	18.2 ^a	7.8 ^a
s.E. ³	6•0∓	±2.1	±2.1
,			
¹ See Table 30 fo	¹ See Table 30 for description of meals.	als.	

/

 $^2{\rm Means}$ within column with the same superscript were not significantly different (p<0.05).

7

³Standard error of the mean with n=33.



Fig. 8 Rate of ¹²⁵I incorporation in egg yolk

ferred to egg yolk when the birds were fed rations containing the HG-RSM than when the birds were fed the control ration or the rations containing LG-RSM. The least transfer of ^{125}I was found in the egg yolk of the eggs laid by birds fed 10% HG-RSM in their ration.

The percentages of ¹²⁵I of daily dose in egg yolk between the seventh and eleventh days for individual birds were averaged and considered as the 125 I transfer to egg yolk during the steady state. The treatment means are shown in Table 31. Statistical analysis of the data indicated that the transfer of ¹²⁵I to egg yolk was significantly reduced when HG-RSM was included in the laying rations at both 5 and 10% levels as compared to the control ration. On the other hand, the amounts of ¹²⁵I found in egg yolk of layers fed the LG-RSMcontaining rations were not significantly different from the control group. The adverse effect of glucosinolate in RSM on the transfer of orally administered ¹²⁵I was most severe in the group receiving the 10% level of HG-RSM in its ration. The results obtained in the present experiment are in agreement with those reported by Roos and Clandinin (1975). However, the means of 10.1 and 8.1% for the two groups fed the 5 and 10% HG-RSM rations were higher than those reported by Roos and Clandinin (1975) for birds fed corresponding levels of RSM with 3% of ground raw rapeseed to provide the enzyme (myrosinase) necessary for the hydrolysis of the glucosinolates present in the RSM. Thus, in the absence of an exogeneous source of the enzyme the effect of glucosino-

lates on 125 I transfer is less severe. It was also noted that the percentage of 125 I found in egg yolk was inversely related to the degree of thyr $^{--}$ I hypertrophy.

The amounts of ¹²⁵I taken he thyroid glands of the birds are also presented in Table 31. The activity of ¹²⁵I was expressed as percent of weekly dosage. Statistical analysis of the data revealed that the percentages of 125 I by the thyroid gland, were significantly higher for uptak the laying hens fed the HG-TSM containing rations than for the other groups. The birds ed rations 2 and 3 retained in their thyroid glands 25.8 and 34.78 125 I of the weekly dosage, about two and three times, respectively, that of the control group. For the birds fed rations 4 and 5 the uptakes were 16.2 and 18.2%, only slightly, but not significantly, higher than the control group. This observation agrees with those previously reported for growing chicks by Clandinin et al. (1966), Matsumoto et al. (1968, 1969) and Bergner and Schmide (1972) using synthetic goitrin, (-)-5-vinyl-2-oxazolidinethione. In all cases, increased ¹³¹ I uptake and reduced release of ¹³¹I were noted. In the present study, in spite of the increased thyroid uptake of 125 I noted in the thyroid hypertrophied birds, 'ess 125 I was transferred into egg yolk.

The iodine content of egg yolk from eggs produced at the end of the pre-experimental and experimental periods are shown in Table 32. The iodine content of the egg yolk after the groups had been fed the control ration for two week ranged from 0.76 to 0.88 µg/g dry egg yolk and were not significantly

122.

3

er i e

Iodine Contents of Egg Yolk and Egg Albumen After Pre-Experimental and Experimental Periods

đa.		,
Treatments ¹	After two week pre- experimental period ug I/g dry yolk	After six week experimental period ug I/g dry yolk ug I/g dry albumen
Control	0.76	0.84 ^{a2}
HG-RSM - 58	0.80	
HG-RSM - 108	0.84	
LG-RSM - 53	0.79	0
LG-RSM - 10%	0.88	
и и и	±0.06	±0.06 ±0.06
1 See Table 30 f	1 See Table 30 for description of meals.	

14 .3 d LS.

 $^2_{Means \ within \ column \ with \ the \ same \ or \ no \ superscript \ were \ not \ significantly different (p<0.05).$

 3 Standard error of the mean with n=35.

4

different statistically. However, after the birds had received the RSM-collating rations the iodine levels in egg yolk were reduced. For the groups fed 5 and 10% HG-RSMcontaining rations the means were both significantly different from that of the control group. Although the mean of the group fed the 10% LG-RSM-containing ration was also significantly different from the control, the decrease in iodine content was considerably less than for the HG-RSM treatments. This observation thus indicated that e effect of including LG-RSM in laying rations on the transfer of dietary iodine to eggs was less severe than when HG-RSM was included in laying rations. The slight decrease in dietary iodine transfer caused by the LG-RSM could perhaps be counteracted by increasing the level of supplementary iodine in the ration. The iodine contents of egg albumen are also presented in Table 32. There were no significant differences among the treatment means. Since the iodine content of egg albumen was not affected by the RSM in the rations, the albumen samples collected when all of the birds were on the control ration were not analysed.

Further studies should be conducted to establish the supplemental level of iodine in layer or breeder rations for, the production of eggs with normal iodine content when RSM is included in the ration.

c Summary

The experiment was designed to evaluate the effect of the glucosinolate content of RSM on the transfer of dietary iodine to eggs. Five experimental rations involving two

levels (5 and 10%) of both high and low glucosinolate RSMs and a laying ration devoid of RSM were used in the study. The rations contained 0.3 mg of added iodine per kg diet and each ration was fed to two groups of five laying hens for six weeks before they were subjected to oral administration of ^{125}I daily for a period of eleven days.

Percent $\frac{1}{2}$ incorporated into egg yolk during the steady state which occurred seven days after administration of $\frac{125}{1}$ showed that the amount of $\frac{125}{1}$ transferred to egg yolk was significantly reduced by the inclusion of high glucosinolate RSM in the laying rations but not by the inclusion of low glucosinolate RSM. However, determination of the iodine content of egg yolk by chemical analysis indicated that there was some reduction in dietary iodine transfer to eggs even with the low glucosinolate RSM but the effect was less severe than that observed when high glucosinolate RSM was used.

PART III

STUDIES ON THE PROBLEM OF THE LAYING OF FISHY EGGS BY HENS FED RATIONS CONTAINING RAPESEED MEAL

A Introduction

In recent years, studies conducted in Europe and in Canada have revealed that layers of brown-shelled eggs fed rations containing rapeseed mean (RSM) produce significant numbers of odoriferous eggs. The odor was described as fishy.

Following the reports on the occurrence of the problem, studies were initiated to determine the breeds of layers which were most likely to produce fishy eggs when RSM was included in the ration and to identify the compound(s) which is responsible for the fishy taint. Attempts were also been made to determine the causative factor(s) or precursor in the RSM. The results of these studies are presented in the review below. B Review of Literature

The earliest report on this problem was presented by Vogt <u>et al</u>. (1969). In a trial with laying hens, covering the period 20 to 70 weeks of age, a ration containing 20% of RSM was found to cause the laying of eggs that smelled like mustard oil. The level of RSM in the laying ration required to produce the tainted eggs was established as 8%. Although the factor(s) which caused the taint was not identified, these workers indicated that the potential content of (-)-5vinyl-2-oxazolidinethione was high in the RSM used in the trial.

The problem was investigated in England by Hobson-Frohock et al. (1973) following reports of the occurrence of tainted eggs in various parts of the United Kingdom (Miller et al., 1972). In a study involving eggs from flocks of chickens in which laying of tainted eggs was reported, Hobson-Frohock et al. (1973) identified trimethylamine (TMA) as the compound responsible for the fishy taint. The compound was found concentrated mainly in the yolk and became detectable above the level of 1 ppm. In the same study, it was found that when TMA·HCl (100 mg/day) was fed to the selected birds, characteristically fishy eggs containing 3 to 40 ppm of TMA were produced within six days. The same phenomenon was produced in these selected birds by feeding rations containing The meal was found to contain less than 1 ppm of TMA RSM. and thus was ruled out as the direct source of TMA found in the yolk.

In a follow-up study, Hobson-Frohock <u>et al</u>. (1975) found that the causative factor(s) could be extracted from RSM by aqueous acetone. Selected birds, with previous records of producing tainted eggs, were feed a control ration and later changed to rations containing RSM, fat extract of RSM, acetone extract of RSM and the residue left after acetone extraction of RSM. A significant increase in the concentrations of TMA in the eggs laid by birds receiving the ration containing RSM or the acetone extract of RSM was found. Several samples of RSM from various sources were also tested and all were shown to cause the laying of eggs containing TMA. The RSMs were

further analysed for isothiocyanates, goitrin, nitriles, fatty acids and sinapine. None of these was found related to the level of TMA in the yolk.

According to Overfield and Elson (1975), RSM incorporated into laying ration at as low a level of 3% caused susceptible birds to lay tainted eggs. With 3, 6 and 9% RSM in the rations of brown-shelled egg layers, fed over a period of 28 days, fishy eggs produced were: 1.2, 19.3 and 20.9% of the total egg production, respectively. The first fishy egg was laid on the fifth day after the feeding of the rations containing RSM was commenced. The incidence of tainted egg production was at its peak during the second and third week of feeding `the RSM-containing rations.

Comparison of feeding different RSMs to both white and brown-shelled egg layers on the incidence of fishy egg production was reported by Clandinin <u>et al</u>. (1974). In this study, Span or Bronowski RSM fed at the levels of 5 and 10% in the rations to Single Comb White Leghorn (SCWL, whiteshelled egg layers) did not affect the odor or taste of the eggs produced. However, inclusion of 6.8% of Span RSM in the ration of brown-shelled egg layers did cause the laying of eggs with fishy odor and flavour. Odor evaluation on raw eggs produced by Rhode Island Reds and White Plymouth Rocks (brown-shelled egg layers) showed that both breeds of layers may lay appreciable percentages of fishy eggs when fed rations containing RSM and that in the case of the RIRs the intensity of the fishy odor did not decrease with the length

of time the birds were on the RSM-containing ration.

Bolton <u>et al</u>. (1976) studied the possibility of eliminating tainted egg layers by genetical selection. They demonstrated that tainting of eggs by hens fed RSM-containing rations is conditional on the presence in the hen, in the heterozygous or homozygous state, of an autosomal semidominant gene that has variable expression, depending on environmental factors, including the level of RSM in the ration. Hobson-Frohock <u>et al</u>. (1975) have suggested that the tainting problem may be a consequence of certain hens being unable to metabolize TMA to TMA oxide as in the normal hen.

From the findings cited above, it is obvious that the factor(s) in RSM which causes the production of fishy eggs by brown-shelled egg layers remains unknown. While Vogt <u>et al</u>. (1969) implied that glucosinolates or their hydrolytic products appeared to be implicated in the production of fishy eggs, this was not confirmed by Clandinin <u>et al</u>. (1974) or by Overfield and Elson (1975).

In most of the above studies the RSM used, particularly the meals of European origin, were mainly from high glucosinolate varieties of rapeseed and little variation in ability to cause the laying of fishy eggs was noted among the RSMs. • Since 1974, a new low glucosinolate variety of rapeseed (<u>B</u>. <u>napus</u> var. Tower) has become available for study. The glucosinolate content of this variety is only about one-tenth that found in RSMs previously studied (excluding the work on meal produced from Bronowski rapeseed which was fed only to whiteshelled egg layers). If glucosinolates are, in fact, not a factor in causing fishy eggs this should become evident when Tower RSM is included in the ration of brown-shelled egg layers. The first experiment described in this part of the thesis deals with such a study.

Another factor which, hitherto, has received little attention in the study of the laying of fishy eggs when RSM is included in the laying ration is the level of choline in RSMcontaining rations. According to Klain et al. (1956), RSM contains approximately 7000 mg of choline per kg meal, which is twice that found in soybean meal. Choline (hydroxyethyl trimethylammonium hydrolide) is widely distributed in biological materials as free choline or as a moiety of phospholipids. It is characterised by a trimethyl quaternary nitrogen which breaks down to TMA when treated with alkali. Trimethylamine (TMA) formation from choline by the action of intestinal bacteria has been shown to occur in normal people or patients with hepatic diseases (De La Huerga and Popper, 1951). The TMA released is readily absorbed from the intestine and excreted in the urine mainly as TMA oxide. The microbial conversion of choline to TMA was confirmed by Prentiss et al. (1961) in a study involving the feeding of large amounts of choline chloride to rats raised under conventional and germfree conditions. Choline chloride administered intragastrically to normal rats (200 mg/kg body weight) gave rise to urinary total TMA in yields of 10-66% of the administered dose. However, germ-free rats given the same dose of choline chloride

excreted only 0.6% of the choline as TMA. The act on of intestinal microbes on choline was also shown to be depressed by simultaneous ingestion of antimicrobial agents such as aureomycin, terramycin and penicillin 0 (De La Huerga <u>et al.</u>, 1953).

In view of these findings on the formation of TMA from choline in the gut by microorganisms, it was thought that the high level of choline in RSM might be involved in the fishy egg problem. As a consequence, the second experiment was designed to study the possible relationship between choline content of the ration and the laying of fishy eggs by brown-shelled egg layers.

C Experiments Conducted at The University of Alberta

Experiment 1: Effect of the Glucosinolate Content of Rapeseed Meal on the Incidence of Fishy Egg Production by Brown-Shelled Egg Layers

1 Objectives

а

This experiment was designed to examine the effects of glucosinolate levels in RSMs fed at 10% of the laying ration to brown-shelled egg layers on the production of fishy eggs. The relationship between the concentration of TMA found in the egg and the intensity of fishy odor was also investigated.

2 Materials and Methods

A flock of 400 Rhode Island Red (RIR) layers was screened for fishy egg layers. This was done by determining which of the birds laid eggs with a fishy odor when fed a laying ration containing 10% of high glucosinolate RSM and not when fed a laying ration containing no RSM. Sensory evaluation of egg odor was carried out by a panel of four Starting on the second day after the birds were testers. placed on the RSM-containing ration all eggs produced during the subsequent two weeks were broken and the inside of the shell was smelled for fishy odor. The degree of odor was scored on a five point scale from normal (0) to strongly . Those birds that laid at least three fishy eggs fishy (4). when fed the RSM-containing ration were then fed a laying ration containing no RSM. After a lapse of two weeks on the ration devoid of RSM, the eggs laid during the subsequent ten days were evaluated for fishy odor. By this

screening process 40 birds were selected which laid fishy eggs when fed the ration containing RSM but laid no fishy eggs when fed the ration devoid of RSM.

The 40 selected birds were divided into four groups of 10 birds and each group was fed one of the test rations shown in Table 33. Briefly, the rations consisted of a control laying ration devoid of RSM and laying rations containing 10% of high glucosinolate RSM (HG-RSM), 10% of medium glucosinolate RSM (MG-RSM) or 10% of low glucosinolate RSM (LG-RSM). In addition to these four rations, three other rations (Rations 5, 6 and 7) were prepared by adding 3% of ground raw rapeseed to each of rations 2, 3 and 4.

The birds were caged individually and egg collection for sensory evaluation began on the tenth day after the birds were started on the test rations and continued for 14 days. The last three eggs laid by each bird on each ration were sensory evaluated and the egg contents were kept for TMA analysis.

After these egg odor evaluations had been completed, the three groups of birds that had received rations 2, 3 and 4, containing 10% RSM were, respectively switched to rations 5, 6 and 7, containing 10% RSM plus 3% ground raw rapeseed, while the control group was continued on ration 1. Egg collection over the next eight days were sensory evaluated. The egg contents of the last three eggs laid by each bird on each of the four rations were kept for TMA analysis.

Composition of the Experimental Rations \mathbf{l}°

		Rations	suc	
Ingredients	1 Control Sam	2 108 117 201	3	4 108
Ground wheat Ground oats Ground barlev	52.115 10	52.115 10	MG-RSM 52.115 10	LG-RSM 52.115 10
Wheat shorts Stabilized fat Dehvdrated alfalfa	1.0 0 0	10 2.0	10 0 2.0	10
Meat meal (55% protein) Herring meal (72% protein) Herbow	2.0	2.0 2.0 1.0	2.0	.00 .0
MG-RSM ³ LG-RSM ⁴	J (-	101	2 - 1 I -
Soybean meal (48.5% protein) Ground limestone Calcium phosphate	-8.0 6.0	2.0	2.0	10 2.0 6.0
(18.5% Ca - 20.5% P) Iodized salt Manganous oxide	1.5 0.45	1.5 0.45	1.5 0.45	1.5 0.45
Zinc oxide Micronutrient mix ⁵	c20.0	0.025 0.01 0.9	0.025 0.01 0.9	0.025 0.01 0.9
				•

?

¹Three additional rations (Rations 5, 6 and 7) were prepared by adding 38 of raw ground rapeseed (<u>B. campestris</u> var. Span) to each of rations 2, 3

²High glucosinolate rapeseed meal (\underline{B} . <u>napus</u> mixed varieties). 3 Medium glucosinolate rapeseed meal (<u>B. napus</u> var. Turret).

Low glucosinolate rapeseed meal (B. napus var. Tower).

 $_{\rm S}^{\rm S}$ upplied the following levels per kg of ration: Vitamin A, 6000 IU; Vitamin D₃, 120 ICU; riboflavin, 3 mg; calcium pantothenate, 6 mg; niacin, 15 mg; Vitamin B₁₂, 6.6 ug and penicillin, 4.4 mg.

When egg contents were retained for TMA analysis, the eggs were broken into a beaker, homogenized, sealed in a plastic bag and stored at -20 °C until analysed. The amount of TMA in the eggs produced was determined by the method of head space gas analysis by gas liquid chromatography of Metha <u>et al</u>. (1974) and the procedure for extracting the TMA from egg content was a modification of that of Hobson-Frohock <u>et</u> <u>al</u>. (1973). The analytical procedure for TMA is described in the Appendix.

The glucosinolate contents of he three RSMs used in this study were determined by the method of Appelquist and Josefsson (1967) and were expressed as their potential hydrolytic products, isothiocyanate and oxazolidinethione.

3 Results and Discussion

The data recorded when the birds were fed the control and RSM-containing laying rations are summarized in Table 34. The TMA concentrations and fishy odor scores shown were the means for the various groups of birds receiving the test rations. In calculating the average fishy odor scores in this table, only the scores of the three eggs kept from each bird for TMA analysis were considered.

Despite the prescreening process to which these birds were subjected to detect pot tial to lay fishy eggs when fed a RSM-containing ration, some of the birds ceased to lay eggs with a fishy odor or produced eggs with only a faintly fishy odor when they were transferred from floor pens to cages and placed on the RSM-containing experimental rations. Three of

135

C

ì

Effects of Glucosinolate Contents of Rapeseed Meal on the Trimethylamine Content and Fishy Odor Score of Eggs

3

I

			s.E. L					+0.24	+0,16 A						
	P	108	LG-RSM		0.39	1.13	ra Y	T/ • N	0.56 ^b		д с	14.6) • •		
ns	'n	108	M2H-UN		1.39	3.36	0 523	רייגע ריי ריי	0.46 ^D	97		37.1			
Rations	5	108 HG-PCM	HOVE DI	•	3.75	9.13	0.74 ^{a4}		1.264	96		71.9			
	T	Control SBM		м н 2		ч. п.	0	c	5	103	¢	þ		n n = 9.	
	,		<u>Glucosinolate</u>	Isothiocyanate, mg/g meal	Oxazolidinethione, mq/g meal	TMA	669 676n terr	Fishy odor score ³		TURAL NUMBER OF EGG TESTED	Percent fishy egg defected			Standard error of the mean with $n = 9$.	

"Not determined. •

Ť

 $^3\mathrm{Data}$ recorded for the control ration were not included in the statistical

 $^{4}_{Means}$ on the same row with the same superscript were not significantly different (P<0.05).

P

2.4

۰.

.'

the birds were out of production by the time egg collection for odor evaluation began. In the sensory evaluations by the panel of testers, an egg was considered as fishy when it was scored fishy by three or more of the panel of four regardless of the intensity of odor. Based on this criterion, the percentages of fishy eggs detected were 71.9, 37.1 and 14.6 for the groups receiving 10% HG-RSM, MG-RSM and LG-RSM in the rations, respectively. Eggs produced by birds on the control ration were found to be completely free of fishy odor. These results appeared to relate positively the laying of fishy eggs with the level of glucosinolates in the RSM included in the laying ration. However, when the data for TMA content of eggs and fishy odor score for the three groups receiving the RSM-containing rations were analysed by one-way analysis of variance and significant differences between means were compared by Duncan's Multiple Range test (Steel and Torrie, 1960) no significant trend for increased TMA content of eggs with increasing levels of glucosinolate in the RSM contained in the ration was observed. The lack of effect of glucosinolate levels in the meals on TMA contents of the eggs suggested that factor(s) other than glucosniolates in RSMs must be responsible for the deposition of TMA found in the eggs.

The effects of inclusion of 3% of raw ground rapeseed to the RSM-containing laying rations on the occurrence of fishy eggs are summarized in Table 35. The percentage of fishy eggs detected by the panel was slightly reduced in the groups receiving the rations containing 10% HG-RSM and MG-RSM and

.

Effect of Inclusion of Ground Raw Rapeseed in Rations Containing Rapeseed Meal on the Trimethylamine Content and Fighty Odor Score of Eggs

313

:	1	S	9		. •
	Control SBM	10% HG-RSM	10% MG-RSM	10% LG-RSM	s.Е.1
Raw rapeseed, %	0	m	E E	m	
TMA, ug/g egg ²	0	3.01 ^{a3}	1.79 ^b	2.74 ^{ab}	+0.30
Fishy odor score ²	0	0.62 ^a	0.13 ^b	0.43 ^{ab}	
Total number of egg tested	58	48	60	60	
Percent fishy egg detected	Ō	62.5	25	46.7	

٠

²Data recorded for the control ration were not included in the statistical analysis.

 $^{3}_{\text{Means}}$ on the same row with the same superscript were not significantly different (P<0.05).

•
slightly increased in the group fed the ration containing LG-RSM when compared to the results obtained when the same RSMs were fed in the absence of raw ground rapeseed (Table 35 vs Table 34).

The addition of 3% ground raw rapeseed to the RSMcontaining laying rations appeared to increase the deposition of TMA in the eggs produced (Table 35 vs Table 34). The TMA levels found in most of the homogenized egg samples were above 1 ug/g egg (ranged from 0.26 to 5 ug/g) and the means were 3.01, 1.79 and 2.74 ug/g egg for the three groups of birds fed the rations containing 10% HG-RSM, MG-RSM and LG-RSM respectively. The means ranked in the same order as when the birds were fed the same RSM in the absence of ground raw rapeseed in the ration. The fishy odor scores . of the eggs used in the TMA analysis agreed with the results obtained in the TMA analysis (Table 35). When the TMA and fishy egg score data were analysed statistically, it was found that with respect to both traits the values for the HG-RSM were significantly higher than the values for the MG-RSM but not different from values for the group fed the ration containing LG-RSM (P<0.05).

Unheated ground rapeseed is known to contain the enzyme myrosinase which hydrolyses glucosinolates to yield their primary end-products, isothiocyanates and oxazolidinethione, hence the addition of 3% ground raw rapeseed in the second half of this study maximized the possible effects of glucosinolate hydrolysis products on the production of eggs with a fishy odor. The data obtained on the TMA content and fishy

odor score of eggs laid by the birds fed the rations indicated no relationship between these traits and the level of glucosinolate hydrolysis products. This finding lends further support to the earlier suggestion that a factor(s) other than glucosinolates is responsible for the production of fishy odor in eggs laid by brown-shelled egg layers fed rations containing RSM.

b Experiment 2:

Effect of Supplementing a Laying Ration with Choline on the Production of Fishy Eggs by Brown-Shelled Egg Layers

1 Objective

This experiment was undertaken to study the effect of supplementing a soybean meal (SBM) type laying ration with choline to alevel equivalent to that of a ration containing 10% RSM on the production of fishy eggs by brown-shelled egg layers.

2 Materials and Methods

Forty Rhode Island Red layers selected from another flock of birds by a screening process similar to that followed in the previous experiment were used in this study. The selected birds were divided into four comparable groups of ten birds each and fed the rations referred to below.

Four experimental rations were used. Three of the rations were prepared by supplementing the SBM control ration used in Experiment 1 with choline chloride at rates of 0, 250 and 500 mg choline per kg ration. The fourth ration was identical to ration 2 used in the previous experiment which contained 10% of high glucosinolate RSM (HG-RSM). The highest level of choline supplementation would raise the calculated choline content of the control ration to 1500 mg per kg ration which was similar to that calculated for the HG-RSM containing ration.

Egg collection for sensory evaluation began on the tenthe day after the birds were on the experimental rations and eggs

collected over eight days were evaluated. Sensory evaluation of the fishy odor of the eggs produced by the birds on the experimental rations was conducted in a manner similar to that described in the previous experiment. The last three eggs laid by individual birds during the sensory evaluation period were pooled and analysed for TMA content.

3 Results and Discussion

The results obtained in the present experiment are summarized in Table 36. None of the eggs from the groups of birds fed the control laying ration or the control ration supplemented with choline contained measurable amounts of TMA or smelled fishy. In contrast, the eggs from the group of birds fed the ration containing 10% HG-RSM contained appreciable amounts of TMA (0.26 to 4.22 ug/g raw egg with a mean of 2.07) and were graded fishy by the panel of testers. The average odor score was 1.56 which means that the eggs were ' slightly to moderately fishy. Ignoring the intensity of the fishiness, 67% of the eggs laid by this group of birds were judged as fishy.

The results obtained in the present study clearly demonstrated the lack of effect of supplementary choline on the production of fishy eggs by the brown-shelled egg layers. Even at the highest level of supplementation, choline chloride failed to induce fishy egg layers to lay eggs with a detectable fishy odor. This observation therefore seems to rule out the high level of choline in RSM as a possible cause of fishy odor in eggs. However, it should be noted that the form in which

Effect of Supplementary Choline on the Production of Eggs with a Fishy Odor by Brown-Shelled Egg Layers

,

	-	Ra	Rations		
Choline added, <u>mg/kg ration</u>	Control ¹ 0	Control 250	.Control 500	10% HG-RSM	1 1 1
TMA, µg/g egg	0	0	0	2.07	· +0.45
Fishy odor score	0	0	0	1.56	+0.21
Total number of eggs tested	60	62	26	52	1
Percent fishy eggs detected	0	o	0	67	• •
<pre>lsee Table 33, ration 1 for formula. 2Standard error of the mean for the group fed 10% group</pre>	on l for for the mean for	mula. the group fo			
		14 Jap		, n = 8.	

Ş

.

ţ,

143

.

Table 36

the choline was present in the choline supplemented rations was different from the form in which it was present in the ration containing 10% of HG-RSM. Whereas the choline in the supplemented rations was mainly in free form and thus readily available for absorption, the choline in rapeseed is known to exist in free form or bound as a cationic moiety of the phospholipid, lecithin, or bound to sinapic acid to form the ester sinapine. Most of the phospholipid in rapeseed is removed during the oil extraction process (Weenink and Tulloch, 1966) but the sinapine remains in the meal fraction. RSM contains approximately 1% of the sinapine (Austin and Wolff, 1968).

If the TMA which found its way into eggs was in fact derived from the breakdown of choline by the microbial action of intestinal bacteria, free choline, because of its availability for rapid absorption, would less likely be converted to TMA by intestinal bacteria than choline in a bound form such as in sinapine. The probable effects of phospholipids and sinapine in RSM on the production of fishy eggs by brownshelled egg layers were not investigated in the present study.

D General Discussion

Since the identification of TMA as the compound responsible for the fishy odor of eggs produced by brown-shelled egg layers fed RSM-containing laying rations by Hobson-Frohock <u>et al</u>. (1973), neither the precursor(s) in he meal nor the mechanism which leads to the formation of TMA and eventual deposition in the egg has been elucidated. Several organic

constituents in RSM have been investigated as possible causes of fishy odor in eggs produced by brown-shelled egg layers but results obtained were either inconclusive or failed to show any correlation between the constituent and the intensity of fishy odor of the eggs produced (Vogt <u>et al.</u>, 1969; Hobson-Frohock et al., 1975).

The level of glucosinolates in RSM and the effect of supplementing a laying ration devoid of RSM with choline chloride on the production of fishy odor in eggs produced by brown-shelled egg layers were studied herein. From the results obtained there was no evidence that the use of low glucosinolate RSM significantly reduced the incidence of fishy eggs produced as judged by the amount of TMA found in eggs and fishy odor score. This observation was in agreement with the findings reported by Vogt and Torges (1976). They reported that the use of low glucosinolate RSM (<u>B. napus</u> var. Erglu) at levels of 7.5 and 15% of the ration caused brownshelled egg layers to lay eggs, 10 and 26% of which, respectively, had a bad smell and taste.

The presence of 3% ground raw rapeseed in the RSM-containing rations increased the TMA level in eggs as compared to that of eggs laid by birds fed rations without ground raw rapeseed but not the degree of fishy odor. This discrepancy might be attributed to the method of sensory evaluation adopted in the present study or to the changes in microflora in the gut of the birds. In regard to the method of sensory evaluation, Hobson-Frohock <u>et al.</u>, (1973) reported that the TMA in fishy eggs was concentrated mainly in the yolk rather

than in the albumen. In the present study, the fishy odor of eggs was scored by smelling the broken shells, the odor of which would likely be affected mainly by odor associated with the albumen. On the other hand, TMA values of egg contents would be affected mainly by the TMA in the yolk of the egg and to a lesser extent by the TMA in the albumen. In view of this, one might expect that TMA assay of egg contents would be a more accurate test for fishy eggs than sensory evaluation of the shell odor. Furthermore marked changes in the TMA content of egg yolk might not be reflected in similar changes in the TMA content of the albumen. Under such circumstances one might not expect changes in the TMA in egg contents to be closely correlated with shell odor.

The large variation in the TMA content of eggs from fishy egg layers on the same ration treatment leads one to speculate that several factors are involved. It suggests that even amongst fishy egg layers some birds are able to metabolize the TMA better than others. It also suggests, that if bacteria in the intestines are involved, as suggested earlier, in TMA production from a precursor such as sinapine, the variation in numbers and kinds of bacteria present in the intestines of different birds may be in part responsible for the variation in TMA noted in eggs of fishy egg layers fed the same ration.

The effect of supplementary choline on fishy egg production by the brown-shelled egg layers have already been discussed.

E Summary

Two experiments were undertaken to study the effects of glucosinolate levels in RSM and supplementary choline on the production of fishy eggs by 'rown-shelled egg layers.

In the first experiment, rapeseed meals of high, medium and low glucosinolate contents were included in laying rations at the 10% level and fed to fishy egg layers for a period of . 23 days. Eggs produced were rated for fishy odor intensity beginning on the tenth day on ration and the last three eggs laid by individual birds were pooled and analysed for TMA. It was found that the mean TMA level and mean fishy odor score were numerically highest in the grad produced by birds fed Lucosinolate RSM but the the ration containing 10% wily different from those values obtained were not resulting from the feeding of milar bigds, a ration containing 10% of low glucosinolate RSM. Supplementing the rations with 3% ground raw rapeseed as a source of myrosinase to hydrolyse the glucosinolates in the RSM produced results similar to those obtained with the unsupplemented RSMs. Thus, on the basis of the results obtained, it seems highly improbable that the level of glucosinolate in RSM affects the incidence of laying of eggs with a fishy odor by brown-shelled egg layers.

In the second experiment a laying ration devoid of RSM was supplemented with 0, 250 and 500 mg choline per kg of ration and fed to fishy egg layers. A fourth group of birds was fed a ration containing 10% high glucosinolate RSM. All

of the eggs produced by the birds fed the ration devoid of RSM, with and without choline supplementation, were rated free of fishy odor and all the eggs analysed from these treatments were found to be free of TMA. In contrast to these observations, eggs produced by the birds fed the 10% RSMcontaining ration were tainted with a fishy odor of varying intensity and contained TMA. Thus, free choline does not appear to be involved in the laying of fishy eggs by brownshelled egg layers.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- American Association of Cereal Chemists. 1970. A.A.C.C. approved methods. The Association, St. Paul, Minn.
- Appelqvist, L.A. and E. Josefsson. 1967. Method for quantitative determination of isothiocyanates and oxazolidinethiones in digests of seed meals of rape and turnip rape. J. Sci. Food Agric., 18: 510-519.
- Ashworth, U.S. 1971. Proteins in meat and egg products determined by dye-binding. J. Food Sci., 36: 509-510.
- Ashworth, U.S. and M.A. Chaudry. 1962. Dye-binding capacity of milk protein for Amido Black 10B and Orange G. J. Dairy Sci., 45: 952-957.
- Ashworth, U.S., R. Seals and R.E. Erb. 1960. An improved procedure for the determination of milk proteins by dye-binding. J. Dairy Sci., 43: 614-623.
- Association of Official Analytical Chemists. 1970. Official methods of analysis. 11th ed., Washington, D.C., A.O.A.C.
- Austin, F.L. and I.A. Wolff. 1968. Sinapine and related esters in seed meal of <u>Crambe Absyssinica</u>. J. Agric. Food Chem., 16: 132-135.
- Banasik, O.J. and K.A. Gilles. 1962. A new protein method. Cereal Sci. Today, 7: 28-30.
- Beckel, A.C., W.C. Bull and T.H. Hopper. 1942. Heat denaturation of protein in soybean meal. Ind. Chem. Engin., 8: 973-976.
- Bergner, H. and W. Schmide. 1972. Effect of rapeseed oilmeal on growth of chicks. 3. Effect of graded amounts of rapeseed oilmeal on incorporation of 1311 into the thyroid of chicks. Arch. Tierernachr., 22: 41-47.
- Bhatty, R.S. and K.K. Wu. 1975. Lysine screening in barley with a modified Udy dye-binding method. Can. J. Plant Sci., 55: 685-689.
- Blom, L., P. Hendricks and J. Caris. 1967. Determination of available lysine in foods. Anal. Biochem., 21: 382-400.

0-

- Bolton, W., T.C. Carter and R.M. Jones 1976. The hen's egg: genetics of taints in eggs from hens fed on rapeseed meal. Br. Poult. Sci., 17: 313-320.
- Booth, V.H. 1971. Problems in the determination of FDNBavailable lysine. J. Sci. Food Agric., 22: 658-666.
- Bowland, J.P. and J.M. Bell. 1972. Rapeseed meal for pigs. In 'Canadian Rapeseed Meal in Poultry and Animal Feeding.' p. 16-20. Publ. 16, Rapeseed Association of Canada.
- Boyne, A.M., K.J. Carpenter and A.A. Woodham. 1961. Progress report on an assessment of laboratory procedures suggested as indicators of protein quality in feedstuffs. J Sci. Food Agric., 12: 832-848.
- Bunyan, J. 1959. Orange G binding as a measure of protein content. J. Sci. Food Agri., 10: 425-430.
- Bunyan, J. and S.A. Price. 1960. Studies on protein concentrates for animal feeding. J. Sci. Food Agric., 11: 25-37.
- Bunyan, J. and A.A. Woodham. 1964. Protein quality of feeding stuffs. 2. The comparative assessment of protein quality in three fresh fishmeals by microbiological and other laboratory tests and by biological evaluat on with chicks and rats. Br. J. Nutr., 18: 537-544.
- Carpenter, K.J. 1960. The estimation of the avail ble lysine in animal protein foods. Biochem. J., 77: 604-610.
- Carpenter, K.J. and V.H. Booth. 1973. Damage to lysine in food processing: its measurement and its significance. Nutr. Abstr. Lev., 43: 423-451.

Carpenter, K.J. and J. Opstvedt. 1976. Application of chemical and biological assay procedures for lysine to fish meals. J. Agric. Food Chem., 24: 389-393.

Chapman, L.M., D.M. Greenberg and C.L.A. Schmidt. 1927 Studies on the nature of the combination between certain acid dyes and proteins. J. Biol. Chem., 72: 707-729.

Choppe, W. and F.H. Kratzer. 1963. Methods for evaluating the feeding quality of meat and bone meals. Poult. Sci. 42. 642-645

S. Stand

Clandinin, D.R., Bayly and A. Caballero. 1966. Rapeseed meal studies. 5. Effects of (<u>+</u>)-5-vinyl-2oxazolidinethione, a goitrogen in rapeseed meal, on the rate of growth and thyroid function of chicks. Poult. Sci., 45: 833-838.

- Clandinin, D.R., A.R. Robblee and S.J. Slinger. 1972. Rapeseed meal for poultry. In 'Canadian P seed Meal in Poultry and Animal Feeding.' p. 11-15, Publ. 16, Rapeseed Association of Canada.
- Clandinin, D.R., A.R. Robblee, Y.K. Goh, K. Darlington and G.R. Milne. 1977. Use of rapeseed meal in rations for laying chickens. Proc. of a symp. on rapeseed oil, meal and by-product utilization. Vancouver, B.C., p. 177-190, Rapeseed Association of Canada.
- Clandinin, D.R., Z. Hawrysh, J. Howell, J.A. Hanson, R.G. Christian and G.R. Milne. 1974. Problems associated with the feeding of rations containing rapeseed meal to laying chickens. Proc. 4th International Rapeseed Conf., S. 463-477.
- Daghir, N.J., B. Ayyash and P.L. Pellett. 1969. Evaluation of groundnut meal protein for poultry. J. Sci. Food Agric., 20: 349-354.
- De La Huerga, J. and H. Popper. 1951. Urinary excretion of choline metabolites following choline administration in normals and patients with hepatobiliary diseases. J. Clin. Invest., 20: 463-470.
- De La Huerga, J., P. Gyorgy, S. Wakdstein, R. Katz and H. Popper. 1953. The effects of antimicrobial agents upon choline degradation in the intestina_ ract. J. Clin. Invest., 22: 1117-1120.

Desborough, S.L. 1975. Potato protein decermined by the bromophenol blue dye-binding method and other methods. J. Potato Res., 18: 273-281.

Dolby, R.M 1961. Dye-binding methods for estimation of protein _n_milk. J. Dairy Res., 28: 43-55.

Downey, R.7 and A.J. Klassen. 1977. Rapeseed improvement through plant breeding. Proc. of a symp. on rapeseed oil, meal and by product utilization. Vancouver, B.C., p. 4-11, Rapeseed Association of Canada.

Finalyson, A.J. 1966. Incorporation of ¹⁴C into two proteins from rapeseed (Brassica napus, L). Can. J. Biochem., 44: 997-1004.

- Foss, O.P., L.V. Hankes and D.D. Van Slyke. 1960. A study of the alkaline ashing method for determination of prote bound iodine in serum. Clin. Chim. Acta, 5: 301-326.
- Frankel-Conrat, H. and M. Cooper. 1944. The use of dyes
 for the determination of acid and basic groups in proteins.
 J. Biol. Chem., 154: 239-246.

Fritz, A. and M. Munzett. 1975. Dye-binding method using Orange G for the rapid determination of protein in potatoes. Kartoffelban, 26: 302-303.

- Frolich, A. 1954. Reaction between phenolphthalein dyes and heated foodstuffs. Nature, 174: 879.
- Girault, A. 1973. The study of some properties of rapeseed protein with a view to protein concentrate production. J. Sci. Food Agric., 24: 509-518.
- Greenaway, W.T. 1972. Comparison of the Kjeldahl, dve binding and biuret methods for wheat protein conten Cereal Chem., 49: 609-615.
- Greer, M.A. 1956. Isolation from rutabaga seed of progoitrin, the precursor of the naturally occurring antithyroid compound, goitrin (L-5-vinyl-2-thiooxazolidone). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 78: 1260-1261.

Greer, M.A. and J.M. Deeney. 1959. Antithyroid activity ericited by the ingestion of pure progoitrin, a naturally occurring thioglucoside of the turnip family. J. Clin. Invest., 38: 1465-1474.

Gruener, M., J. Juric and M. Filajdic. 1968. Colorimetric determination of protein in wheat flour by Orange G and Amido Black 10B. Kem. Ind. (Zagreb), 17: 809.

Heller, S.N. and J.W. Sherbon. 1976. Interlaboratory study of Acid Orange 12 dye-binding for measuring proteins in meat. J. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem., 59: 62-66.

Henry, K.M., S.K. Kon, C.H. Lea and J.C.D. White. 1948. Deterioration on storage of dried skim milk. J. Dairy , Res., 15: 292-363.

Hill, D.C. 1974. Personal mmunication.

Hobson-Frohock, A., D.G. Land, H.S.M. Griffiths and R.F. Curtis. 1973. Egg taints: association with trimethylamine. Nature, 243: 304-305. Hobson-Frohock, A., R.G. Feenweik, D.G. Land, R.F. Curtis and A.L. Gulliver. 1975. Rapeseed meal and egg taint. Br. Poult. Sci., 16: 219-222.

- Ho. H. 1971. Micromethod for determination of non-Nterminal lysine in milk and similar products. J. Sci. Food Agric., 22: 378-381.
- Hurrell, R.F. and K.J. Carpenter. 1975. The use of three dye-binding procedures for the assessment of heat damage to food protein. Br. J. Nutr., 32: 101-115.
- Hurrell, R.F. and K.J. Carpenter. 1976. An approach to the rapid measurement of 'reactive lysine' in foods by dye-binding. Proc. Nutr. Soc., 35: 23A-24A.
- Hymowitz, T., F.I. Collins and S.J. Gibbons. 1969. A modified dye-binding method or estimating soybean protein. Agro. J., 61: 601-603
- Iwarsson 1973. Rapeseed n a protein supplement for dairy cows. I. The in the on certain blood and milk parameters. Acta Vet. Scand., 14: 570-594.
- Iwarsson, K. and P.O. Nilsson. 1973. Rapeseed meal as a protein supplement for dairy cows. II. Investigation in rats on the goitrogenic properties of milk from cows fed rapeseed meal. Acta Vet. Scand., 14: 595-609.
- Jones, G.P. and L.A. Lakin. 1976. Determination of lysine in barley by a modified dye-binding procedure. Proc. Nutr. Soc., 35: 44A-45A.
- Juliano, B.O., A.A. Antonio and B.V. Esmama. 1973. Effect of protein content on the distribution and properties of riprotein. A Sci. Food Agric., 24: 295-306.
- (aldy, M.S., W. Malewski and P. Markakis. 1972. Estimation of potato protein content by dye-binding. Am. Potato J., 49: 177-181.
- Kim, S.K., C.Y. Lee and H. Park. 1971. Evaluation of protein content and quality in brown rice by a dyebinding method. Korean J. Food Sci. and Technol., 3: 101-104.

Kjaer, A. 1960. Naturally derived isothiocyanates (mustard oils) and their parent glucosides. Prog. Chem. Org: Nat. Prod., 18: 122-176. Ł

- Klain, G.J., D.C. Hill, H.D. Branion and J.A. Gray. 1956. The value of rapeseed oil meal and sunflower seed oil meal in chicks starter rations. Poult. Sci., 35: 1315-1326.
- Klotz, I.M. 1953. Protein interactions. In 'The Proteins.' Vol. 1, p. 727-804. Edited by Neurath, H. and K. Bailey, Academic Press. N.Y.
- Konrad, H. 1973a. Studies on the determination of milk protein by means of dye-binding. Nahrung, 17: 349-357.
- Konrad, H. 1973b. On the colorimetric estimation of protein in milk. Nahrung, 17: 499-506.
- Laberge, D.E., D.R. Metcalfe and R. Tkachuk. 1976. Comparison
 of methods for lysine screening in barley. Can. J.
 Plant Sci., 56: 25-30.
- Lakin, A. 1973. The estimation of protein and the evaluation of protein quality by dye-binding procedures. Proc. Inst. Food Sci. and Technol., 6: 80-83.
- Lo, M.T. and D.C. Hill. 1972. Composition of the aqueous extracts of rapeseed meals. J. Sci. Food Agric., 23: 823-830.
- Luke, H.A. 1967. Collaborative testing of the dye-binding method for milk protein. J. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem., 50: 560-564.

- March, B.E., J. Biely and R. Soong. 1972. Rapeseed meal in the chicken breeder diet. Effects on production, mortality, hatchability and progeny. Poult. Sci., 51: 1589-1596.
- Matheson, N.A. 1968. Available lysine. II. Determination of available lysine in feeding stuffs by dinitrophenylation. J. Sci. Food Agric., 19: 497-502.
- Matsumoto, T., H. Itoh and Y. Akiba. 1968. Goitrogenic effects of (-)-5-vinyl-2-oxazolidinethione, a goitrogen in rapeseed in growing chicks. Poult. Sci., 47: 1323-1330.
- Matsumoto, T., H. Itoh and Y. Akiba. 1969. Effects of (-)-5-vinyl-2-oxazolidinethione on the radio iodine metabolism in growing chicks. Poult. Sci. 48: 1061-1069.
- McCready, R.M., G. Fuller and M. Granger. 1970. Nitrogen determination for rapid quality control of oilseed meals. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 47: 171-172.

- McKenzie, D.R. 1976. Estimation of protein in herbage and leaf juice by the Orange G dye-binding method. J. Aust. Inst. Agric. Sci., 42: 62-65.
- Medina, M.N., D.H. Kleyn and W.H. Swallow. 1976. Protein estimation in sesame seed and rapeseed flours and meals by a modified Udy dye-binding method. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 53: 555-557.
- Metha, R.S., R. Bassett and G. Ward. 1974. Trimethylamine responsible for fishy flavor in milk from cows on wheat pasture. J. Dairy Sci., 57: 285-289.
- Miller, W.S., A. Ewins and L.G. Chubb. 1972. Egg taints. Vet. Rec., 91: 632-633.
- Moran, E.T., L.S. Jensen and T. McGinnis. 1963. Dyebinding by soybean and fishmeal as an index of quality. J. Nutr., 79: 239-244.
- Moss, U.G. and E.W. Kiefsmeier. 1967. A method for rapid determination of protein in meat by dye-binding. Food Techol., 21: 351-354.
- Mossberg, R. 1965. Some problems concerning the determination of crude protein content in cereals by dye-binding. Agri. Hort. Gen., 23: 206-218.
- Mossberg, R. 1966. Some analytical criteria of quality in barley. Agri. Hort. Gen., 24: 193-203.
- Mossberg, R. 1968. The correlation between dye-binding capacity (DBC) and basic amino acids (BAA) in cereals. Agri. Hort. Gen., 26: 78-81.
- Munck, L. 1966. The problem of quality concerning cereal for feed with special respect to the effect of heat at different moisture contents on amino acid availability. Sv. Utsadesf. Tidskr., 76: 194-212.
- Munck, L., K.E. Karlsson and A. Hagberg. 1969. Selection and characteBization of a high protein, high lysine variety from the world barley collection. In 'Barley Genetics II.' p. 544-558. Edited by Nilan, R., Pullman, Washington.
- Neurath, H., J.P. Greenstein, F.W. Putman and J.O. Erickson. 1944. The chemistry of protein denaturation. Chem. Rev., 35: 157-253.
- O'Connell, J.A. 1970. Evaluation and modification of the pro-milk tester Mk II for protein estimation in milk. Lab. Pract., 19: 1119-1120.

jeg til. Transfire

٩...

Olomucki, E. and S. Bornstein. 1960. The dye absorption test for the evaluation of soybean meal. J. Assoc. Off. Anal: Chem., 43: 440-442.

A.

Olson, W.J. and M.W. Heiges. 1962. Application of a dyebinding technique to routine barley protein analysis. Proc. Am. Soc. Brew. Chem., 71: 58-63.

Ostrowski, H., A.S. Jones and A. Cadenhead. 1970. Availability of lysine in protein concentrates and diets using Carpenter's method and modified Silcock method. J. Sci. Food Agric., 21: 103-107.

Outen, G.E., J.M.A. Tilley and R.F. Wilson, 1966. Estimation of protein in dried herbages using the dyestuffs Orange G. J. Sci. Food Agric., 17: 283-286.

Overfield, N.D. and H.A. Elson. 1975. Dietary rapeseed meal and the incidence of tainted eggs. Br. Poult. Sci. 16: 213-217.

Aarial, L.C., L.W. Rooney and B.D. Webb. 1970. Use of dyebinding and biuret techniques for estimating protein in brown and milled rice. Cereal Chem., 47: 38-42.

Piironen, E. and A.I. Virtanen. 1963. The effect of thiocyanate in nutrition on the iodine content of cow's milk. Z. Ernahrungswiss, 3: 140-147.

Pomeranz, Y. 1965. Evaluation of factors affecting the determination of nitrogen in soya products by the Biuret and Orange G dye-binding methods. J. Food Sci., 30: 307-311.

Pomeranz, Y. and C. Lindner. 1960. A simple method for evaluation of heat treatment of soybean meal. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 37: 124-126.

Pour-El, A. 1973. Functionality of soybean proteins as it is affected by heat processing. Abstr. papers, AGFD-16 165th Annual Meeting of the American Chemical Society, April 9-13 at Dallas, Texas.

Prentiss, P.G., H. Rosen, N. Brown, R.E. Horowitz, O.J. Malm and S.M. Levenson. 1961. The metabolism of choline by the germfree rats. / Arch. Biochem. Biophysic., 94: 424-429.

Raadsveld, C.W. 1958. The rapid estimation of the protein content of milk. Zuivell, 50: 146-147.

Rapeseed Association of Canada. 1972. Rapeseed meal in poultry and animal feeding. Publ. 16.

- Rawlins, L.M.C. and C.L.A. Schmidt. 1929. Studies on the combination between certain basic dyes and proteins. J. Biol. Chem., 82: 709-716.
- Rawlins, L.M.C. and C.L.A. Schmidt. 1930., The mode of combination between certain dyes and gelatin granules. J. Biol. Chem., 88: 271-284.
- Rigueline, E. and U.S. Ashworth. 1973. Determination of the protein content of lamb meat by dye-binding. J. Anim. Sci., 36: 1197.
- Roach, A.G., P. Sanderson and D.R. William. 1967. Comparison of methods for the determination of available lysine value in animal and vegetable protein sources. J. Sci. Food Agric., 18: 275-278.
- Roos, A.J. and D.R. Clandinin. 1975. Transfer of ¹²⁵I to eggs in hens fed on diets containing rapeseed meal. Br. Poult. Sci., 16: 413-415.
- Rosenberg, R.M. and I.M. Klotz, 1960. Dye-binding methods. In "A Laboratory Manual of Analytical Methods of Protein Chemistry. Vol. 2. The Composition, Structure and Reactivity of Protein." p. 131-168. Edited by Alexander, P. and R.J. Block. Pergamon Press.
- Runciman, A.M. and R.C. Olson. 1975. Canadian production of oil meal seeds. Chapter 3 in 'Oilseed and Pulse Crops in Western Canada.' Edited by Harapiak, J.T., Western Co-Op Fertilizers Ltd, Canada.

Rutkowski, A. 1971. The feed value of rapeseed meal. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 48: 863-868.

- Rutkowski, A., H. Kozlowska and J. Pokorny. 1966. Investigation on rape groats. X. Influence of thermal processing on quality of rape groats. Roczniki, Technol. Chem. Zywnosci., 12: 275-293.
- Sandler, L. and F.L. Warren. 1974. Effect of ethyl chloroformate on the dye-binding capacity of protein. Anal. Chem., 46: 1870-1872.
- Sanger, F. 1945. The free amino groups of insulin. Biochem. J., 39: 507-515.
- Schober, R. and H.F. Hetzel. 1956. Studies on a simple colorimetric determination of milk proteins. Milchwissenschaft, 11: 123-126.
- Sherbon, J.W. 1967. Rapid determination of protein in milk by dye-binding. J. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem., 50: 542-546.

- Sherbon, J.W. 1975. Collaborative study of the pro-milk method for the determination of protein in milk. J. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem., 58: 770-772.
- Sherbon, J.W. and R. Fleming. 1975. Comparison of two
 formulations of Acid Orange 12 for the determination
 of protein in milk. J. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem., 58:
 773-778.
- Smith, A.K. and S.J. Circle. 1938. Peptization of soybean
 proteins. Extraction of nitrogenous constituents from
 oil free meal by acids and bases with and without added
 salts. Ind. Eng. Chem., 30: 1414-1418.
- Steel, R.G.D. and J.H. Torrie. 1960. Principles and procedures of statistics. New York, McGraw Hill.
- Stefansson, B.R. and Z.P. Kondra. 1975. Tower summer rape. Can. J. Plant Sci., 55. 343-344.
- Steinsholt, K. 1957. A modification of the amido black method of protein determination in milk. Meieriposten, 46: 901-905.
- Swaminathan, K., K.C. Sud and H. Kishose. 1973. Rapid photometric method for the determination of 'true' protein content of potatoes based on non-selective dye-binding capacity. Indian J. Expt'l Biol., 11: 63-64.
 - Tarassuk, N.P. 1967. The dye-binding of milk protein. --Tech. Bull. No. 1369, U.S.D.A.
 - Thurston, C. 1957. Dye-binding characteristics of fish-meal protein. Part I. Some preliminary findings as to suitable dyes. Commer. Fish Rev., 19: 7-9.
 - Torten, J. and J.R. Whitaker. 1964. Evaluation of the biuret and dye-binding methods for protein determination in meats. J. Food Sci., 29: 168-174.
 - Udy, D.C. 1954. Dye-binding capacities of wheat flour protein fractions. Cereal Chem., 31: 389-394.
 - Udy, D.C. 1956a. A rapid method for estimating total protein in milk. Nature, 178: 314-315.
 - Udy, D.C. 1956b. Estimation of protein in theat and flour by ion-binding. Cereal Chem., 33: 190-197.
 - Udy, D.C. 1971. Improved dye method for estimating protein. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 48: 29A-33A.

- Vanderzant, C. and W.R. Tennison. 1961. Estimation of the protein content of milk by dye-binding with Buffalo Black. Food Technol., 15: 63-66.
- Virtanen, A.I. and R. Gmelin. 1960. On the transfer of thiocyanate from fodder to milk. Acta Chem. Scand., 14: 941-943.
- Virtanen, A.I., M. Kreula and M. Kiesvaara. 1958. The transfer of L-5-vinyl-2-thiooxazolidone (oxazolidinethione) to milk. Acta Chem. Scand., 12: 580-581.
- Virtanen, A.I., M. Kreula, and M. Kiesvaara. 1959. On the transfer of L-5-vinyl-2-thiooxazolidone from the rumen to the milk. Acta Chem. Scand., 13: 1043-1044.
- Vogt, H. and G. Torges. 1976. Rapeseed meal produced from a summer rape with low contents of eruca and glucosinolate in laying rations. Arch. Geflugelkd., 40: 225-221.
- Vogt, H., H.J. Schubert, K. Stute and W. Rauch. 1969. Feeding values and level of rapeseed oil meal in poultry rations. 3. Rapeseed oil meal in rations for laying hens. Arch. Geflugelkd., 33: 119-124.
- Weenink, R.O. and A.P. Tulloch. 1966. The major component phospholipids of rapeseed gum. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 43: 327-329.
- Woodham, A.A. 1967. A chick growth test for the evaluation of protein quality in cereal-based diets. 1. Development of the method. Br. Poult. Sci., 9: 52-63.

159

٦,

APPENDIX

100

· · ·

. .

DETERMINATION OF TRIMETHYLAMINE BY GAS LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY A Extraction of Trimethylamine

The frozen egg samples were thawed in $\bar{g}_i \subset \mathbf{M}_i$ room (0°C) overnight and rehomogenized. Appreximatel 50 g of egg was @ transferred into a 250 ml round bottom flásk with ground glass joint and frozen by immersing the flask in liquid nitrogen (-198°C). After freezing was completed the flask was immediately connected to a inverted U shaped tube with ground glass joints and a side outlet connected to a vacuum A 100 ml collection flask was connected by ground pump. glass joint to the other end of the U-tube. While the flask containing the egg sample was in liquid nitrogen, the air in the system was evacuated. Next, the stopper in the side outle leading to a vacuum pump was turned to the closed position. The liquid nitrogen container was then transferred to cool the collection flask. Low heat was applied to the flask containing the frozen egg sample by immersing it in warm water bath. The freeze drying was stopped when about 50% of the egg sample was collected in the collecting flask. The frozen condensate was allowed to thaw and acidified with diluted HCl to pH 3 and stored when necessary in a freezer at -20°C. The trimethylamine hydrochloride salt was recovered by freeze-drying the condensate. It was then dissolved in 2 ml of de-ionized water and analysed for TMA by head space gas chromatography.

B Head Space Gas Analysis by Gas Liquid Chromatography

A gas liquid chromatograph (Aer graph Hy Fi Model 600D) equipped with a flame ionization detector was used for the head space gas analysis and the chromatogram was recorded on a Fisher Recorder (Fisher Recordall Series 5000). A glass column (3.05 m x 3.18 mm) was packed with Penwalt 231 GC packing (Applied Science Lab. Inc.). The column was preconditioned at 150°C for 24 hours before use.

Samples were prepared for GLC analysis according to the procedure (Metha et al., 1974) used for the determination of An aliquot of 0.5 ml of the concentrated con-TMA in milk. densate containing the TMA·HCl obtained by vacuum distillation of the egg sample was transferred to a 3 ml serum tube and diluted to 1 ml with distilled water. The tube was then evacuated by withdrawing 10 ml of the air by a syringe. One ml of 45% KOH was injected into the tube with a plast syringe and the tube was shaken for 1 minute to liber the volatile TMA gas from the solution. 0.5 ml of the head space gas was injected into the GLC. Operation conditions of the GLC were as follows: column temperature, 85°C; detector temperature, 85°C; injector temperature, 140°C; hydrogen gas flow rate, 30 ml per minute; air flow rate, 350-400 ml per minute; nitrogen (carrier gas) flow rate, 35 ml per minute. Duplicate 0.5 ml samples of the condensate from each pooled egg sample were analysed.

A standard curve relating peak heights of chromatograms and TMA concentrations ranging from 5 to 40 ppm was prepared

by diluting quantities of a stock solution containing 100 ppm TMA to desired concentrations. The appropriately diluted solutions were analysed for TMA in the manner referred to above.

The TMA concentration in the egg samples was expressed in ug/g homogenized egg.

5

٩.

ð

[.]163